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1. Form of Tender – Invitation to Tender (ITT)
You are invited to quote for the above contract.  The ‘Invitation to Tender (ITT) consists of a number of parts as identified on the Contents Page.  Please read each section carefully and respond wherever indicated.  On completion of the ITT, Bidders are required to submit all relevant parts of the Tender via the Falmouth Exeter Plus procurement e-tendering portal by the specified closing date. 

Falmouth University thanks Bidders for their participation and looks forward to the submission of comprehensive Tenders in keeping with the scope and specification of this project (as set out herein).
FALMOUTH UNIVERSITY

For more than 100 years, Falmouth University has been a hub of creative thinking and design innovation. 
 
Today, its portfolio of undergraduate and postgraduate courses represents the breadth of the Creative Industries, from art, design and fashion, to gaming, music and film.  
 
Nearly 5500 students from across the globe study on Falmouth’s two campuses, with access to professional standard environments including state-of-the-art performance and recording studios, some of the best photography facilities in Europe, cutting edge digital manufacturing technology and a TV studio and gallery. 
 
As well as the courses that are delivered on-campus in Cornwall, Falmouth also provides ground-breaking online distance learning and exciting partnerships with industry-leading bodies including the Academy of Contemporary Music and the Fashion Retail Academy in London. 
 
Falmouth’s research programmes are built on the principle of open innovation - the idea that the grand challenges of our age can be addressed most effectively when tackled collaboratively across disciplinary boundaries. They focus on delivering impact for lives and economies through the development of new knowledge, solutions, services and products. 
  
Falmouth University is changing the way Higher Education is delivered. Its future focussed and multi-disciplinary approach means it is planning for the needs of the future economy, ensuring its students have the skills they need to excel in a fast-changing world. Putting real world, real market challenges and hands-on experience at the heart of the learning experience also means that Falmouth’s graduates leave as experienced professionals, accomplished complex problem solvers and strong team players. 


2.	Scope and Specification

The successful tenderer shall enter into a contractual relationship with both Falmouth University and Falmouth Exeter Plus for the provision of internal audit services.
Falmouth University is a Higher Education Corporation incorporated under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992.  Under its governing document and conditions of funding, it is required to ‘have a suitably resourced internal audit function which must comply with the professional standards of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors’.  This tender seeks to procure those services.
At the same time, internal audit services for the University’s joint venture company, Falmouth Exeter Plus, are also being procured.  Falmouth Exeter Plus is a company jointly owned with the University of Exeter and is a company limited by guarantee.

The successful provider will assist the University in ensuring a robust governance environment through a systematic, disciplined and balanced approach to the evaluation of the effectiveness of the financial and internal controls, risk management and other governance processes, recognising that these should be proportionate to the scale and nature of the University’s business.

The contract will commence on 1st August 2019 and will operate for a period of three years in the first instance with an option, exercisable by the University, to extend the contract by agreement for a further two year period. 

The successful bidder will be required to present a draft three year audit strategy and draft annual audit plan covering 2019/20 to the University Audit Committee in April 2019.

To assist in preparing your submission the following documents are enclosed/attached:

Appendix 3:	OFS Terms and Conditions of Funding (including Audit Code of Practice).

Appendix 4:	2017/18 Audited Accounts for:
	a)	Falmouth University (Consolidated) 
		 
	b)	Falmouth Exeter Plus (Consolidated)
		 
Appendix 5	Risk Management Actions Plans for:
	a)	Falmouth University
	b)	Falmouth Exeter Plus

Appendix 6	Previous Annual Internal Audit Report for:
	a)	Falmouth University
	b)	Falmouth Exeter Plus

Appendix 7	Current Internal Audit Programme for:
	a)	Falmouth University
	b)	Falmouth Exeter Plus


2. Correspondence
[bookmark: _Toc396469396]All correspondence, tenders, associated documents etc. (whether before or after the final submission of tender) are to be directed through the procurement tendering portal https://in-tendhost.co.uk/universityofexeter/aspx/Home   quoting reference number 1366Falmouth. 
No approach of any kind in connection with the ITT should be made in any other manner, or to any other person within, or associated with Falmouth University (including its representatives).
3. Anticipated Tender Timescales
	ITT made available to Bidders 
	Wednesday 23rd January 2019

	Date by which Bidders will need to submit clarifications (if raised) 
	Friday 22nd March 2019 at 12.00pm Mid-day

	Deadline for receipt of Tender 
	Friday  29th March 2019 at 12.00pm mid-day 

	Shortlisted Bidders Notified
	W/C 08th April 2019

	Presentation Stage 
	Thursday  25th April 2019

	Preferred Bidders chosen (subject to contract)
	W/C 27th May 2019



NB: This timetable is indicative and Falmouth University reserves the right to change the timescale and will notify Bidders of any such change.
4. Submitting your Tender
4.1 This ITT will close at 12.00pm (UK Time) on Friday 29th March 2019; it is the Bidder’s responsibility to ensure that their completed bid is e-mailed, in full, no later than the date and time above.  Tenders will not be considered if the complete information called for is not provided by the closing date and time stated in this document. 
4.2 Bidders must complete their ITT in full and submit any requested supporting documentation and other evidence as requested within this ITT.  Omissions or exceptions may invalidate a Tender.  Bidders must provide a completed Qualification Questionnaire and ensure all necessary supporting documentation is provided as stipulated with in this ITT. 
4.3 The complete ITT should be uploaded in a common electronic format such as PDF, Word, Excel or PowerPoint), including technical literature via the e-tendering portal  https://in-tendhost.co.uk/universityofexeter/aspx/Home 
4.4 Falmouth University reserves the right to seek clarifications of tenders during its evaluation of ITTs where it considers this to be necessary.
4.5 Tenders, part Tenders and appendices and attachments received after the closing date and time will be excluded from the ITT evaluation procedure and no further consideration of it made. These documents may remain in the procurement system unopened.

5. Award Criteria and Evaluation Methodology  STAGE 1 -Total Score 100%
The tender comprises of a two stage process. On evaluation of stage 1, a maximum of three bidders will be shortlisted to proceed to Stage 2.

	Award Criteria (Scored)	
	% Score
	% Sub Scores

	1.
	Technical and Quality  
	60%
	

	
	Demonstration of expertise in delivering services to  education (list top ten most recent relevant clients)
	
	

	
	Evidence that allocated personnel are appropriately qualified with relevant experience (attach CVs)
	
	

	
	Explanation of the approach to be adopted for the implementation of the contract with the University and the delivery of the internal audit service (e.g. planning and delivery of services on a partnership basis working with Falmouth and Falmouth Exeter Plus in developing and delivering the annual audit plan)
	
	

	
	Provision of satisfactory references from current clients, preferably from Higher Education or Public Sector Bodies
	
	

	
	Evidence that appropriate key performance indicators used to manage and measure current internal audit contracts are in place
	
	

	
	Explanation of added value benefits brought to the agreement by the service provider
	
	

	
2.
	
Pricing 
	
40%
	

	
	Please indicate below your hourly/daily rates for the categories of staff shown (Excluding VAT)
Audit Partner
Audit Manager
Audit Assistant
Other 

Please detail any additional charges which may be made to the institution under the contract terms.
	40%
	

	TOTALS: 
	100%
	



	Award Criteria STAGE 2:  Total Score 100%
	Award Criteria (Scored)	
	% Score
	% Sub Scores

	1
	Presentation - Demonstrations of your business proposal to key Falmouth University Stakeholders. Presentations must not exceed 60 minutes (30 minute presentation, 30 minute Q and A session)
	100%
	

	TOTALS: 
	100%
	



6.1	Scored Questions: 
Each “Scored” question will be marked out of a maximum of 5 marks and then weighted as indicated. The marks will be awarded as detailed in the table below.  These sections will count for 80% of the overall tender score. 
	Score
	Details

	Very Good = 5
	The response by the Bidder provides a very high degree of confidence of being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response is fully detailed with appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are a limited number of minor issues and no major issues. 
The response demonstrates many more strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards will be exceeded in most respects 

	Good = 4
	The response by the Bidder provides a high degree of confidence of being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response is detailed with appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are a number of minor issues and a limited number of major issues. 
The response demonstrates more strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards will be exceeded in some respects

	Acceptable = 3
	The response by the Bidder provides an acceptable degree of confidence of being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response is sufficiently detailed with some appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are a number of minor issues and a limited number of major issues
The response demonstrates more strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards will be met

	Concern = 2
	The response by the Bidder gives rise to some concerns about being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response has limited detail with limited appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are a number of minor issues and a number of major issues. 
The response demonstrates less strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards may not be met.

	Poor = 1
	The response by the Bidder gives rise to many concerns about being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response has limited detail with limited appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are many minor issues and a high number of major issues. 
The response demonstrates less strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards are unlikely to be met.

	Unacceptable = 0 
	The response by the Bidder is non-compliant; the response gives rise to many concerns about being able to support the achievement of the intended outcomes of the Project. 
The response has insufficient detail with virtually no appropriate explanations and supporting evidence, there are many minor issues and a high number of major issues. 
The response demonstrates less strengths than weaknesses, that any desired standards are highly unlikely to be met.




Please note that some questions are weighted to reflect the importance of the question to the project.  For example an actual score of 5 with a weighting of 3 will give a final score of 15. Likewise an actual score of 5 with a weighting of 1 will give a final score of 5. After all the responses to each “Scored” question have been scored, the evaluation panel will apply the weighting for each question.  


6.2	Scored Questions 
Falmouth University will not accept liability for any costs omitted from the tendered price/s that the Bidder has not declared in their Tender submission as falling payable by Falmouth University. Prices will not be amended after acceptance of the ITT, save as a result of clarifications issued by Falmouth University.
The price schedule should be completed by each Bidder.  All prices quoted shall be in pounds sterling (GBP) and exclude VAT.
6. Conditions of Tendering
6.1 Falmouth University reverses the right to cancel a tender process at any point.  
6.2 Falmouth University is not liable for any expenses or costs resulting from the cancellation of this tender process or for any other costs incurred by those tendering in response to the ITT. 
6.3 The information provided in this ITT has been prepared in good faith by Falmouth University but is provided for guidance only and no warranty is given by Falmouth University as to the accuracy of the information.  
6.4 In submitting your tender, you do so in accordance with the conditions specified or referred to herein.
6.5 Falmouth University may reject any tender which does not fully comply with the stipulated requirements.  
6.6 The Tender shall remain open for acceptance by Falmouth University for a period of 3 months from the date specified for its return.
6.7 Falmouth University is not bound to accept the lowest or any tender and reserves the right to accept or award the contract in whole, in part, or not at all.
6.8 Falmouth University will retain a right of audit of all matters relating to the performance of the contract arising from this ITT.  This will include all financial matters and details relating to the service provided.
6.9 All material provided by Falmouth University must be regarded as confidential and only disclosed to a third party to the extent necessary to complete your tender.  Falmouth University requires that all working papers and electronic data must be destroyed by Bidders as soon as notified that they have been unsuccessful.  
6.10 Any aspects of your Tender which are essential to the quality, cost and delivery of the service must be incorporated into the response.
6.11 Your Tender shall be a “bona fide” quote and shall not be fixed or adjusted by, or under, or in accordance with any agreements or arrangements with any other person.  You shall keep your tender confidential and not divulge to anyone, even approximately, what your quotation price is or will be or any of its terms or conditions, with the sole exception of information you may have to give.
6.12 Falmouth University requires all goods and services to be provided to the address/es stated in the contract documents and, or orders.  Individual delivery instructions will be provided before orders are placed for goods or services and will include the appropriate health and safety guidance.
6.13 Tender submission and all correspondence with Falmouth University must be written in English. 
6.14 All goods and, or services supplied shall be fit for purpose and in accordance with any detailed specification(s) supplied with these documents and, or as subsequently amended, agreed by the Bidder and Falmouth University and specified in the final contract documents and, or orders.
6.15 All current and future British Legislation/Standards or EU Legislation/Standards or other equivalents shall apply to all goods and services to be supplied where relevant.
6.16 A request for prices to be reviewed may be given by the successful Bidder giving at least 3 months’ written notice to Falmouth University and based upon the anniversary of the contract start date.  All proposed changes to prices must be agreed by Falmouth University in writing before taking effect and prices may decrease as well as increase.
6.17 No media releases, public announcements or public disclosures by the Bidder or the Bidder’s employees or agents relating to the contract or its subject matter, including but not limited to promotional or marketing material, (but excluding any announcement intended solely for internal distribution by the parties or any disclosure required by legal, accounting or regulatory requirements) may be made without the prior written approval of Falmouth University.
7. Terms and Conditions
7.1 Subject to review (as part of the contractual award process). 
8. Schedule A –PRE-QUALIFICATION QUESTIONS 
	Section 1 – Bidder’s Information 

	This question is for information only however it must be completed in full. Where sections do not apply, Bidders should indicate that this is the case and why.  This question should be completed by the Bidder Organisation and any Relevant Organisations (if applicable).
Trading Name
[bookmark: Text6]     

	Correspondence Address
     

	Telephone Number
     

	Fax Number (optional)
     

	Email Contact Address  (optional)
     

	Main Contact of the Bidder Organisation empowered to represent the Bidder in all dealings of a contractual nature once the contract is awarded. 
Name				     
Position		     
Address			     
Telephone		     
Mobile (optional)	     
E-Mail				     

	Internet Website Address (Optional)
     (optional)

	Registered Office Address (if different from above)
     

	Date Established
     

	Type of Organisation (e.g. Private, Private Limited Company, Partnership, Local Authority, Voluntary Body, and Registered Charity) Please provide details of the organisation's structure.
     

	Registered Business Number:      
Date of Registration:      

	VAT Registration Number:      
Ownership
If your company is owned by a parent company, please identify the name(s) of parents and clearly identify the relationship.     

	Please confirm whether your Organisation is considered one of the following. (Optional)
Double-click in boxes to check relevant box
Micro enterprise – Staff < 10, Turnover < €2 million, Balance sheet < €2 million |_|
Small enterprise – Staff < 50, Turnover < €10 million, Balance sheet < €2 million |_|
Medium sized enterprise – Staff < 250, Turnover < €50 million, Balance sheet < than €43 million |_|
Large sized enterprise – Staff >250, Turnover > €50 million, Balance sheet > than €43 million |_|
This question is optional/for information to gather data for Falmouth University

	If your Organisation is owned/run by any of the following, please tick relevant box (Optional)
|_|	BME (Black, ethnic, community/voluntary group)
|_|	Community Interest Companies (CIC)
|_|	Companies owned or managed by women
|_|	Owned or run by Disabled People
|_|	Business owned by Lesbian, Bisexual, Gay or Transsexual
This question is optional/for information to gather data for Falmouth University

	Falmouth University would like to understand how and where Bidders find opportunities advertised.  This will help us better target our tender advertisements to potential Bidders.  
Please enter where you saw this tender opportunity advertised. 
In-tend  |_|
Contract Finder |_|
Other (please detail) ………………………..

	Section 2 Grounds for Exclusion [‘Pass’ / ‘Fail’]

	You will be excluded from the procurement process if there is evidence of convictions relating to specific criminal offences including, but not limited to, bribery, corruption, conspiracy, terrorism, fraud and money laundering, or if you have been the subject of a binding legal decision which found a breach of legal obligations to pay tax or social security obligations (except where this is disproportionate e.g. only minor amounts involved). 
If you have answered “yes” to question 2.2 on the non-payment of taxes or social security contributions, and have not paid or entered into a binding arrangement to pay the full amount, you may still avoid exclusion if only minor tax or social security contributions are unpaid or if you have not yet had time to fulfil your obligations since learning of the exact amount due.  If your organisation is in that position please provide details using a separate Appendix. You may contact Falmouth University for advice before completing this form.
All of the questions in Section 2 are Pass/ Fail – if the Bidder responds “Yes” to any of these questions, this may constitute a “Fail”/

	2.1 Within the past five years, has your organisation (or any member of your proposed consortium, if applicable), Directors or partner or any other person who has powers of representation, decision or control been convicted of any of the following offences?
	Please indicate your answer by marking ‘X’ in the relevant box

	
	Yes
	No

	a) conspiracy within the meaning of section 1 or 1A of the Criminal Law Act 1977 or article 9 or 9A of the Criminal Attempts and Conspiracy (Northern Ireland) Order 1983 where that conspiracy relates to participation in a criminal organisation as defined in Article 2 of Council Framework Decision 2008/841/JHA on the fight against organised crime;
	|_|
	|_|

	b) corruption within the meaning of section 1(2) of the Public Bodies Corrupt Practices Act 1889 or section 1 of the Prevention of Corruption Act 1906;
	|_|
	|_|

	c) the common law offence of bribery;
	|_|
	|_|

	d) bribery within the meaning of sections 1, 2 or 6 of the Bribery Act 2010; or section 113 of the Representation of the People Act 1983;
	|_|
	|_|

	e) any of the following offences, where the offence relates to fraud affecting the European Communities’ financial interests as defined by Article 1 of the Convention on the protection of the financial interests of the European Communities:
	|_|
	|_|

	(i) the offence of cheating the Revenue;
	|_|
	|_|

	(ii) the offence of conspiracy to defraud;
	|_|
	|_|

	(iii) fraud or theft within the meaning of the Theft Act 1968, the Theft Act (Northern Ireland) 1969, the Theft Act 1978 or the Theft (Northern Ireland) Order 1978
	|_|
	|_|

	(iv) fraudulent trading within the meaning of section 458 of the Companies Act 1985, article 451 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986 or section 993 of the Companies Act 2006;
	|_|
	|_|

	(v) fraudulent evasion within the meaning of section 170 of the Customs and Excise Management Act 1979 or section 72 of the Value Added Tax Act 1994;
	|_|
	|_|

	(vi) an offence in connection with taxation in the European Union within the meaning of section 71 of the Criminal Justice Act 1993;
	|_|
	|_|

	(vii) destroying, defacing or concealing of documents or procuring the execution of a valuable security within the meaning of section 20 of the Theft Act 1968 or section 19 of the Theft Act (Northern Ireland) 1969;
	|_|
	|_|

	(viii) fraud within the meaning of section 2, 3 or 4 of the Fraud Act 2006; or
	|_|
	|_|

	(ix)	the possession of articles for use in frauds within the meaning of section 6 of the Fraud Act 2006, or the making, adapting, supplying or offering to supply articles for use in frauds within the meaning of section 7 of that Act;
	|_|
	|_|

	f) any offence listed—
	|_|
	|_|

	(i) in section 41 of the Counter Terrorism Act 2008; or
	|_|
	|_|

	(ii) in Schedule 2 to that Act where the court has determined that there is a terrorist connection;
	|_|
	|_|

	g) any offence under sections 44 to 46 of the Serious Crime Act 2007 which relates to an offence covered by subparagraph (f);
	|_|
	|_|

	h) money laundering within the meaning of sections 340(11) and 415 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002;
	|_|
	|_|

	i) an offence in connection with the proceeds of criminal conduct within the meaning of section 93A, 93B or 93C of the Criminal Justice Act 1988 or article 45, 46 or 47 of the Proceeds of Crime (Northern Ireland) Order 1996;
	|_|
	|_|

	j) an offence under section 4 of the Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants etc.) Act 2004;
	|_|
	|_|

	k) an offence under section 59A of the Sexual Offences Act 2003;
	|_|
	|_|

	l) an offence under section 71 of the Coroners and Justice Act 2009;
	|_|
	|_|

	m) an offence in connection with the proceeds of drug trafficking within the meaning of section 49, 50 or 51 of the Drug Trafficking Act 1994; or
	|_|
	|_|

	n) any other offence within the meaning of Article 57(1) of the Public Contracts Directive—
	|_|
	|_|

	(i) as defined by the law of any jurisdiction outside England and Wales and Northern Ireland; or
	|_|
	|_|

	(ii) created, after the day on which these Regulations were made, in the law of England and Wales or Northern Ireland.
	|_|
	|_|

	2.2 Non-payment of taxes
Has it been established by a judicial or administrative decision having final and binding effect in accordance with the legal provisions of any part of the United Kingdom or the legal provisions of the country in which your organisation is established (if outside the UK), that your organisation is in breach of obligations related to the payment of tax or social security contributions?
If you have answered Yes to this question, please use a separate Appendix to provide further details. Please also use this Appendix to confirm whether you have paid, or have entered into a binding arrangement with a view to paying, including, where applicable, any accrued interest and/or fines?
	|_|
	|_|

	Section 3: Economic and Financial Standing
	Bidder’s Response

	A.  CreditSafe – score
Falmouth University may run a CreditSafe  financial check on Bidders and take a considered view on the likelihood of business risk and failure.  Bidders with Creditsafe  Failure rating of 50 or less will be requested to provide further information / clarifications. 
For businesses not covered by the CreditSafe  report, these businesses will be requested to supply a minimum of 3 years accounts / or as trading history if 3 years of accounts are not available.
The following financial ratio will be used to access business risk and failure for those business not covered by a D & B report.
Current Ratio: = Current Assets / Current Liabilities
Falmouth University may request further clarification on any D and B Failure rating.
Pass/ Fail – In the event that a Bidder achieves a CreditSafe  Failure rating of 50 or less this may constitute a ‘Fail’.
	[bookmark: Check3]This organisation consents to a CreditSafe  Check	|_|

	B - Insurance 
Please self-certify whether you already have, or can commit to obtain, prior to the commencement of the contract, the levels of insurance cover indicated below: 
Employer’s (Compulsory) Liability Insurance  = £1,000,000
Public Liability Insurance = £1,000,000
Professional Indemnity Insurance = £1,000,000
Product Liability Insurance = £1,000,000
Pass/ Fail – These are the minimum insurance threshold.  If a Bidder is unable to satisfy this minimum threshold (or commit to obtain the relevant insurances), this will constitute a fail.
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	Section 4: Legislative Compliance
	Bidder’s Response

	A – Compliance with equality legislation 
For organisations working outside of the UK please refer to equivalent legislation in the country that you are located.

	1. In the last three years, has any finding of unlawful discrimination been made against your organisation by an Employment Tribunal, an Employment Appeal Tribunal or any other court (or in comparable proceedings in any jurisdiction other than the UK)?
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	2. In the last three years, has your organisation had a complaint upheld following an investigation by the Equality and Human Rights Commission or its predecessors (or a comparable body in any jurisdiction other than the UK), on grounds or alleged unlawful discrimination?  
If you have answered “yes” to one or both of the questions in this module, please provide, as a separate Appendix, a summary of the nature of the investigation and an explanation of the outcome of the investigation to date.
If the investigation upheld the complaint against your organisation, please use the Appendix to explain what action (if any) you have taken to prevent unlawful discrimination from reoccurring.
You may be excluded if you are unable to demonstrate to Falmouth University’s satisfaction that appropriate remedial action has been taken to prevent similar unlawful discrimination reoccurring.    
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	B - Environmental Management

	Has your organisation been convicted of breaching environmental legislation, or had any notice served upon it, in the last three years by any environmental regulator or authority (including local authority)? 
If your answer to the this question is “Yes”, please provide details in a separate Appendix of the conviction or notice and details of any remedial action or changes you have made as a result of conviction or notices served.
Falmouth University will not select Bidder(s) that have been prosecuted or served notice under environmental legislation in the last 3 years, unless Falmouth University is satisfied that appropriate remedial action has been taken to prevent future occurrences/breaches.
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	C - Health and Safety

	1. Please self-certify that your organisation has a Health and Safety Policy that complies with current legislative requirements.
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘No’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	2. Has your organisation or any of its Directors or Executive Officers been in receipt of enforcement/remedial orders in relation to the Health and Safety Executive (or equivalent body) in the last 3 years? 
If your answer to this question was “Yes”, please provide details in a separate Appendix of any enforcement/remedial orders served and give details of any remedial action or changes to procedures you have made as a result.
Falmouth University will exclude Bidder(s) that have been in receipt of enforcement/remedial action orders unless the Bidder(s) can demonstrate to Falmouth University’s satisfaction that appropriate remedial action has been taken to prevent future occurrences or breaches.     
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	Section 5: Conflicts of Interest 

	1. Do any potential conflicts of interest exist between this work, any senior member of your company or any member of Falmouth University?
If the answer is ‘Yes’ consideration will be given to the conflicts, the potential impact on the Contract or the procurement and how this can be managed in order to protect all parties. Should there be a conflict that, in Falmouth University’s opinion, could not be suitably managed then this would constitute a ‘Fail’.
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	If yes, please provide details      


	Section 6: Termination
	

	Has the Bidder Organisation ever had a contract terminated as a result of non-compliance or non-performance within the last three years? This section only applies to termination of a contract relevant to the services/goods required to be provided as part of the Contract.
If answer is ‘Yes’, please provide details of such termination.  Consideration will be given to the reasoning behind the termination.  Falmouth University will excluded Bidders who cannot reasonably demonstrate that appropriate remedial action has been taken to prevent similar circumstances arising and resulting in termination of any contract awarded as a result of this procurement.
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder  answers ‘Yes’ to this question, this may constitute a ‘Fail’
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    

	Section 7: Terms and Conditions

	The applicable Terms & Conditions are Falmouth University’s Standard Terms & Conditions for the Purchase of Goods which is available to view in appendix A.  
If there are specific clauses which cannot be agreed to please set these out in the space provided and provide an explanation.  
Please note that doing this does not guarantee Falmouth University’s acceptance to varied terms and conditions.  Falmouth University holds at its discretion the right to disqualify Bidders who do not agree to Falmouth University’s Terms & Conditions of purchase.
Pass/Fail – In the event that a Bidder is not willing to accept Falmouth University’s Terms and Conditions, this may constitute a ‘Fail’.
	Please indicate that you are tendering in agreement of these terms by selecting the box |_|

	Section 8: University’s Policies

	The successful Bidder should be aware of the following University policies and procedures and shall accept and support Falmouth Exeter Plus in compliance with the same principles over the life of the contract period:
Sustainability and Awareness
http://www.fxplus.ac.uk/work/sustainability
Sustainable procurement 
http://www.fxplus.ac.uk/work/sustainability/sustainability-policy-and-strategy
Health and Safety Policy
http://www.fxplus.ac.uk/work/health-safety
Freedom of Information Act
http://www.fxplus.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/fx_plus_foi_charging_policy_oct_2013.pdf
Modern Slavery Act  
· [bookmark: a311954]The Successful bidder shall comply with all applicable laws, statutes, regulations and codes from time to time in force including but not limited to the Modern Slavery Act 2015; and
· [bookmark: a395540][bookmark: a637165]The Successful bidder presents and warrants that neither the bidder nor any of its officers, employees or other persons associated with it:
· has been convicted of any offence involving slavery and human trafficking; and
· to the best of its knowledge, has been or is the subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement proceedings by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body regarding any offence or alleged offence of or in connection with slavery and human trafficking;
· The Successful bidder shall implement due diligence procedures for its own suppliers, subcontractors and other participants in its supply chains, to ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking in its supply chains.

Please confirm that you agree to follow the principles in these policies during the life of the contract. You may wish to provide copies of relevant policies of your own.
	|_|   Yes
|_|   No    






10.	DECLARATION

	Declaration

	I declare that to the best of my knowledge the answers submitted to these questions are correct. I understand that the information will be used in the selection process to assess my organisation’s suitability to be invited to participate further in this procurement, and I am signing on behalf of......................... (Insert name of Bidder). 
I understand that Falmouth University may reject my submission if there is a failure to answer all relevant questions fully or if I provide false/misleading information. I have provided a full list of any Appendices used to provide additional information in response to questions.
I also declare that there is no conflict of interest in relation to Falmouth University’s requirement.

	ITT COMPLETED BY

	Name
	

	Role in organisation
	

	Date
	

	Signature
	



[bookmark: a707079][bookmark: d41486e178][bookmark: a624220][bookmark: a965695][bookmark: a912288][bookmark: a555760][bookmark: a890926][bookmark: _MON_1528635534]Appendix 1 – Supplier Application    


Appendix 2 – Contract Agreement 



Appendix 3 - OFS Terms and Conditions of Funding (including Audit Code of Practice).




Appendix 4 - 2017/18 Audited Accounts
	




Appendix 5 - Risk Management Actions Plans





Appendix 6 - Previous Annual Internal Audit Report

  



Appendix 7 - Current Internal Audit Programmes 
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SUPPLIER APPLICATION FORM 





SECTION 1 – To Be Completed By Supplier



In order for you to become a supplier to Falmouth University or Falmouth Exeter 
Plus, we require you to complete and sign the form below. Please complete all 
sections of this form as any missing information may delay your application. 



		Company name 

		



		Sales contact name, telephone number and email address

		



		Address line 1 

		



		Town/City 

		



		Region/County 

		



		Postcode 

		



		Country 

		



		VAT number 

		



		Telephone number 

		



		Email address for Invoices  

		



		Other E-mail Address 
(if applicable) 

		



		Company Number 
(if applicable)

		



		Number of Employees 
(Please highlight)

		□ 0 – 10   □ 11 – 50   □ 51 – 250   □ >250





 

Requirements for supplying to Falmouth University or Falmouth Exeter Plus

Any suppliers shall be subject to the Terms and Conditions of Purchase (goods and services) for the appropriate organisation (as may be amended from time to time), as outlined in the below links.



Falmouth University Terms and Conditions

Falmouth Exeter Plus Terms and Conditions



Suppliers are required to comply with all applicable laws and regulations. In addition, suppliers are expected to embrace high standards of ethical behaviour and to treat their employees fairly and with dignity and respect. Suppliers are also required to strive to minimise any adverse impact which their operations may have on the environment. 



It is the policy of both organisations that employees may not accept gifts or inducement in connection with its business, other than items of low value such as diaries. Please respect this policy to avoid any embarrassment which may be caused by refusal.



Please confirm by signing and returning a copy of the completed application form that the information contained in it is correct and that you accept the above requirements for supplying the relevant organisation.





		Supplier Signature:













		Name: 



		Date:



 



		Position:  















SECTION 2 – To Be Completed By Requestor 



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

		Requested by: 

		Organisation: (Falmouth or FXP) 





		Budget Holder Name:







		Category of Goods Purchased:





		Is it a one-off purchase?







		Predicted Annual Spend:  



		Procurement Method:   



      

Choose an item.

		If other, please state: 
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Rob Holmes

Director of Finance 

Falmouth University,

Penryn Campus,

Falmouth University



January 2019



		

Contract for the Provision of  Internal Audit Services for Falmouth University



I am writing to you to set out the work (Company Name) (Company Number) of (Company Address) The Company will do for Falmouth University (“the University”) on a ‘contract for services’ basis commencing on the Commencement Date and ending on the Termination Date.  This letter sets out the terms of the agreement between The Company and the University covering both the work The Company will undertake and the level of payment.

It is agreed as follows:



Definitions



In this Agreement the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise requires:



Background Information: the information supplied, or to be supplied, by the University to The Company as set out in more detail in Schedule 2.



Commencement Date: June 2019 or any other date agreed by the University.



Services: the services to be performed by The Company, as set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement, together with such other related services as may from time to time be required by the University.



Termination Date: June 2022



Appointment

With effect from the Commencement Date until the Termination Date, The Company is appointed as an independent contractor to the University to carry out the Services (as set out in Schedule 1), such Services to be provided using best endeavours and all reasonable skill and care. The Services will be carried out by (Company Name ).



Duties

The Company agrees:

· to devote such of The Company’s time, attention and skill for the proper and timely performance of the Services; 

· to carry out the Services in an expert and diligent manner and to provide the Services to the best of The Company’s commercial, technical and creative skill and with all due care, skill and ability;

· during this Agreement, not to undertake any additional activities or accept any other engagements that leads or might lead to any conflict of interest between The Company and the best interests of the University.



The Services will be under the general supervision of the Director of Finance who will provide you with your instructions monitor your work and exercise quality control as appropriate.  While The Company’s method of working is entirely The Company’s own responsibility and is not subject to the control of the University, The Company has agreed to comply with any reasonable requests of the University. 

The University may give The Company instructions to omit any of the Services and The Company shall comply with all reasonable instructions given by the University in connection with this Agreement. 

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent University from obtaining goods or services similar to the Services from any third party. 



[bookmark: _NN10]Performance and Delay

In respect of each of the Services to be performed under this Agreement, The Company shall provide or complete the performance of such Service(s) on or before the applicable date specified as notified by University to The Company. Time for the performance and supply of the Services shall be of the essence of this Agreement. 



Reporting and Meetings

The Company shall provide a written update report to the University (confirming the progress made in delivery of the Services).  

The Company and the University will meet each month into the Agreement to review progress and delivery of the Services. 



Background Information

The University will provide The Company with such Background Information as set out in more detail in Schedule 2.  The Company will confirm in writing to the University that the Background Information has been supplied in sufficient detail to enable The Company to continue to provide the Services.  



Intellectual Property

[bookmark: a537448] 

The University and The Company confirms that any intellectual property right which relate to the Background Information will be solely owned by the University. 

The Company grants, subject to the terms of this Agreement, the University a non-exclusive, indefinite, fully paid up, non-transferable, royalty free licence to use the Intellectual Property arising from this Agreement and from delivery of the Services.



The Company shall procure the waiver in writing of all moral rights, if any, to which its employees, agents, or contractors may now or at any future time be entitled under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 as amended from time to time in respect of the works created by them in the course of delivering the Services. 

The Company shall indemnify and keep indemnified the University against any liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses suffered or incurred by the University arising out of or in connection with any claim made against the University for actual or alleged infringement of a third party's intellectual property rights arising out of or in connection with use of the Foreground IP as supplied by The Company, “The Company’s Background IP or receipt of the benefit of the Services.] 

This clause headed “Intellectual Property” will survive termination of this Agreement by expiry or otherwise.



Except as reasonably required by The Company until the Termination Date to provide the Services, The Company’s use of University intellectual property whether Foreground or Background IP, requires express written permission from the University (either elsewhere in this Agreement or in a document separate to this one). The Foreground IP created by The Company may subsequently be used by The Company for non-commercial, internal purposes only on a non-transferable, non-exclusive royalty free basis (without the right to sub-license) but not further or otherwise, save as the University expressly agrees otherwise in writing. The University may withdraw this permission if The Company does anything which in the University’s reasonable opinion adversely impacts on the University. Any other use of University intellectual property whether Foreground or Background IP requires express written permission from the University (either elsewhere in this Agreement or in a document separate to this one)

No licence to use University intellectual property rights is otherwise to be implied and no warranties are given in relation to any intellectual property by the University to The Company. The University will not unreasonably withhold permission for additional licences but reserves the right to charge for and place conditions on the use of its intellectual property at its entire discretion.

 The Company warrants that in providing the Services and any deliverables as identified in Schedule 1, that the Services and such deliverables will:

(a)	not infringe the rights of any third party; and

(b)	not use open-source software or technology which requires modifications, improvements, or alterations to be published under an open source licence, except as otherwise agreed in writing with the University in advance (Upon the University’s reasonable request, The Company will grant to the University a non-exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, royalty-free licence to use, copy, have copied, modify, have modified, distribute, resell, and sublicense The Company’s Background IP to the extent reasonably required and for the purpose only of using and exploiting the Foreground IP.



Publicity



No media releases, public announcements or public disclosures by The Company or The Company’s employees or agents relating to this Agreement or its subject matter, including but not limited to promotional or marketing material, (but excluding any announcement intended solely for internal distribution by the parties or any disclosure required by legal, accounting or regulatory requirements) may be made without the prior written approval of University.

The Company agrees to acknowledge the role of the University in any work, communication or publication in any format whatsoever including but not limited to your software product, whether based in whole or in part on the Services, the role of the University as a contributor to any of the products/ systems/ software arising out of delivery of the Services and/ or the Project generally.



Fee



A fee of (TBC) (exclusive of any applicable VAT or other charge)) shall be payable to The Company for the provision of the Services.  Payment will be made on receipt of an invoice.  Payment will only be made for Services completed to the standard required by the University and will only be made to the account named on the invoice from The Company.  Payment will be made following receipt of a valid invoice from The Company. All expenses must be included within the fee.



The Company shall invoice the University for the fee and submit this to Falmouth University finance services or post it to Falmouth University, Wood Lane, Falmouth, TR11 4RH. The Company must include the PO number [TBC] on any invoice otherwise it will not be paid.  The invoice should itemise the Services undertaken.



In the event that there are periods when there are no Services for The Company to perform, The Company shall not be paid a retainer for these periods. The fee is payable only in respect of Services actually provided.

If at the University’s request The Company undertake any additional services, or if by reason of any changes requested by the University or any other circumstances beyond The Company’s control.  The Company are required to undertake significant extra work, then provided that The Company notify the University in writing before undertaking such work or additional services that it may require an additional fee, a fair and reasonable additional fee will be payable.



If the University gives instructions to The Company to omit any Services the University shall be entitled to make a suitable reduction in the Fee.

If the amount of any fees or disbursements becoming due hereunder is wrongfully withheld after the relevant final date for payment, such amount shall bear simple interest at the rate of 3% over Bank of England base rate for the time being, from the final date for payment to and including the date on which such amount is paid or discharged.



Where The Company sub-contracts any part of the Services, The Company shall ensure payment of any subcontractor is made within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice. 



Insurance

The Company warrant to the University that The Company has the following insurance: 



Employer’s (Compulsory) Liability Insurance  = £1,000,000
Public Liability Insurance = £1,000,000
Professional Indemnity Insurance = £1,000,000
Product Liability Insurance = £1,000,000

The Company shall maintain such insurance at all times until 12 months after the termination this Agreement), provided that such insurance is available on commercially reasonable terms having regard (inter alia) to premiums required and the policy terms obtainable.

If for any period such insurance is not available on commercially reasonable terms, The Company shall inform the University forthwith and The Company shall obtain in respect of that period such reduced cover (if any) as is available and as would be fair and reasonable in the circumstances for The Company to obtain.

When reasonably requested by the University, The Company shall provide to documentary evidence in the form of a broker's certificate that the insurance required under this Agreement is being maintained.



Office Facilities

If applicable, the University will provide The Company with such office facilities as it shall deem necessary to enable The Company effectively to perform the Services.



Confidentiality

The Company hereby agrees that under this Agreement The Company may obtain knowledge of trade secrets and other confidential information with regard to the business and financial affairs of the University and those of the University's clients, customers and suppliers, details of which are not in the public domain ("Confidential Information") and accordingly The Company hereby undertakes to and covenants with the University that:

· The Company shall not at any time after the Termination Date use or procure the use of the name of the University in connection with “The Company’s own or any other name in any way calculated to suggest that The Company continue to be connected with the business of the University or in any way hold The Company out as having such connection;

· The Company shall not use the Confidential Information other than during the continuance of this Agreement and in connection with the provision of the Services; and

· The Company shall not at any time after the date of this Agreement (save as required by law) disclose or divulge to any person other than to officers or employees of the University whose province it is to know the same any Confidential Information and The Company shall use best endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of any Confidential Information by any other person.

All Confidential Information (howsoever stored) concerning the University supplied by University or by a member of the University or prepared by or on behalf of The Company for the purposes of this Agreement and all copies and extracts of it made or acquired by or on behalf of The Company shall be used only for the purposes of this Agreement, shall be the property of the University and shall be returned to the University upon termination of this Agreement.

The restrictions set out above shall cease to apply to information or knowledge that comes into the public domain otherwise than by reason of the default by The Company.



Termination

Either party shall have the right at any time to terminate this Agreement by giving not less than 28 DAYS notice in writing. 

In addition, the University shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time by summary notice without any payment in lieu in the event that The Company: 

· be in material or persistent breach of any of the terms of this Agreement;

· persistently and wilfully neglecting or becoming incapable for any reason of efficiently performing the Services, including a failure to remedy any fault in work produced within a reasonable period of time of being notified of that fault; or

· do any action manifestly prejudicial to the interests of the University or which may, in the opinion of the University, bring it into disrepute;

and The Company shall have no claim against the University in respect of the termination of this Agreement for any of the reasons specified above.



Tax Liabilities

The parties declare and confirm that it is the intention of the parties that The Company shall be responsible for all income tax liabilities and national insurance or similar contributions in respect of the fees and accordingly The Company hereby agrees to indemnify the University in respect of any claims that may be made by the relevant authorities against the University in respect of income tax and national insurance or similar contributions relating to “The Company’s services under this Agreement.



Warranties

The Company warrants to the University that:

· by entering into this Agreement The Company will not be in breach of any obligations to or agreements with any third party;

· The Company will not undertake any actions which will bring the University into disrepute; and

· The Company shall fully co‑operate with University’s agents, representatives or contractors and supply them with such information, materials and assistance as University may reasonably request or authorise from time to time.



Data Protection

The Company and the University agree to comply with all applicable data protection legislation, including but not limited to the Data Protection Act 1998 and any amendments thereto.





University Policies

The Company shall comply with the University’s policies as set out on the University’s website: 

https://www.falmouth.ac.uk



No Employment

Nothing in this Agreement shall render or be deemed to render The Company as an employee or agent of the University and The Company hereby agrees that The Company are an independent contractor and not an employee or agent of the University. This Agreement does not create any mutuality of obligation between The Company and the University.

The Company do not qualify for any company benefits from the University.



Right to Work in the UK

If any of the staff identified in The Company’s proposal are not a national of an EEA member state, it is the responsibility of The Company to ensure that they have the appropriate visa to enter the UK to work for payment. When applying for a visa, they should explain the reasons for their visit to the UK. The University reserves the right to ask for evidence of those staffs right to work in the UK. 



Force Majeure

If either party to this Agreement is prevented or delayed in the performance of any of their respective obligations under this Agreement by "force majeure", then such party shall be excused from performance for so long as such cause or delay shall continue.

For the purposes of this Agreement, "force majeure" shall be deemed to be any cause affecting the performance of this Agreement arising from or attributable to acts, events, omissions or accidents beyond the reasonable control of either party and shall include, but not be limited to:

· strikes, lockouts or other industrial action;

· civil commotion, riot, act of terrorism, war threat or preparation for war;

· fire, explosion, storm, flood, earthquake, subsidence, epidemic, bad weather or other natural physical disaster;

· impossibility of the use of railways, shipping, aircraft, motor transport or other means of public or private transport; and

· political interference with the normal operations.



Bribery Act and Anti-Competitive Actions

The Company confirm that it will comply with the Bribery Act 2010 and any amendment or re-enactment thereof and that The Company has in place adequate procedures to prevent bribery or collusion.  The Company shall procure that any person associated with The Company shall comply with the Bribery Act 2010 and for the purpose of this Agreement whether a person is associated with another person shall be determined in accordance with Section 8 of the Bribery Act 2010. 

The Company confirms it will not commit any anti-competitive or collusive behaviour in any way but in particular in relation to price fixing.



Modern Slavery

[bookmark: a566377][bookmark: a83229]In performing its obligations under the agreement:

· [bookmark: a311954][bookmark: a707079][bookmark: d41486e178][bookmark: a624220][bookmark: a965695]The Company shall comply with all applicable laws, statutes, regulations and codes from time to time in force including but not limited to the Modern Slavery Act 2015; and

· [bookmark: a395540][bookmark: a637165]The Company represents and warrants that neither The Company nor any of its officers, employees or other persons associated with it:

· [bookmark: a912288][bookmark: a555760]has been convicted of any offence involving slavery and human trafficking; and

· to the best of its knowledge, has been or is the subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement proceedings by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body regarding any offence or alleged offence of or in connection with slavery and human trafficking;

· [bookmark: a890926]The Company shall implement due diligence procedures for its own suppliers, subcontractors and other participants in its supply chains, to ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking in its supply chains.



Limitation of Liability

The total aggregate liability of the University for any liability under this Agreement shall be the Fee for the Services as set out above (together with any additional fees agreed in writing by the University). 

Entire Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and extinguishes all previous agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof. 



Survival of Causes of Action

The termination of this Agreement howsoever occurring shall not affect the rights and liabilities of the parties already accrued at such time nor affect the continuance in force of such of its provisions as are expressed as or capable of having effect after such termination.



Waiver

The failure of any party to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this Agreement or the failure of any party to exercise any right or remedy to which he/she is entitled hereunder shall not constitute a waiver thereof and shall not cause a diminution of the obligations under this Agreement.

No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is expressly stated to be such and signed by all the parties to this Agreement.



Severability

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be severed and the remainder of the provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as if this Agreement had been signed with the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision eliminated.



Notices

Any notice to be given pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent by post to the address of the addressee as set out in this Agreement or such other address (being in Great Britain) as the addressee may from time to time have notified for the purpose of this Agreement, or sent by facsimile transmission to the addressee's fax number as from time to time notified.



Law and Jurisdiction

This Agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales and the parties submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

Please confirm “The Company’s acceptance of these terms by signing and dating the enclosed copy of this letter and returning it to the University.

Yours sincerely,



Rob Holmes Director of Finance 

Signed for and on behalf of Falmouth University





.......................................................



Name ……………………………...

Date................................................ 





Signed for and on behalf of The Company





.......................................................



Name ……………………………...

Date................................................ 





SCHEDULE 1 - THE SERVICES





As set out in Tender Documentation Ref 1366Falmouth: 



SCHEDULE 2 – [BACKGROUND INFORMATION]



As set out in Tender Documentation Ref 1366FALMOUTH



SCHEDULE 3 – THE FEE



TBC. 
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(Company Name) 



(



Company Number



)



 



of 



(Company Address)



 



The 



Company



 



will do for 



Falmouth University



 



(“the University”) on a ‘contract for services’ basis commencing on 



the Commencement Date and ending on the Termination Date.  This letter sets out the terms of the 



agreement between 



The Company



 



and the University covering both the work 



The Company



 



will u



ndertake and 



the level of payment.



 



It is agreed as follows:



 



 



Definitions



 



 



In this Agreement the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings unless the context 



otherwise requires:



 



 



Background Information: the information supplied, or t



o be supplied, by the University to 



The Company



 



as set 



out in more detail in Schedule 2.



 



 



Commencement Date



: 



June 2019



 



or



 



any other date agreed by the University.



 



 



Services: the services to be performed by 



The Company



, as set out in Schedule 1 to this Agre



ement, together 



with such other related services as may from time to time be required by the University.



 



 



Termination Date



: 



June 2022



 



 



Appointment



 



With effect from the Commencement Date until the Termination Date, 



The Company



 



is



 



appointed as an 



independent contractor to the University to carry out the Services (as set out in Schedule 1), such Services to 



be provided using best endeavours and all reasonable skill and care. The Services will be carried out by



 



(Company Name )



.



 



 



Duti



es



 



The Company



 



agree



s



:



 



·



 



to devote such of 



The Company



’s time, attention and skill for the proper and timely performance of 



the Services; 



 



·



 



to carry out the Services in an expert and diligent manner and to provide the Services to the best of 



The Company



’s



 



com



mercial, technical and creative skill and with all due care, skill and ability;



 



·



 



during this Agreement, not to undertake any additional activities or accept any other engagements 



that leads or might lead to any conflict of interest between 



The Company



 



and t



he best interests of the 



University.



 



 



The Services will be under the general supervision of 



the 



Director of Finance 



who will provide you with your 



instructions monitor your work and exercise quality control as appropriate.  While 



The Company



’s



 



method of 



working is entirely 



The Company



’s



 



own responsibility and is not subject to the control of the University, 



The 



Company



 



has



 



agreed to comply with any reasonable requests of the University. 



 



The University may give 



The Company



 



instructions to omit any of the Services and 



The Company



 



shall comply 



with all reasonable instructions given by the University in connection with this Agreement. 



 






`    
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Introduction 


1. The Office for Students’ (OfS’s) regulatory framework published in February 2018 (OfS 


2018.01) will not come fully into force until 1 August 2019. The secondary legislation that 


enacts the Higher Education and Research Act 2017 (HERA) makes provision for the powers 


and duties of the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) (under the Further 


and Higher Education Act 1992) and the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education (under the 


Higher Education Act 2004) to be exercised b\y the OfS until all of its new powers are 


commenced. 


2. This means that providers will be funded and regulated by the OfS from 1 April 2018 to 31 July 


2019 through a combination of the powers and duties ‘carried forward’ from the previous 


legislation and the new HERA powers and duties. This is called the ‘transition period’. The 


terms and conditions of funding in this document set out the requirements placed on higher 


education institutions (HEIs) under the ‘carried forward’ powers. For more information about our 


approach to regulation during the transition period see ‘Regulatory notice 2: Regulation up to 


31 July 2019 of providers that were previously funded by HEFCE’ (OfS 2018.12). 


3. The terms and conditions of funding set out in this document take effect from 1 April 2018 and 


apply during the transition period to 31 July 2019. They are made under section 65 of the 


Further and Higher Education Act 1992, as amended by a statutory instrument setting out the 


transitional arrangements, the Higher Education and Research Act 2017 (Consequential, 


Transitional, Transitory and Saving Provisions) Regulations 2018. They apply to HEIs that we1 


fund, and to their governing bodies and accountable officers. They reflect our responsibility to 


provide annual assurances to Parliament that: 


 funds provided to us are being used for the purposes for which they were given 


 risk management, control and governance in the higher education sector are effective and 


 value for money is being achieved. 


4. ‘HEI’ means the HEI including its related undertakings, as defined in Annex E, unless such 


undertakings: 


 are subject to a separate funding agreement directly with the OfS 


 are subject to separate terms and conditions of UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) funding in 


relation to funds administered by Research England  


 have been designated by the Secretary of State as institutions in the further education sector 


which have their own contract with the Education and Skills Funding Agency or  


 are schools as defined by section 4 of the Education Act 1996 or multi-academy trusts. 


5. HEIs are bound by the requirements of their governing documents and by the law relating to 


their charitable status. This document does not supersede those requirements but is intended 


to complement and reinforce them. 


6. These terms and conditions should be read in conjunction with the terms and conditions of 


Research England grant. Together, these documents supersede the ‘Memorandum of 


assurance and accountability between HEFCE and institutions’ (HEFCE 2017/08). References 


to Research England in these terms and conditions relate to the functions of UKRI that will be 


                                                
1 In this document, the terms ‘we’ and ‘our’ refer to the Office for Students and not to Research England or to 


both organisations. 
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exercised by its Research England committee under section 97 of HERA, but should be read 


as including UKRI, which retains responsibility for those functions. 


7. We will make material revisions to this document only after consulting the higher education 


sector or its representative bodies. Because these terms and conditions are being issued 


before funding allocations for the 2018-19 academic year have been determined or announced, 


the OfS reserves the right to revise or add to terms and conditions applying to specific grants 


for the 2018-19 academic year, in relation to monitoring arrangements or the use of funds. Any 


such revisions or additions will be notified to institutions in advance of the first payments of 


those grants. 


Terms and conditions previously imposed by HEFCE 


8. The OfS and UKRI will each assume responsibilities from the previous regulatory system 


during the transition period. In relation to financial years (April to March) and academic years 


(August to July) up to 2017-18 inclusive, terms and conditions of grant previously specified by 


HEFCE and agreements made by the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education continue to 


apply. The OfS and Research England will, individually or together as they consider 


appropriate, continue to monitor compliance with HEFCE terms and conditions of grant and 


take action against institutions that are found to be in breach of them. 


9. Actions that the OfS and Research England may take against institutions that are found to be in 


breach of previous HEFCE terms and conditions of grant for financial and academic years up to 


2017-18 include (but are not limited to): 


a. Recalculating and adjusting grants previously announced where these are found to have 


been informed by incorrect data from institutions. 


b. Continuing to implement adjustments to student numbers or funding relating to over-


recruitment in the academic years up to 2017-18 against intake targets for medicine and 


dentistry, in line with the approach previously notified by HEFCE. 


c. Monitoring continued compliance with regulated fee limits and any access agreement(s) 


with the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education (or subsequently the OfS) in relation 


to students recruited in any year up to 2018-19 and taking action (including imposing 


financial requirements on an institution) if non-compliance is found. 


10. The OfS and Research England will agree which of them will take action for such breaches 


according to the following general principles: 


a. The OfS will take action in relation to recurrent and capital grants that relate primarily to 


teaching activities and taught students. 


b. Research England will take action in relation to recurrent and capital grants that relate 


primarily to research and knowledge exchange activities and research students. 


c. The OfS will take action where an institution does not comply with the provisions of an 


access agreement with the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education (or subsequently 


the OfS) or regulated tuition fee limits. 
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Our responsibilities 


11. The OfS provides funding for the provision of education and related activities by those 


universities, institutions conducted by higher education corporations, and institutions of higher 


education designated as eligible to receive OfS funding (collectively referred to as ‘higher 


education institutions’ or ‘HEIs’). The OfS has lead responsibility for public accountability for 


HEIs. 


12. As such we will endeavour to work with HEIs and others in the higher education sector to the 


highest standards of openness, integrity and consistency expected of public sector bodies. We 


recognise that HEIs are autonomous bodies and acknowledge that they accept that they are 


accountable for the funding they receive. We will not ask for information that we already have, 


and as far as possible we will rely on data and information that HEIs have produced to meet 


their own needs. We will make regulation efficient and effective and seek to ensure that its 


benefits outweigh the costs to HEIs, ourselves and other parties. 


13. We will respect commercial confidentiality within the constraints of the Freedom of Information 


Act 2000 and our own obligations to Parliament and under the framework document with our 


sponsor department.  


14. Our funding to HEIs is to fund certain activities defined by the Further and Higher Education Act 


1992. For HEIs these are: 


 providing education and 


 providing facilities and undertaking activities that the HEI’s governing body thinks are 


necessary or desirable for providing education. 


15. We will review an HEI’s annual accountability return to us, and notify the accountable officer 


and governing body of any issues that we consider to represent increased risk in relation to the 


funding the institution receives from the OfS or from UKRI. We will not normally make our risk 


assessments public until three years have elapsed. This period, based on advice from the 


Information Commissioner, gives an HEI that is designated ‘at higher risk’ (see paragraph 62) 


time to reduce its risk classification.  


16. We will make our risk assessments available within this three-year period to Research England 


and, on an exceptional and confidential basis, to: 


 other public funders and other regulators to enable those bodies to make their own 


assessments of risk and  


 the National Audit Office, which may exceptionally need to discuss those assessments at the 


Public Accounts Committee or disclose them in a published report. 


17. We must do this to minimise the risk to public funds distributed by those bodies or other 


regulatory remits they hold.  


18. We will exceptionally make public a risk assessment at any time if we have strong grounds for 


believing that it is in the collective student interest or the public interest to do so. We will only 


share or publish our risk assessments after having notified the accountable officer and 


governing body of the HEI concerned. When we assess an HEI to be ‘at higher risk’ for these 


specific funding purposes, we will seek to ensure that we understand how the HEI is managing 


and mitigating risks to funding and that there continues to be appropriate accountability to 


Parliament in respect of these funds. 
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Responsibilities of higher education institutions 


Regularity and propriety 


19. HEIs must use OfS funding only for activities that are eligible for funding under the Further and 


Higher Education Act 1992, as this is the intended purpose for which the funds have been 


provided by Parliament. When using this funding HEIs must ensure they apply proper 


processes that ensure effective accountability. 


20. This requirement also applies where the HEI passes on part of its OfS funding to another 


legally distinct entity for the provision of facilities or learning and teaching. In such cases, as set 


down in Section 65(3A) of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992, the HEI must obtain our 


consent before passing OfS funds to the connected institution. In these circumstances the HEI 


awarded the funding by the OfS will be held accountable for those funds; and the HEI should 


therefore ensure adequate and effective accountability arrangements are in place when it 


passes on such funding to another entity. 


21. Governing bodies and accountable officers are accountable for their decisions and actions, and 


must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. They should also be 


as open as possible about all the decisions and actions that they take that may affect funding 


provided by the OfS. 


Governing bodies 


22. Members of governing bodies of HEIs have a set of legal responsibilities and other duties. 


Taken together, the responsibilities of members of a governing body and of the governing body 


as a whole are considerable, and must be met. The governing body of an HEI is collectively 


responsible and has ultimate responsibility that cannot be delegated for overseeing the HEI’s 


activities, to determine its future direction, and to foster an environment in which the HEI’s 


mission is achieved. In accordance with the HEI’s own statutes and constitution, there should 


be effective arrangements for providing assurance to the governing body that the HEI: 


a. Has a robust and comprehensive system of risk management, control and corporate 


governance. This should include the prevention and detection of corruption, fraud, bribery 


and irregularities. 


b. Has regular, reliable, timely and adequate information to monitor performance and track 


the use of public funds. 


c. Plans and manages its activities to remain sustainable and financially viable.  


d. Informs us of any material change in its circumstances, including any significant 


developments that could impact on the mutual interests of the HEI and the OfS. 


e. Uses public funds for proper purposes and seeks to achieve value for money from public 


funds.  


f. Complies with the mandatory requirements relating to audit and financial reporting, set 


out in our Audit Code of Practice and in our annual accounts direction. 


g. Sends us: 


i. The annual accountability return. 


ii. Other information we may reasonably request. 
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iii. Any data requested on our or Research England’s behalf by the Higher Education 


Statistics Agency (HESA).  


h. Has adequate and effective arrangements for the management and quality assurance of 


data submitted to HESA, the Student Loans Company, the OfS and other funding or 


regulatory bodies. The OfS reserves the right to use and publish its own estimates of 


data, where we are not satisfied that the HEI’s data are fit for purpose. The OfS also 


reserves the right not to publish data. Responsibility for the quality of data used for 


internal decision-making and external reporting, which must be fit for purpose, rests with 


the HEI itself. Data submitted for funding and student number control purposes must 


comply with directions published by HEFCE (previously) and the OfS; if in doubt an HEI 


should ask the OfS to provide an authoritative, written ruling. 


i. Has an effective framework – overseen by its senate, academic board or equivalent – to 


manage the quality of learning and teaching and to maintain academic standards.  


j. Considers and acts on our assessment of its risk specifically in relation to these funding 


purposes. 


Accountable officer 


23. The head of an HEI is first and foremost responsible for leadership of the academic affairs and 


executive management of the HEI. The appointment (or dismissal) of the head of an HEI is 


governed by employment law, and this is clearly the responsibility of the governing body. The 


OfS has no role, rights or responsibilities in relation to the appointment (or dismissal) of the 


head of an HEI. We presume that in a case where a head of an HEI does not discharge their 


duties or acts improperly the governing body will take appropriate action. 


24. Under these terms and conditions, the governing body is responsible for the use of public 


funds. To assist and enable it to discharge this responsibility and to provide clear 


accountability, the governing body will designate a senior officer, normally the head of the HEI, 


as the ‘accountable officer’: that is, the officer who reports to the OfS on behalf of the HEI. 


25. The accountable officer is personally responsible to the governing body for ensuring 


compliance with the terms and conditions of funding and for providing the OfS with clear 


assurances to this effect.  


26. The accountable officer is also required to report to the OfS on behalf of the HEI in relation to 


the requirements in relation to accountability for funding and the quality of data. In exceptional 


circumstances the OfS may take the view that the accountable officer is failing to meet these 


responsibilities.  


27. If, in the judgement of the OfS’s chief executive, there is evidence of serious failure in relation 


to the oversight and management of public funds, they will raise this as appropriate with the 


accountable officer concerned, the chair of the governing body or both; provide the relevant 


evidence; and seek and consider a response.  


28. In extremis, and after all due process has been exhausted, the OfS’s chief executive may 


conclude that the accountable officer is unable or unwilling to meet their responsibilities under 


these terms and conditions. The OfS may then ask the governing body to appoint someone 


else to report to the OfS and Research England on behalf of the HEI. In taking this action the 


OfS will not seek to influence the employment relationship between the governing body and the 


head of the HEI. The governing body is clearly entitled to maintain the head of the HEI in post. 


However, the governing body would then have to designate another senior officer as the 


accountable officer, and adjust the roles and responsibilities of the head of the HEI accordingly.  
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29. The HEI’s accountable officer, the chair of the governing body or both may be required to 


appear before the Public Accounts Committee alongside the chief executive of the OfS in their 


role as accounting officer, on matters relating to grants to the HEI.  


30. In the event of a prolonged absence from work or a sudden departure by the accountable 


officer, the governing body must ensure that the OfS is made aware immediately of the identity 


of the interim accountable officer.  


Financial sustainability 


31. HEIs should have a financial strategy that reflects their overall strategic plan, sets appropriate 


benchmarks and performance indicators, shows how resources are to be used, and shows how 


activities and infrastructure will be financed. This should include how the HEI assesses and 


reviews its own sustainability, including the use of sustainability assessments. 


32. To remain sustainable and financially viable HEIs should also assess, take and manage risks in 


a balanced way that does not overly constrain freedom of action in the future. We will assess 


the financial sustainability of HEIs on the basis of information submitted in the annual 


accountability return. 


33. We normally expect that an HEI will make a surplus in line with its financial strategy for 


sustainability, and thus that its unrestricted reserves will grow over time, all other things being 


equal. A series of deficits, even if covered by unrestricted reserves, might cause us concern, as 


could low levels of liquidity or increased financial commitments. Where we identify significant 


risks to an HEI’s financial sustainability, we will engage with the senior management of the HEI 


to understand how it is managing and mitigating the risks. 


34. As part of ensuring its long-term sustainability, an HEI should know the full cost of its activities 


and use this information in making decisions. If it does not seek to recover the full cost, this 


should be the result of a clear policy set by the governing body and included in the financial 


strategy, and should not put the HEI in financial difficulty. We do not expect public funds to 


subsidise non-public activities.  


Financial commitments 


35. HEIs must apply the following principles when entering into any financial commitments: 


a. The risks and affordability of any new on- and off-balance sheet financial commitments 


must be properly considered. 


b. Financial commitments must be consistent with the HEI’s strategic plan, financial strategy 


and treasury management policy. 


c. The source of any repayment of a financial commitment must be clearly identified and 


agreed by the governing body at the point of entering that commitment. 


d. Planned financial commitments must represent value for money. 


e. The risk of triggering immediate default through failure to meet a condition of a financial 


commitment should be monitored and actively managed. 


36. The primary responsibility for assessing the affordability of, and risks around, financial 


commitments rests with HEIs’ governing bodies. The OfS’s role is to assess whether any 


financial commitments entered into by an HEI present challenges to the HEI’s sustainability that 


could impact adversely on the past and continuing public investment in the HEI, become a call 


on public funds, or adversely affect the collective student interest. The terms and conditions of 
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OfS funding require HEIs in some circumstances to obtain written approval from the OfS before 


increasing their financial commitments. During the transition period HEIs will need to seek the 


OfS’s approval if they meet any of the following criteria: 


 the OfS has informed the HEI that it is considered to be ‘at higher risk’ or 


 the OfS has informed the HEI that it wishes to engage with it on the basis of ‘focused dialogue’.  


37. If an HEI does not meet the criteria set out above it will not need to seek the OfS’s approval 


before it increases its financial commitments. It will, however, need to have included any 


planned future borrowing in the financial forecasts submitted to HEFCE or to the OfS. If an HEI 


has not previously included an increase in financial commitments in its submitted forecasts it 


must report material changes in its financial performance and position relative to its submitted 


forecasts. It is likely that significant increases to an HEI’s financial commitments will trigger this 


reporting requirement and it will need to provide detailed information about its new financial 


commitments as part of that reporting. This will allow the OfS to: 


a. Consider the impact of this borrowing on the HEI’s financial sustainability. 


b. Decide whether the HEI’s risk status, or the level of engagement that the OfS has with 


the HEI, should be changed. 


c. Ask the HEI to develop an action plan to mitigate increased risk if the OfS decides to 


increase the HEI’s risk status or level of engagement. This will provide the OfS with a 


similar level of assurance to that gained by HEFCE through the conditions it imposed 


through its financial commitment approval process. 


38. An HEI should determine the level of its financial commitments that are both affordable and 


consistent with its financial strategy. In any case presented to us we ask the HEI to 


demonstrate this, to show that the proposal represents good value, and to confirm the approval 


of its governing body.  


Material adverse events 


39. The HEI’s accountable officer must report any material adverse change without delay – such as 


a significant and immediate threat to the HEI’s financial position, significant fraud2, or 


impropriety or major accounting breakdown – to all of the following:  


 the chair of the HEI’s audit committee 


 the chair of the HEI’s governing body 


 the HEI’s head of internal audit 


 the external auditor 


 the OfS at regulation@officeforstudents.org.uk.  


40. The HEI’s accountable officer must also inform the OfS about any merger with another 


institution or organisation and about any material changes in its financial performance and 


position relative to its submitted forecasts.  


                                                
2 Defined as fraud of £25,000 or higher. 



mailto:regulation@officeforstudents.org.uk
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41. The governing body must inform the OfS without delay of the removal or resignation of the 


external or internal auditors before the end of the term of their appointment, including the 


reason for the removal or resignation.  


Quality of provision 


42. During the transition period the OfS is subject to the 1992 Further and Higher Education Act’s 


duty to secure that provision is made for assessing the quality of education provided in 


institutions for whose activities it provides, or is considering providing, financial support3. Up to 


31 July 2019, the OfS will discharge this duty using an approach that replicates the Annual 


Provider Review process adopted by HEFCE in previous years. It will also investigate 


complaints made about quality or standards in HEIs as necessary. If an HEI does not meet the 


quality assessment requirements it will be expected to make any necessary improvements 


through the implementation of an agreed action plan. Improvements will be expected and, in 


exceptional circumstances, sanctions may be applied. Our ultimate sanction under these terms 


and conditions is the withdrawal of some or all OfS funding. 


Provision of information to the OfS 


43. Our information requirements as they relate to funding and data are set out in these terms and 


conditions, and in guidance on accountability and other returns. It is a condition of funding that 


HEIs provide the requested accountability or other information. We keep these information 


requirements under review to ensure we only ask for the information we need. 


44. The OfS publishes an accounts direction: HEIs and their external auditors must comply with it. 


The accounts direction sets out the financial reporting requirements of both the OfS and 


Research England. 


45. It is a condition of funding that institutions supply data requested by the OfS or its agents to 


allow for provision of information to prospective and current students. For example institutions 


must provide Unistats data annually according to the published specification and timetable4. 


Access and participation during 2017-18 and 2018-19 


46. All HEIs that have an access agreement with the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education 


for 2017-18 and/or 2018-19 (or as subsequently agreed with the OfS) or are in receipt of 2017-


18 or 2018-19 student premium and disabled students’ premium funding from HEFCE or the 


OfS are required to submit a monitoring return to the OfS relating to each year. These returns 


are a condition of the student premium and disabled students’ premium funding provided, and 


required so that the OfS can monitor the extent to which institutions have met the obligations 


set out in their access agreements and the progress they have made against their milestones 


and targets. The OfS will use this information in determining whether institutions may have 


failed to comply with any provision of their approved plan. Further information about monitoring 


requirements will be provided separately (OfS 2018.12). 


                                                
3 Further and Higher Education Act 1992, part II, section 70 


www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/13/section/70#commentary-c1106607. 


4 Further information about Unistats data requirements is available at: www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-


and-guidance/student-information-and-data/unistats/. 



http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/13/section/70#commentary-c1106607
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Other requirements 


Subscriptions to sector bodies 


47. It is a condition of funding that HEIs in receipt of OfS funding: 


a. Subscribe to the Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education. 


b. Subscribe to the Office of the Independent Adjudicator (under the Higher Education Act 


2004). 


c. Subscribe to and provide data or other information requested by HESA. 


d. Subscribe to Jisc’s core network package from 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2019 and ensure 


that their use of JANET and SuperJANET networks conforms to acceptable practice and 


current legislation. 


48. Non-compliance with regulatory requirements or requirements of such other bodies may be 


taken into account in our assessment of risk, and there may be actions that flow from that 


assessment. 


TRAC 


49. HEIs must submit the Transparent Approach to Costing (TRAC), including TRAC for teaching, 


returns to the OfS5. This must be approved by a lay committee of the governing body prior to 


submission. The OfS will share the TRAC returns with UKRI. 


Estates 


50. HEIs should manage their estate in a sustainable way, in line with an estates strategy. HEIs are 


required to have carbon management plans in accordance with guidance published previously 


in ‘Carbon management strategies and plans (HEFCE 2010/02)6, and performance against 


these plans is a factor in determining future capital allocations. 


State aid 


51. HEIs must ensure compliance with EU state aid law in their own uses of OfS funding. In the 


case of any breach of state aid law we may be required to recover all or some funding, together 


with interest. The OfS may also be required to withhold funding or aspects of funding to any 


institution which is subject to a state aid enquiry or which has an outstanding recovery notice 


against it. 


Exchequer interest 


52. There is an Exchequer interest that has built up over time in HEIs in receipt of HEFCE and OfS 


capital funding. These HEIs entered into an agreement with HEFCE effective from 1 August 


2006 and which continues under the OfS. These institutions and any others that have received 


capital funding since then are required to comply with the following conditions. 


53. If either of the following remote events occurs, they will trigger immediate liability for the 


institution to repay to the OfS the full amount of the Exchequer interest balance. The institution 


will recognise the OfS as an unsecured creditor until such repayment is made. If a liability to 


make repayment arises, the OfS may agree to accept repayment of some other sum, or to 


                                                
5 See www.hefce.ac.uk/funding/finsustain/trac/#TRAC_Guidance. 


6 See www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/year/2010/201002/.  



http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/year/2010/201002/
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delay repayment, at its absolute discretion, and such agreement may be on terms and 


conditions as the OfS thinks fit. 


a. The first trigger event will be if the institution becomes insolvent, including going into 


liquidation or administration, or if it dissolves or transfers its undertaking to some other body 


(for example, by the exercise of the Secretary of State’s powers under the Education Reform 


Act 1988), or if it experiences any analogous event. 


b. The second trigger event is if the institution ceases to be designated as eligible for OfS 


funding, or chooses to withdraw from its funding relationship with the OfS.  


54. If either of the triggers is activated, the OfS will calculate, and share with the institution, the 


Exchequer interest balance, and has the right, but not the obligation, to request repayment of 


the Exchequer interest balance. It has discretion to waive the requirement for repayment. In 


making this decision, the OfS will consider the extent of any continuing public benefit arising 


from the use of previous OfS or HEFCE capital grants. 


Payment of grant 


55. Each year we determine how much money to allocate to each HEI. HEIs should use this money 


only for the purposes we are empowered to fund, as defined in the Further and Higher 


Education Act 1992 or other relevant legislation.  


56. We may withhold or require an HEI to repay part or all of a grant if it does not comply with the 


conditions we attach to the funding or if it has been incorrectly over-funded. In cases where we 


require repayment we may charge interest, at 2 per cent above the Bank of England base rate, 


for the period before the HEI repays the funding to us.  


 


Institutional engagement 


57. As a public sector funding body the OfS must be confident that the bodies it funds have 


adequate and effective risk management, control and governance arrangements to protect the 


investment of public funding; and arrangements for delivering value for money (VFM) from 


public funds.  


58. The OfS will ensure accountability for its funding up to 31 July 2019 using three main strands 


designed to provide confidence about the regularity, propriety and VFM of public funding, while 


minimising burden on the sector. The strands are:  


 annual accountability return 


 assurance review 


 data assurance. 


59. The OfS will share with Research England its conclusions about institutions in receipt of 


funding administered through Research England arising from activities carried out and 


information received under its accountability framework. This approach will minimise the 


demands on HEIs placed by both organisations. 


60. The documents that the OfS will need to assess to gain assurance over the accountability, 


regularity, propriety and VFM of the funding that it disburses are set out in Regulatory Notice 2 


(OfS 2018.12). This continues the approach to minimise the regulatory burden on HEIs by 


relying on data and information that they have produced to meet their own needs. 
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61. We will assess risk for all institutions for these specific funding purposes during the transition 


period. We will continue to use during this period the categories previously used by HEFCE: 


there are currently two risk categories. The first is ‘not at higher risk’ (HEFCE’s experience was 


that this is the vast majority of HEIs at any time). We will have minimal engagement with HEIs 


that we assess under these funding requirements as being ‘not at higher risk’. 


62. The second category is ‘at higher risk’ (for a small number of institutions). We define an HEI as 


‘at higher risk’ for these specific funding purposes when in our judgement, on the basis of all 


available evidence, it: 


 faces threats to the sustainability of its operations, either now or in the medium term 


 has serious problems relating to value for money, propriety or regularity (that is, whether funds 


are used for the purpose intended) or 


 has materially ineffective aspects of risk management, control or corporate governance. 


63. When we assess an HEI as being ‘at higher risk’ we must respond appropriately, to protect the 


public and collective student interest. We will write to the accountable officer (copying the letter 


to the chair of the governing body) to set out our concerns. We will also engage with the HEI’s 


senior management to understand how they are managing and mitigating the risks and 


ensuring that students are protected. When we consider the HEI to be no longer at higher risk, 


we will write to its accountable officer and its governing body to confirm this.  


64. If an HEI fails to take any agreed action the OfS will seek explanations and, if appropriate and 


justified, issue warnings to improve. 


65. If the HEI still fails to address the risks and issues then the HEI will be informed that one or 


more actions will be applied. This is very much a last resort and an action that we would not 


expect to take often. Actions may be taken by the OfS and Research England, individually or 


together. 


66. The two actions at the disposal of the OfS and Research England, which could be deployed if 


other routes to secure compliance are not successful, are:  


a. Financial – through the recovery of grant funding or the denial of access to future grant 


funding, including access to specific grants or to discretionary funding. This applies both 


to OfS grants and those administered through Research England on behalf of UKRI. 


Ultimately the OfS and Research England can withdraw funding entirely, should 


circumstances warrant such action.  


b. Informational – through making public our concerns about an HEI where there are 


strong grounds to do so and where this is in the public or collective student interest 


(including that of both current and prospective students, and past students where 


relevant). 


67. There are occasions when we identify significant risks at an HEI through our risk assessment. 


For example, we may identify that an HEI’s risks are increasing because of, for instance, 


changes in student demand or increased competition, its performance or its internal control 


arrangements. At such times the OfS will seek a period of ‘focused dialogue’ with the institution 


to try to ensure that the risks are appropriately addressed. 


68. The Agreement on Institutional Designation (OfS 2018.17) has been developed with 


Universities UK, GuildHE and the Association of Colleges to ensure that accountability for 


public funds continues to be effective following the government’s reforms of the funding of 


higher education. The Agreement is effective until the new regulatory framework is fully 


implemented on 1 August 2019. Any actions that the OfS might take under that Agreement may 


also lead to actions under these terms and conditions. 
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Annual accountability return 


69. During the transition period, the OfS will take assurance from a suite of accountability returns, 


including audited financial statements, financial forecasts and independent audit reports, which 


must be submitted to the OfS by a specified date or dates. They provide the OfS with a view of 


each HEI’s risk management, control and governance, financial sustainability, arrangements for 


promoting VFM and managing and quality assuring data. By using information and assurances, 


much of which is needed for internal management and assurance purposes by the HEI, the OfS 


will be able to minimise its audit requirements and reduce burden. The annual accountability 


returns are assessed by the OfS to inform its view of risk specifically in relation to these funding 


purposes. 


70. In preparing their audited financial statements for submission in the annual accountability 


return, HEIs must follow the OfS’s accounts direction and the ‘Statement of recommended 


practice: Accounting for further and higher education’ (SORP), or any successor to the SORP 


in preparing their audited financial statements for the years ended 31 July 2018 and 31 July 


2019. If an HEI is also a company limited by guarantee, this direction is subject to the 


requirements of the Companies Act. 


71. The latest date for submission of HEIs’ audited financial statements for 2017-18 is Monday 


3 December 2018. Earlier submission is welcome. 


Assurance review 


72. The assurance review is a short site visit to HEIs to ensure that there are suitable accountability 


processes within each HEI to assure the validity of its annual accountability returns. This helps 


the OfS to validate the systems of self-regulation on which it relies. These reviews will continue 


through July 2018. The OfS will then adopt a more risk-based approach to further reviews 


during the transition period – this is expected to mean that a smaller number of reviews will be 


carried out. 


Data assurance 


73. During the transition period, HEIs are required to supply the OfS with data to inform allocations 


of funding and for other purposes. The responsibility for the quality and accuracy of that data 


rests with the HEI. The OfS relies on the HEI’s own data assurance processes where possible.  


74. The OfS monitors the reasonableness of data and undertakes verification, validation and 


reconciliation work between HESA data and other datasets. The OfS may undertake audits at 


an HEI if it deems this necessary. Data audits will assess the strength of institutional systems 


and controls as well as assessing the accuracy of the data submissions. 
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Annex A: Funding agreement between the OfS and 
an HEI: 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2019 


Introduction 


1. This annex records the agreement between the Office for Students (OfS) and a higher 


education institution (HEI) relating to the amount of recurrent funding which the OfS will provide 


to the institution for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 and 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019. 


The amount of funding will be notified in writing to each HEI separately. This annex sets out 


certain conditions the HEI is expected to meet in return for that funding. 


2. This annex must be read in conjunction with the rest of this document. References to Research 


England in this schedule relate to the functions of UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) that will 


be exercised by its Research England council under Section 97 of the Higher Education Act 


2017, but should be read as including UKRI, which will retain responsibility for those functions. 


3. An institution (defined below) must include all its registered students when counting the number 


of students to be included within any control on that institution’s student numbers, such as 


medical or dental intake targets, and for the institution’s reporting obligations relating to 


students under paragraph 8, and for the purposes of the Unistats data collection under the 


terms and conditions of OfS funding and this funding agreement.  


4. This annex specifies the conditions of funding that apply for the periods: 


 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 


 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019. 


Institution 


5. ‘Institution’ means the institution including its related undertakings (as defined in Annex E), 


unless such undertakings: 


 are subject to a separate funding agreement directly with the OfS 


 are subject to separate terms and conditions of UKRI funding in relation to funds administered 


by Research England 


 have been designated by the Secretary of State as institutions in the further education sector 


which have their own contract with the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) or 


 are schools as defined by section 4 of the Education Act 1996 or multi-academy trusts. 


Conditions of funding 


6. All funding provided by the OfS is subject to the conditions set out in this document and, in 


accepting funding, the institution is agreeing to comply with those conditions. 


7. The institution is free to distribute internally at its own discretion all funding from the OfS which 


is not earmarked or provided for a specific purpose, subject to that funding being used for the 


activities eligible for funding under section 65(2)(a) and (b) of the Further and Higher Education 


Act 1992, as amended. Any funds that have been earmarked or provided for a specific purpose 


must be used solely for the purpose for which those funds were earmarked or provided. 
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8. Information and data requirements are set out in paragraphs 43-45 in the main body of this 


document. These are part of the terms and conditions attached to funding. The data required 


includes the data collected by the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA) during and/or for 


the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic years, the 2018 Higher Education Students Early Statistics 


(HESES) survey and, for those institutions offering medical and dental courses that lead on 


successful completion to first registration as a doctor or dentist, the 2018 Medical and Dental 


Students (MDS) survey (or such other surveys as may replace these under the funding method 


for teaching). This data enables the OfS and Research England to monitor the delivery of 


teaching and research during 2017-18 and 2018-19, and informs the consideration of funding 


and student number allocations. Higher education institutions are also required to submit 


student contact details to enable the OfS, or its agents, to conduct the National Student Survey 


and to provide information to HESA for publication on the Unistats website (or its replacement 


website).  


9. Compliance with the code of practice for higher education data collections7 is a condition of 


funding for all institutions. Each HEI is required to confirm in its annual assurance return that it 


complies with the code of practice. 


10. The HEI agrees that non-statutory bodies which perform a function for the higher education 


sector, specifically UCAS and the Student Loans Company, may provide to the OfS such 


information (including financial information) relating to students at, offers and acceptances by, 


and applications to the institution as the OfS may require for the purposes of the exercise of 


any of its functions under the Education Acts. These functions include the allocation and 


monitoring of funding and student numbers and the provision of advice to the Secretary of 


State. The OfS will notify the institution in advance of any data request it may make to these 


other bodies. 


11. Institutions should note the guidance on senior staff remuneration, in the grant letter to the 


Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) of 23 February 20178 and the 


guidance letter to the OfS of 28 February 20189 and the disclosure requirements set out in the 


accounts direction published by the OfS (www.officeforstudent.org.uk/#documents). 


Conditions of funding on regulated fees 


12. It is a condition of the funding provided for the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic years by 


HEFCE and the OfS that the institution complies with tuition fee regulations and the terms of 


any access agreement in force as agreed with the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education 


or the OfS. The condition that applies for 2017-18 and 2018-19, and the action that may be 


taken for any breaches of that condition is provided at Annex B. 


Arrangements for payment 


13. The OfS will normally pay recurrent funds to the institution in monthly instalments, in 


accordance with a funding profile for the whole academic year that will be notified separately. 


While the OfS reserves the right to amend the profile during the year, it will make adverse 


                                                
7 Available at www.hesa.ac.uk/content/view/3685. 


8 ‘Funding for higher education in England for 2017-18: HEFCE grant letter from the Department for Education’, 


available at www.hefce.ac.uk/funding/govletter. 


9 See ‘Strategic guidance to the Office for Students: Priorities for financial year 2018-19’ 


https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/regulation/guidance-from-government/. 



http://www.officeforstudent.org.uk/#documents

https://www.hesa.ac.uk/content/view/3685

http://www.hefce.ac.uk/funding/govletter/

https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/
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changes to the profile only in exceptional circumstances and following consultation with the 


institution. 


14. Payments for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 will reflect the residual balance of 


teaching grants that are due for the 2017-18 academic year but have not already been paid by 


HEFCE or transferred to UKRI. 


Recurrent funding allocations for 2017-18 and 2018-19 


15. The funding tables provided by HEFCE in July 2017, or as subsequently updated, show the 


allocations of recurrent funding for the institution for the period 1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018. 


HEFCE has paid a proportion of the total between August 2017 and March 2018 according to a 


monthly payment profile that it notified separately. The balance will be paid by the OfS and UK 


Shared Business Services Ltd, on behalf of Research England (for those grants that are 


transferring to it and subject to its separate funding decisions). These allocations may be 


amended subsequently in the light of any data assurance work we or Research England carry 


out with individual institutions or other data amendments that we agree to accept. We may also 


reduce the institution’s grant for 2017-18: 


a. If the institution exceeded its medical or dental intake target in both 2013-14 and 2014-


15. Any such reduction will reflect the revised adjustments (reflecting confirmation of 


2014-15 intakes in the 2015 MDS) notified in the letter of 9 March 2016 from Anna Child 


and Esther Nye, or as may be notified separately following data assurance.  


b. If the institution exceeded its medical or dental intake target in both 2014-15 and 2015-


16. Any such reduction will reflect the revised adjustments (reflecting confirmation of 


2015-16 intakes in the 2016 MDS) notified in the letter of 28 February 2017 from Anna 


Child and Esther Nye, or as may be notified separately following data assurance. 


c. If the institution exceeded its medical or dental intake target in both 2015-16 and 2016-


17. Any such reduction will reflect the adjustments notified in the letter of 28 February 


2017 from Anna Child and Esther Nye, or as may be notified separately, including in the 


light of confirmation of 2016-17 medical and dental intake numbers in the 2017 MDS. 


16. The OfS expects to issue grant tables in May 2018, showing the allocations of recurrent 


teaching funding for the institution for the period 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019.  


17. These allocations may be amended subsequently in the light of any data assurance work we 


carry out with individual institutions or other data amendments that we agree to accept. We 


may also reduce the institution’s recurrent teaching grant for 2018-19: 


a. If the institution exceeded its medical or dental intake target in two successive years, 


reflecting any of the circumstances described in paragraph 15. 


b. If the institution exceeded its medical or dental intake target in both 2016-17 and 2017-


18. Any such reduction will reflect the adjustments notified in the letter of 14 February 


2018 from Esther Nye, or as may be notified separately, including in the light of 


confirmation of 2017-18 medical and dental intake numbers in the 2018 MDS. 


18. If an institution does not have any OfS-fundable students in 2017-18 or 2018-19, then all 


recurrent and capital funding for teaching allocated for that year will be held back. Unless 


subsequently revised, ‘OfS-fundable students’ has the same meaning as ‘HEFCE-fundable 


students’ as defined in Annex F of ‘HESES17’ (HEFCE 2017/17, available at 
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www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/year/2017/201717/), but from 1 August 2018 also includes those that 


come within the category of ‘persons granted stateless leave and their family members’10.  


19. If necessary, we will require a direct repayment of grant if future payments are insufficient to 


allow us to recover sums due back within the year. 


20. We reserve the right to revise any allocation to take account of changes to the grant available 


to us from government, or where we believe the size of any allocation that we have announced 


has been affected by erroneous or incomplete data. 


Changes to the grant available to us 


21. The strategic guidance letter to the OfS of 28 February 2018 from government confirmed the 


teaching funding available for the 2018-19 financial year (April to March). However it did not 


show any indicative funding for the 2019-20 financial year. The letter also identified the policies 


and priorities that should underpin our approach to funding.  


22. In the light of the guidance letter, the OfS’s Board has confirmed funding for the period April 


2018 to July 2018 and agreed 2018-19 academic year budgets. In doing so, it has had to make 


an assumption about the funding that might be available for the 2019-20 financial year, 


because of its four-month overlap with the 2018-19 academic year. Any future changes to the 


grant made available to us by government for financial year 2018-19, or that we have assumed 


for financial year 2019-20, are likely to affect the funding we are able to distribute to institutions 


in the 2018-19 academic year, and this may include revising allocations after they have already 


been announced. Accordingly, institutions should plan their budgets prudently. 


Data audit and reconciliation 


23. Data collected from institutions informs the allocations of student numbers, recurrent funds for 


teaching, and some non-recurrent allocations in response to specific initiatives. We and our 


agents also use data from institutions to provide public information about institutions and their 


courses, including through the Unistats website. We will audit data selectively, through audit 


visits and other processes. We will also use data which institutions provide to HESA, HEFCE, 


the ESFA and other organisations to verify the data institutions send directly to us. We will use 


the outcomes of these data audits and reconciliations to review funding and student number 


allocations both for the year in question and all subsequent years. 


24. If we find, either through reconciliations with HESA, HEFCE, ESFA or other organisations’ data, 


or through any data audit, that erroneous data has resulted in institutions receiving incorrect 


funding or student number allocations, then we will adjust these accordingly (subject to any 


appeals process that may apply and the availability of our funds). We will recover funding from 


an institution for any year informed by the audited or reconciled data (including any 


consequential effects on funding for subsequent years) unless there is evidence that an 


institution has deliberately not complied with the funding rules or has ignored previous HEFCE 


or OfS advice or recommendations. In these exceptional circumstances we may recover 


funding that relates to a longer period, up to a maximum of seven years (including in relation to 


years when funding was provided by HEFCE). 


                                                
10 This category is defined in an amendment to the Education (Fees and Awards) (England) Regulations 2007 


that has been made through Regulation 17 of statutory instrument 2018/137 


(www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/137/contents/made). 



http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/year/2017/201717/





19 


25. We will seek assurances from accountable officers and audit committees about the 


management and quality assurance arrangements for data submitted to HESA, the Student 


Loans Company, the OfS, Research England, HEFCE and other bodies. This is imperative in 


order to improve the reliability of data, which is crucial for the efficiency of our funding, for the 


accuracy of public information that we provide and to reduce the number of significant funding 


or student number allocation adjustments arising from data corrections. Further guidance for 


audit committees on data assurance can be found at www.hefce.ac.uk/reg/guidance/audit/. 


Funding agreement requirements 


26. Table A of the recurrent grant tables for each academic year shows two requirements relating 


to student numbers that may apply to the institution, and that we expect it to meet. The table 


specifies whether and how they apply to the institution. They are as follows: 


a. A ‘medical intake target’, specifying the limit on students beginning undergraduate quota-


controlled medical courses in the relevant year. 


b. A ‘dental intake target’, specifying the limit on students beginning undergraduate quota-


controlled dental courses in the relevant year. 


27. We expect the institution to meet all the requirements that apply to it. If the institution does not 


meet any of the individual requirements that apply, then we may adjust its funding and student 


number allocations for the relevant year and/or future years.  


Medical and dental targets for 2017-18 


28. The medical and dental intake targets for 2017-18 were set out in the grant tables for that year 


issued by HEFCE in July 2017. The monitoring arrangements and the action to be taken in the 


event of over-recruitment remain as set out in the 2017-18 funding agreements also issued by 


HEFCE in July 2017, albeit that this will now be pursued by the OfS. 


Medical and dental targets for 2018-19 


29. The medical and dental intake targets specified on the 2018-19 OfS recurrent grant Table A 


represent the maximum intakes for all students (whether Home, EU or overseas) starting full-


time undergraduate (including graduate-entry) programmes that lead on successful completion 


to first registration as a doctor or dentist, respectively. The institution should ensure it does not 


exceed these targets (where they apply). We may take action against any institution that 


continues to do so. 


30. Continuing the arrangements that have applied under HEFCE funding, we will not count any 


students recruited in excess of these targets towards our funding for high-cost subjects and this 


will apply to all years of study relating to the excess numbers recruited. In order to implement 


this, where an institution exceeds such a target, we will identify the extent of over-recruitment 


and use this to adjust the total number of students we would otherwise count towards our 


funding for high-cost subjects. This will be implemented as a reduction to student numbers, 


reflecting that such students will commonly continue their studies for five years. The 


adjustments will be calculated as follows: 


a. For over-recruitment in medicine: we will multiply the number of students recruited in 


excess of the 2018-19 intake target by a percentage (to take account of the fact that a 


proportion of the 2018-19 intake target number may be used for the recruitment of 


overseas students – the maximum intake of overseas students within the total for 2018-


19 is also specified on Table A). The product of this calculation will be deducted from the 


total student numbers we would otherwise count in determining the allocation of funding 



http://www.hefce.ac.uk/reg/guidance/audit/





20 


for high-cost subjects. This deduction will apply to the numbers in price group B in the 


allocations for each of 2018-19 and 2019-20 and to the numbers in price group A in the 


allocations for each of 2020-21 to 2022-23. This approach reflects how students are 


commonly counted for funding purposes for a typical five-year medical degree. 


b. For over-recruitment in dentistry: we will multiply the number of students recruited in 


excess of the intake target by a percentage (to take account of the fact that up to 5 per 


cent of the intake target may be used for the recruitment of overseas students – the 


maximum intake of overseas students within the total for 2018-19 is also specified on 


Table A). The product of this calculation will be deducted from the total student numbers 


we would otherwise count in determining the allocation of funding for high cost subjects. 


This deduction will apply to the numbers in price group B in the allocation for 2018-19 and 


to the numbers in price group A in the allocations for each of 2019-20 to 2022-23. This 


approach reflects how students are commonly counted for funding purposes for a typical 


five-year dentistry degree. 


31. In addition to the adjustment described in paragraph 30, where institutions have exceeded their 


medical or dental intake target for 2017-18, any further over-recruitment against that target in 


2018-19 will result in a grant reduction for each excess student recruited in 2018-19. We will 


multiply the numbers recruited in excess of the 2018-19 medical or dental intake target by the 


relevant percentage described in paragraph 30, to take account of the fact that a limited 


proportion of each intake target may be used for the recruitment of overseas students. We will 


calculate the grant reduction by multiplying the resulting excess number so identified by a rate 


calculated as £1,000 less than the institution’s average tuition fee after fee waivers (according 


to an Access Agreement with the Office for Fair Access, or as subsequently agreed by the 


OfS). These grant reductions will apply for up to five years, beginning in 2018-19, reflecting the 


typical duration of undergraduate degrees in medicine and dentistry. The calculations will be 


carried out separately for each intake target. 


32. There will be no opportunity to offset any over-recruitment, by recruiting below the targets for 


future years, so as to avoid the reductions to student numbers counted for funding or the grant 


adjustments described in paragraphs 30 and 31 that we will implement from 2018-19.  


33. We will monitor recruitment against the medical and dental intake targets initially using the 


2018 MDS survey. Institutions will be notified of provisional reductions to the student numbers 


counted for funding and any grant reductions in late 2018 and will have an opportunity to 


appeal against any such reduction. Reductions will be reviewed and adjusted as necessary 


following receipt of final numbers for 2018-19 in the 2019 MDS survey. We may also use the 


outcome of any data audit or reconciliation work and the HESA individualised student record for 


2018-19 to review the institution’s compliance with these student number requirements and any 


consequences for the institution’s funding or student number allocations from us. 


34. Where institutions have combined to form joint medical or dental schools, the intake targets are 


attributed entirely to one ‘lead’ partner on its grant Table A, while the other partner will not have 


intake targets shown on its 2018-19 grant Table A. We will monitor recruitment against the 


intake target for the joint medical or dental school. In the event that the school exceeds its 


intake target, we will seek to apply any reductions in student numbers counted for funding to 


the partners, according to a split agreed with them. Where the partners are unable to agree, we 


will make the final decision on how to attribute the reduction between them and this decision 


will not be subject to appeal. 
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Other funding agreement requirements 


35. The targeted allocation for very high-cost science, technology, engineering and mathematics 


subjects within the teaching grant, shown on the 2017-18 recurrent grant Table B issued by 


HEFCE and the 2018-19 grant Table A issued by the OfS, is conditional on institutions 


continuing to maintain taught programmes in the very high-cost disciplines (physics; chemistry; 


chemical engineering; and minerals, metallurgy and materials engineering) that this funding 


aims to sustain. Institutions that discontinue or substantially reduce their provision in any of 


these subjects in a year for which this funding has been provided will lose their allocation of this 


funding and be required to repay all of it. Institutions in receipt of this funding may be asked to 


submit qualitative monitoring information on the use of the funds. This will complement our 


monitoring of activity in these subjects through the HESA record. The monitoring statement 


should include details of the programmes offered in the four subject areas during the year, and 


the new entrants and total numbers of Home and EU students for each. 


36. The nursing and allied health supplement within the teaching grant, also shown on 2017-18 


recurrent grant Table B issued by HEFCE and the nursing, midwifery and allied health 


supplement shown on the 2018-19 grant Table A issued by the OfS, is conditional on 


institutions maintaining their current provision of pre-registration courses for the professions 


that attract this funding. Those professions are, for both undergraduate and (from 2018-19) 


postgraduate courses: adult, mental health, child, learning disability and other (unclassified) 


nursing; therapeutic radiography; diagnostic radiography; podiatry and chiropody; orthoptics; 


prosthetics and orthotics; and speech and language therapy; and also from 2018-19 for 


postgraduate courses only: midwifery, dietetics, occupational therapy and physiotherapy. 


Institutions that discontinue their provision for any of these professions in a year for which this 


funding has been provided will lose their allocation of this funding and be required to repay all 


of it. Institutions in receipt of this funding may be asked to submit qualitative monitoring 


information on the use of the funds. This will complement our monitoring of activity in these 


subjects through HESA and HESES data. 


Grant reductions arising from non-compliance with Table A funding 


agreement requirements 


37. Where any reduction to grant is due because the institution has not met the requirements 


specified on grant Table A and described in this funding agreement, we will give the institution 


an opportunity to appeal against the application of any such reduction. We will provide 


guidance to the institution on any appeals process, including the timetable and format for 


appeals and on our broad approach to considering them. We will decide whether or not to 


accept the appeal (in whole or part), before finalising the level of the reduction that we will 


apply. 


38. We will not invite appeals where changes to grant arise for other reasons, including the 


formulaic recalculation of allocations arising from data assurance work or other data 


amendments. 
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Annex B: Conditions of funding regarding 
regulated fees 


1. In accordance with the Secretary of State’s duty under section 23 of the Higher Education Act 


2004, the Secretary of State will impose a condition on grants to the Office for Students (OfS) 


for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 July 2019, requiring the OfS in turn to impose a condition 


throughout that period, in accordance with section 24 of that Act, on financial support given to 


the governing body of a relevant institution. 


2. An equivalent condition has been imposed on grant made by the Secretary of State to the 


Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) in respect of the academic year 2017-


18, and will continue to apply in relation to the remainder of that academic year. Pursuant to 


transitional arrangements11 relating to the implementation of the Higher Education and 


Research Act 2017, from 1 April 2018 the OfS will carry out the former functions of HEFCE and 


the Director of Fair Access to Higher Education including those relating to the making and 


enforcing of grants. Accordingly, the condition of funding imposed on relevant institutions for 


the academic year 2017-18 will continue to apply, with references to HEFCE or to the Director 


having effect as if they were references to the OfS. 


3. The condition that the OfS will impose on the governing body of each relevant institution is set 


out in paragraphs 4 onwards below. That condition must provide, in the event of a failure to 


comply with the condition, for the imposition of the financial requirements described in 


paragraphs 11 to 14, including the principles described in paragraphs 13 and 14. Terms 


defined in Part 3 of the Higher Education Act 2004 have the same meaning when used in this 


annex and certain key terms are further described below. 


Condition to be imposed by the OfS on the governing body of each 


relevant institution 


4. It is a condition of funding that:  


a. Where an institution has an approved plan (‘the plan’) by the Director of Fair Access to 


Higher Education or by the OfS applying to students studying in the academic year 2018-


19, its governing body must secure that in respect of that academic year the fees payable 


by a qualifying person in connection with their undertaking a qualifying course do not 


exceed the limit (which must not exceed the higher amount) provided for in the plan for 


that course and for that academic year, and  


b. The governing body must comply with the general provisions of the plan.  


c. Where an institution does not have an approved plan for a student cohort in the academic 


year 2018-19, its governing body must secure that in respect of that academic year the 


fees payable by a qualifying person in connection with their undertaking a qualifying 


course do not exceed the basic amount.  


5. ‘Fees’ has the meaning set out in Section 41 of the Higher Education Act 2004 and in the 


Education (Student Fees) (Exceptions) (England) Regulations 199912, which continue to apply. 


                                                
11 Subject to parliamentary scrutiny. 


12 Statutory Instrument 1999/2265. 
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For students starting pre-registration courses in nursing, midwifery and allied health professions 


on or after 1 August 2017, institutions should meet, and not charge students for, the costs of 


Disclosure and Barring Service checks, occupational health checks and the provision of 


uniforms, where these are required for their participation on a course or course placement. 


6. Qualifying courses and persons have the meaning prescribed in the Student Fees (Qualifying 


Courses and Persons) (England) Regulations 2007, as amended13.  


7. Details of the higher and basic amounts are outlined in paragraphs 8 to 10 below. For these 


purposes an ‘eligible institution’ means an institution listed in the Schedule to the Higher 


Education (Basic Amount) (England) Regulations 2016 and the Schedule to the Higher 


Education (Higher Amount) (England) Regulations 2016, each as amended14. 


8. The prescribed amounts for 2018-19 for students starting their full-time courses before 


1 September 2012 reflect provisions in the Higher Education Act 2004 and are subject to 


overall limits set out in the Student Fees (Amounts) (England) Regulations 200415 as amended 


by Regulation 3 of the Student Fees (Basic and Higher Amounts) (Approved Plans) (England) 


(Amendment) Regulations 201216. For these courses:  


a. The basic amount is £1,380 (£680 where Regulation 5 of the Student Fees (Amounts) 


(England) Regulations 2004 applies). 


b. The higher amount is £3,465 (£1,725 where Regulation 5 of the Student Fees (Amounts) 


(England) Regulations 2004 applies).  


9. For students starting full-time courses on or after 1 September 201217, for an academic 


year beginning on or after 1 August 2017, the prescribed amounts are subject to overall limits 


that are set out in regulation 6 of the Higher Education (Basic Amount) (England) Regulations 


2016 and regulation 6 of the Higher Education (Higher Amount) (England) Regulations 2016. 


For these courses, the basic amount is £6,165 for an eligible institution and £6,000 for any 


other institution and the higher amount is £9,250 for an eligible institution and £9,000 for any 


other institution, except where any of the following exceptions apply under regulation 7 of both 


sets of regulations: 


a. The basic amount is £3,080 for an eligible institution and £3,000 for any other institution 


and the higher amount is £4,625 for an eligible institution and £4,500 for any other 


                                                
13 Statutory Instrument 2007/778, which has been amended, at the time of writing by Statutory Instruments 


2007/2263, 2008/1640, 2011/87, 2012/1653 and 2016/584 and further amended (in relation to ‘persons 


granted stateless leave and their family members’) for 2018-19 by Statutory Instrument 2018/137. 


14 Statutory instruments 2016/1205 and 2016/1206 respectively. The Schedules to both instruments, which 


identify eligible institutions, are due to be updated ahead of Academic Year 2018-19, subject to 


parliamentary scrutiny. A list of institutions with a TEF award for 2018-19 has been published on HEFCE’s 


website at www.hefce.ac.uk/tefoutcomes/#/. 


15 Statutory Instrument 2004/1932. 


16 Statutory Instrument 2012/433. 


17 Certain students, such as those transferring or on ‘end-on’ courses, are treated differently and the details are 


set out in regulation 5 of the Higher Education (Higher Amount) (England) Regulations 2016 and regulation 5 


of the Higher Education (Basic Amount) (England) Regulations 2016. 



file://///hefce-trimstore.hefce.ac.uk/public/OfS%20RF%20implementation%20project/Bucket%203%20-%202018_19%20Transition/Terms%20and%20conditions%20of%20funding/www.hefce.ac.uk/tefoutcomes/
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institution for the final academic year of a course where that academic year is normally 


required to be completed after less than 15 weeks’ attendance. 


b. The basic amount is £920 for an eligible institution and £900 for any other institution and 


the higher amount is £1,385 for an eligible institution and £1,350 for any other institution 


for: 


i. An Erasmus year18. 


ii. An academic year of a course provided in conjunction with an overseas institution 


which is not an Erasmus year: 


1) During which any periods of full-time study at the institution in the UK are in 


aggregate less than 10 weeks. 


Or 


2) If in respect of that academic year and any previous academic years of the 


course the aggregate of any one or more periods of attendance which are not 


periods of full-time study at the institution in the UK (disregarding intervening 


vacations) exceeds 30 weeks. 


c. The basic amount is £1,230 for an eligible institution and £1,200 for any other institution 


and the higher amount is £1,850 for an eligible institution and £1,800 for any other 


institution for an academic year of a sandwich course (which is not an Erasmus year): 


i. During which any periods of full-time study are in aggregate less than 10 weeks. 


Or 


ii. If in respect of that academic year and any previous academic years of the course 


the aggregate of any one or more periods of attendance which are not periods of 


full-time study at the institution (disregarding intervening vacations) exceeds 30 


weeks. 


10. For students starting part-time courses on or after 1 September 201219, for an academic 


year beginning on or after 1 August 2017, the prescribed amounts are subject to overall limits 


that are set out in regulation 8 of the Higher Education (Basic Amount) (England) Regulations 


2016 and regulation 8 of the Higher Education (Higher Amount) (England) Regulations 2016. 


For these courses, the basic amount is £4,625 for an eligible institution and £4,500 for any 


other institution and the higher amount is £6,935 for an eligible institution and £6,750 for any 


other institution. 


Financial requirements and penalties 


11. Where there is a failure to comply with the condition set out in paragraph 4.a above, the 


financial requirement in relation to fees charged which exceed the limit provided for in the plan 


but do not exceed the higher amount, will be that imposed in accordance with section 37(1)(a) 


                                                
18 ‘Erasmus year’ is defined in Regulation 4 of Statutory Instrument 2013/1728, which amends the definition 


given in the Education (Student Support) Regulations 2011 (Statutory Instrument 2011/1986). 


19 Certain students, such as those transferring or on ‘end-on’ courses, are treated differently and the details are 


set out in Regulation 5 of the Higher Education (Higher Amount) (England) Regulations 2016 and Regulation 


5 of the Higher Education (Basic Amount) (England) Regulations 2016. 
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of the Higher Education Act 2004 and the Student Fees (Approved Plans) (England) Regulation 


200420 (‘the Approved Plans Regulations’).  


12. Where there is a failure to comply with the condition set out in paragraph 4.b above, the 


financial requirement will be that imposed in accordance with section 37(1)(a) of the Higher 


Education Act 2004 and the Approved Plans Regulations. 


13. Where there is a failure to comply with the condition set out in paragraph 4.a above, and the 


fees charged exceed the higher amount as well as the amount provided for in the plan, the 


financial requirement will be that imposed under paragraph 11 and, in addition, the amount 


determined by the OfS in accordance with the following principles:  


a. An amount of the teaching grant from the OfS which in the opinion of the OfS equals 110 


per cent of the amount each student on a course has been charged in excess of the 


relevant higher amount, multiplied by the number of students the OfS believes to have 


been overcharged.  


b. That the amount determined under sub-paragraph a will be repaid by the institution to the 


OfS, or withheld from grant, and retained until the institution has satisfied the OfS that 


reasonable efforts have been made to repay the amount charged in excess of the higher 


amount, either to every qualifying person overcharged, or to the Student Loans 


Company, as the case may be. Once the OfS is so satisfied by a date it determines, the 


amount retained by the OfS, or a proportion of that amount, will be repaid or given in 


grant to the institution.  


c. The following further principles also apply:  


i. Where it appears to the OfS that an institution does not intend to comply with the 


higher amount fee cap, an amount up to the maximum of the total teaching grant 


from the OfS for the relevant academic year and any future grant period may be 


withheld from grant.  


ii. Where it appears to the OfS that a breach of the higher amount fee cap is minor or 


accidental there will be no financial penalty additional to that set out in sub-


paragraphs a and b, and  


iii. In any other circumstances, an amount in the current grant period which the OfS 


considers appropriate in view of the severity of the failure to comply with the higher 


amount fee cap, up to a maximum of £500,000 less any amount already imposed 


by the OfS under paragraph 11, to be repaid by the institution to the OfS or withheld 


from grant. 


d. An amount determined under sub-paragraph c will not exceed in any grant period the 


total amount received from the OfS in that grant period, less any amount withheld under 


sub-paragraphs a and b and the amount of any financial requirement imposed under 


paragraphs 11 or 12. An amount determined under sub-paragraph c will not be paid or 


repaid to the institution.  


                                                
20 Statutory Instrument 2004/2473, as amended, at the time of writing, by Statutory Instruments 2012/433 and 


2012/765. 
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14. Where there is a failure to comply with the condition under paragraph 4.c, the financial 


requirement will be the amount determined by the OfS in accordance with the following 


principles:  


a. An amount of the teaching grant from the OfS which in the opinion of the OfS equals 110 


per cent of the amount each student on a course has been charged in excess of the basic 


amount, multiplied by the number of students the OfS believes to have been 


overcharged.  


b. That the amount determined under sub-paragraph a will be repaid by the institution to the 


OfS or withheld from grant, and retained until the institution has satisfied the OfS that 


reasonable efforts have been made to repay the amount charged in excess of the basic 


amount, either to every qualifying person overcharged, or to the Student Loans 


Company, as the case may be. Once the OfS is so satisfied by a date it determines, the 


amount retained, or a proportion of that amount, will be returned or given in grant to the 


institution.  


c. The following further principles also apply:  


i. Where it appears to the OfS that an institution does not intend to comply with the 


basic amount fee cap, an amount up to the maximum of the total teaching grant 


from the OfS for the relevant academic year and any future grant period may be 


withheld from grant.  


ii. Where it appears to the OfS that a breach of the basic amount fee cap is minor or 


accidental there will be no financial penalty additional to that set out in sub-


paragraphs a and b, and  


iii. In any other circumstances, an amount in the current grant period which the OfS 


considers appropriate in view of the severity of the failure to comply with the basic 


amount fee cap, up to a maximum of £500,000, to be repaid by the institution to the 


OfS or withheld from grant.  


d. An amount determined under sub-paragraph c will not exceed in any grant period the 


total amount received from the OfS in that grant period, less any amount withheld under 


sub-paragraphs a and b. An amount determined under sub-paragraph c will not be paid 


or repaid to the institution.  
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Annex C: Audit Code of Practice 


Overview 


1. In this Audit Code of Practice (the Code) the word ‘must’ denotes a mandatory requirement 


under the terms and conditions of funding, whereas ‘should’ denotes our view of good practice.  


2. The Code sets out what we require higher education institutions (HEIs) to have in place to 


provide themselves and us with adequate assurance on good governance, internal controls, the 


management of risk and achieving value for money (VFM). How these requirements are met is 


for HEIs to decide themselves. 


Governing bodies of HEIs 


3. The responsibilities of governing bodies are set out at paragraph 22 of the terms and conditions 


of OfS funding and paragraph 21 of the terms and conditions of UKRI funding relating to funds 


administered through Research England. Governing bodies are responsible for the 


appointment and removal of external and internal auditors. Governing bodies are also 


responsible for appointing outsourced internal audit providers, on the advice of the Audit 


Committee, and for choosing to move between outsourced and insourced internal audit 


provision, also after taking advice from the Audit Committee. Staff appointments and 


terminations for insourced internal audit staff are a matter for management, with the Audit 


Committee advising on the appointment and termination of the Head of Internal Audit.  


Audit committees in HEIs 


4. Each HEI must have an audit committee which follows best practice in higher education 


corporate governance. The audit committee is responsible for assuring the governing body 


about the adequacy and effectiveness of: 


 risk management, control and governance 


 VFM 


 the management and quality assurance of data. 


5. The Committee of University Chairs has published detailed guidance about audit committees 


(‘Handbook for members of audit committees in higher education institutions’, HEFCE 


2008/0621). This reflects best governance practice, and the Office for Students (OfS) and 


Research England expect HEIs to take account of such guidance in meeting the required 


standards or explain why the guidance is not being applied and good practice is not being 


followed.  


6. An audit committee can undertake whatever work22 it considers necessary to fulfil its role. This 


should include assuring itself about the effectiveness of its internal audit function and its 


external auditors. Audit committees will only be able to provide the necessary assurances if 


they are supported by suitably resourced internal audit and external audit functions, operating 


                                                
21 Available at 


http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120118181328/http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/hefce/2008/08_06/. 


22 As described in HEFCE 2008/06.  
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to recognised professional standards. They should also consider evidence-based assurances 


from management. 


7. Members of the audit committee must not have executive authority. Audit committees should 


include a minimum of three lay members of the governing body. Audit committee members 


should not be members of an HEI’s finance committee or its equivalent. This is because it 


would create a potential conflict of interest when the audit committee is considering issues 


involving the finance committee. If an HEI’s governing body determines that cross-


representation involving one member is essential, this should be the subject of an explicit, 


recorded resolution, which sets out the rationale for such a decision – but it should not be an 


option for the chair of either committee or the chair of the governing body. 


8. The committee must produce an annual report for the governing body and the accountable 


officer. The report must cover the financial year and include any significant issues up to the 


date of signing the report and its consideration of the financial statements for the year. The 


report must be presented to and reviewed by the governing body before the audited financial 


statements are signed.  


9. The report must include the committee’s opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 


HEI’s arrangements for: 


 risk management, control and governance 


 economy, efficiency and effectiveness (VFM) 


 management and quality assurance of data submitted to the Higher Education Statistics 


Agency, the Student Loans Company, HEFCE, the OfS, Research England and other 


bodies. 


10. The final annual report to the governing body and the accountable officer must be shared with 


the OfS each year, and, on request, with Research England. 


Internal audit arrangements in HEIs 


11. Internal audit is a vital element in good corporate governance since it provides governing 


bodies, audit committees and accountable officers with independent assurance about the 


adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance, and VFM. 


12. Consequently each HEI must have a suitably resourced internal audit function which must 


comply with the professional standards of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. Internal 


audit terms of reference must make clear that its scope encompasses all the HEI’s activities, 


the whole of its risk management, control and governance, and any aspect of VFM delivery. 


13. The internal audit service must produce an annual report which must relate to the financial year 


and include any significant issues, up to the date of preparing the report, which affect the 


opinions. It must be addressed to the governing body and the accountable officer and must be 


considered by the audit committee.  


14. The report must include the internal auditor’s opinions on the adequacy and effectiveness of 


the HEI’s arrangements for: 


 risk management, control and governance 


 economy, efficiency and effectiveness (VFM). 


15. The final annual report to the governing body must be shared with the OfS each year, and, on 


request, with Research England. 
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16. The head of internal audit must have direct access to the HEI’s accountable officer, the chair of 


the audit committee and, if necessary, the chair of the governing body.  


17. Where internal audit is provided from an outside source, market testing should be undertaken 


at least every five years. 


External audit arrangements in HEIs 


18. External audit must provide an opinion to the governing body on whether funds (including 


public funds) have been applied for the intended purposes and on whether the financial 


statements provide a true and fair view of the financial results for the year. External audit must 


also form a view about whether an HEI is a going concern. External auditors of HEIs do not 


have a duty of care to the OfS and Research England.  


19. HEIs may ask external auditors to provide additional services. The audit committee must agree 


all significant matters with a bearing on the auditor’s objectivity and independence. Additional 


work must not impair the independence of the external audit opinion. 


20. HEIs must disclose separately, by way of a note to the financial statements, the fees paid to 


their external auditors for other services.  


21. External auditors must issue a report (or reports, if more than one, covering different stages of 


the annual audit) to those charged with governance, which records accounting issues and 


control deficiencies arising from the audit. The OfS and Research England would expect any 


issues around the use of charitable assets for non-charitable purposes to be highlighted in such 


reports. The HEI’s management must provide written responses to any recommendations 


made or issues raised. The report(s), including management response, are one of the annual 


accountability returns which must be submitted to the OfS.  


22. The report(s), with management responses, must be made available to the HEI’s audit 


committee in time to inform the committee’s annual report.  


Audit report 


23. The external auditors must report whether in all material respects: 


a. The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the HEI’s affairs, and of 


its income and expenditure, gains and losses, changes in reserves and cash flows for the year. 


They should take into account relevant statutory and other mandatory disclosure and 


accounting requirements, and OfS and Research England requirements.  


b. The financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the financial 


reporting standards (FRS102) and the ‘Statement of recommended practice: Accounting for 


further and higher education’, and relevant legislation.  


c. Funds from whatever source administered by the HEI for specific purposes have been 


properly applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with relevant legislation. 


d. Funds provided by the OfS and Research England have been applied in accordance with 


these terms and conditions and any other terms and conditions attached to them.  


e. The requirements of the OfS’s accounts direction have been met.  


24. Auditors should have regard to the specific requirements of the terms and conditions such as 


compliance with those relating to increases in financial commitments thresholds, or other 
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issues of non-compliance, in their management letters or reports, as set out in paragraph 23 


above. 


25. Market testing should be undertaken at least every seven years. One named individual partner 


in the firm is normally responsible for the HEI’s audit; they should not hold this position for more 


than 10 consecutive years. 


OfS and Research England access to auditors 


26. The OfS and Research England may wish to communicate with an HEI’s external or internal 


auditors, particularly in connection with an assurance review (until July 2018) or an 


accountability and governance review (from 1 August 2018 until 31 July 2019) and should have 


unrestricted access to do so. This will normally be arranged through the HEI’s accountable 


officer or representative. The OfS and Research England will exchange letters where 


necessary with both parties to deal with confidentiality and the terms under which access is 


given. 


Provision of audit services 


27. Internal and external audit services must not be provided by the same firm or provider. 


Auditors’ access to information 


28. Internal and external auditors must have unrestricted access to information – including all 


records, assets, personnel and premises – and be authorised to obtain whatever information 


and explanations the head of internal audit service or the external auditor considers necessary. 


Restriction on auditors’ liability 


29. Where the internal audit service is provided through a contractual arrangement with an external 


provider, the provider may ask the HEI to agree to a restriction in the internal auditors’ liability 


arising from any default by the auditors. Normally such liability should be without limit. 


However, HEIs may negotiate a restriction in liability so long as the decision is made on an 


informed basis and the liability remains at such a level as to provide reasonable recourse for 


the HEI. The governing body, through the audit committee, must be specifically notified of any 


request for a liability restriction. 


30. HEIs must not agree to any restriction in external auditors’ liability in respect of the external 


audit of their annual financial statements. 


31. For other types of work performed by the external auditors, the provider may ask the HEI to 


agree to a restriction in the auditors’ liability arising from any default by the auditors. However, 


as with internal audit services, HEIs may negotiate a restriction in liability if the decision is 


made on an informed basis and the liability remains at such a level as to provide reasonable 


recourse to the HEI. The governing body, through the audit committee, should be notified of 


any liability restriction agreed.  


Appointment, removal or resignation of internal and external auditors 


32. Governing bodies are responsible for the appointment and removal of external and internal 


auditors. Where auditors cease to hold office for any reason, they should provide the governing 


body with either a statement of any circumstances connected with their removal which they 


consider should be brought to the governing body’s attention, or a statement that there are no 







31 


such circumstances. Any such statements must also be sent to the OfS by the accountable 


officer.  
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Annex D: Approval of increases in financial 
commitments 


Introduction 


1. A higher education institution (HEI) must get prior written approval from the Office for Students 


(OfS) to increase its financial commitments before it agrees to any new financial commitment 


meeting either of the following criteria: 


a. The OfS has informed the HEI that it is considered to be ‘at higher risk’ or 


b. The OfS has informed the HEI that it wishes to engage with it on the basis of ‘focused 


dialogue’. 


2. If an HEI does not meet the criteria above it will not need to seek the OfS’s approval before it 


increases its financial commitments. It will, however, need to have included any planned future 


borrowing in its financial forecasts submitted to the Higher Education Funding Council for 


England (HEFCE) or to the OfS. If an HEI has not previously included an increase in financial 


commitments in its submitted forecasts it must report material changes in its financial 


performance and position relative to its submitted forecasts. It is likely that significant increases 


to an HEI’s financial commitments will trigger this reporting requirement and it will be required 


to provide detailed information about its new financial commitments as part of that reporting. 


This will allow the OfS to: 


a. Consider the impact of this borrowing on the HEI’s financial sustainability. 


b. Decide whether the HEI’s risk status, or the level of engagement that the OfS has with 


the HEI, should be changed. 


c. Ask the HEI to develop an action plan to mitigate increased risk if the OfS decides to 


increase the HEI’s risk status or level of engagement. This will provide the OfS with a 


similar level of assurance to that gained by HEFCE through the conditions it imposed 


through its financial commitment approval process. 


Definitions 


Financial commitment 


3. Financial commitments should be defined as those that are on balance sheet, in accordance 


with accounting standards.  


4. Financial commitments include: 


 all financial commitments, whether self-financing or not, drawn or undrawn 


 finance leases 


 service concession arrangements 


 Private Finance Initiative arrangements which are accounted for as loans or finance leases in 


accordance with the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard 102 


 repayable grants, such as from the HEFCE Catalyst Fund.  


5. Pension fund liabilities, interest rate hedges (such as swaps) and all provisions should be 


excluded from financial commitments. 
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Our response 


6. We expect HEIs to include their financial commitments plans as far as possible in their annual 


financial forecasts submissions, to enable the OfS to review them at an early stage. Where the 


OfS approves the application for higher financial commitments, it will write to the HEI setting out 


the revised commitment level. As part of this approval it may set out additional conditions which 


will need to be adhered to.  


Information required 


7. All applications for higher financial commitments must be signed by the accountable officer. 


In signing the application, the accountable officer is confirming that the institution’s governing 


body has reviewed the terms and conditions of the financial commitment providing assurance 


over value for money, and has reviewed affordability and compliance with banking covenants 


under different scenarios (meaning that the proposed financial commitments have been stress 


tested). In addition we ask for confirmation that the student interest has been considered in any 


application. 


8. We set out in Table 1 the information we require to consider a request for an increase in 


financial commitments. This addresses the issues on which we would expect the institution’s 


own governing body to seek assurance before approving additional financial commitments. The 


main focus is on affordability and risk, not necessarily on the individual project.  


Table 1: Information required by the OfS to consider a request to increase financial 
commitments  


Financial commitments 


1. There should be a reasonable case for the new investment. 


Information required: 


a. A brief description of the new investment. 


b. An explanation of how it broadly fits with the institution’s mission and 


strategic priorities. 


c. Confirmation that the institution has considered appropriate guidance on 


appraising investment decisions. 


A description of how the student interest will be taken into account. 


2. The new financial commitments or refinancing arrangement (where these will 
result in an increase to financial commitments) should be consistent with the 
institution’s financial strategy and represent good value for money. 


Information required: 


a. An explanation of why additional finance or refinancing is necessary and 


how this fits with the financial strategy. 


b. The forms of finance considered and the selection process and criteria. 


The net present value for each financing option, and a brief explanation of why the 
chosen method was selected. 
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Financial commitments 


3. Details of the new financial commitments. 


Information required: 


a. Details of the chosen option, including name of lender, value of new 


financial commitment, repayment period, basis of repayment and financial 


covenants. 


Terms and conditions of the financing (such as a copy of the offer letter) and an 
evaluation of the risks and uncertainties. 


4. The new investment and financial commitments must be affordable. 


Information required: 


An update of the latest financial forecasts, to include the impact of the new investment 
and financial commitments, and demonstration that they are affordable. This update 
must include any other material changes in the institution’s financial prospects, 
including guarantees to third parties. 


5. The institution’s governing body must have made an informed decision about 
the new investment and financial commitments. 


Information required: 


a. Details of when the governing body approved the new investment and 


financial commitments, and a minute of the decision reached. 


A summary of the information the governing body received in reaching its decision. 


6. Details of the new commitment level. 


Information required: 


a. Details of existing financial commitments (including the lender, terms, 


interest rate and financial covenants) and of the new financial commitments. 


A calculation of the new commitment level required. 


1. There should be a reasonable case for the new investment. 


Information required: 


a. A brief description of the new investment. 


b. An explanation of how it broadly fits with the institution’s mission and 


strategic priorities. 


c. Confirmation that the institution has considered appropriate guidance on 


appraising investment decisions. 


A description of how the student interest will be taken into account. 
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Annex E: Related undertakings 


1. ‘Institution’ means the institution including its related undertakings, as defined in paragraphs 2 


and 3, unless such undertakings: 


a. Are subject to a separate funding agreement directly with the OfS. 


b. Are subject to separate terms and conditions of UKRI funding in relation to funds 


administered by Research England. 


c. Have been designated by the Secretary of State as institutions in the further education 


sector which have their own contract with the Education and Skills Funding Agency or  


d. Are schools as defined by section 4 of the Education Act 1996 or multi-academy trusts.  


2. An ‘undertaking’ includes a body corporate, a partnership, an unincorporated association or a 


trust. An undertaking will normally be regarded as a related undertaking of the institution if any 


of the following apply: 


a. The institution controls that undertaking. 


b. The institution and another undertaking or other undertakings related to the institution 


together control that undertaking. 


c. Another undertaking or other undertakings related to the institution control that 


undertaking. 


d. That undertaking is recognised by the OfS and Research England as a ‘connected 


institution’, as defined by section 27 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998. 


e. We consider that the sole purpose, or one of the main purposes, of registering students 


at that undertaking is to avoid or minimise regulation by the OfS and Research England, 


to optimise funding or to manipulate data for regulatory or other purposes. 


f. We consider that the undertaking was established by or is operated for the primary 


benefit of the institution. 


3. The OfS and Research England may, at their discretion, decide to treat a related undertaking 


as a separate institution for funding, regulatory and other purposes if they consider that the 


undertaking has a separate historic identity from its parent institution.  


4. For the purpose of paragraph 2, an undertaking is under the ‘control’ of another if any of the 


following apply23: 


a. That other holds or is entitled to acquire a majority of the shares in the undertaking. 


b. That other holds or is entitled to acquire a majority of the voting rights in the undertaking. 


c. That other has or is entitled to acquire the right to appoint or remove a majority of the 


board of directors or other governing body of the undertaking. 


d. That other has or is entitled to acquire the right to exercise dominant influence over the 


undertaking by virtue of provisions contained in the undertaking’s articles of association 


                                                
23 The expressions ‘voting rights in an undertaking’, ‘right to appoint or remove a majority of the directors’, ‘right 


to exercise a dominant influence’ and ‘control contract’ have the meanings given in schedule 7 to the 


Companies Act 2006. 
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or any other constitution, control contract, memorandum of understanding or other 


document regulating the undertaking or any other undertaking. 


e. That other has or is entitled to acquire the right to a share of more than half the assets in 


the event of a winding up or in any other circumstances, or of more than half the income, 


of the undertaking. 


f. Both are in common or overlapping ownership or are managed on a uniform basis or 


have a significant number of directors (or equivalent) or senior management in common. 


g. That other has or is entitled to acquire the power, by any other means, to secure that the 


affairs of the undertaking are conducted in accordance with its wishes, or the undertaking 


is habitually conducted in accordance with the wishes of the other. 


5. Where a school (as defined in paragraph 1) or multi-academy trust is under the control of the 


institution and delivers higher education, the expectation is that higher education students 


would be reported through the institution, but students not studying at higher education level in 


school would be excluded. 


6. Where a student union is under the control of the institution, it is excluded from the definition of 


related undertakings, except where it delivers higher education. 
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Annex F: Definitions and abbreviations 


Accountable 


officer 


A senior officer (normally the head) of an institution responsible and 


accountable to the OfS and Research England (and ultimately to 


Parliament) for ensuring that the institution uses OfS and Research 


England funds in ways that are consistent with the purposes for which 


those funds were given, and complies with the conditions attached to 


them. These include the conditions set out in the Further and Higher 


Education Act 1992 and in these terms and conditions. 


Accounting 


officer (of the 


OfS) 


As accounting officer, the chief executive of the OfS has a personal 


responsibility to safeguard public funds and achieve value for money as 


set out in HM Treasury guidance, ‘Managing public money’, and any 


subsequent guidance. This includes responsibility for the public funds 


allocated by the OfS to higher and further education institutions and other 


bodies for education and associated purposes. 


Accounts 


direction 


The OfS publishes an accounts direction, which states the OfS’s and 


Research England’s financial reporting requirements. HEIs and their 


external auditors must comply with it. 


Annual 


accountability 


return  


A streamlined accountability process between the OfS and institutions, 


linked to an assessment of institutional risk, which comprises an 


exchange of documents and dialogue during a specific period each year. 


ESFA Education and Skills Funding Agency 


FRS Financial Reporting Standards 


Governing 


body 


The university council, board of governors or other body ultimately 


responsible for the management and administration of the institution’s 


revenue and property, and the conduct of its affairs. 


HEFCE Higher Education Funding Council for England 


HEI Higher education institution 


HERA Higher Education and Research Act 2017 


HESA Higher Education Statistics Agency 


JANET High-speed computer network supported by all the four higher and further 


education funding bodies, which links universities and colleges in the UK. 


SuperJANET is the enhanced network. 


MDS Medical and Dental Students survey 


OfS Office for Students 


Regularity Regularity is a public finance requirement for funds to be applied only to 


the extent and for the purposes authorised by Parliament. 


Research 


England 


The Research England committee of UKRI. References to Research 


England in these terms and conditions relate to UKRI functions that are 


exercised by its Research England committee under Section 97 of the 


Higher Education and Research Act 2017, but should be read as 


including UKRI, which retains responsibility for those functions. 
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Secretary of 


State 


Secretary of State for Education 


SORP Statement of Recommended Practice 


TRAC Transparent Approach to Costing 


the Code HEFCE’s Audit Code of Practice 


UKRI United Kingdom Research and Innovation 


VFM Value for money 


References to the financial position, financial statements, financial commitments or 


borrowings of the institution mean the consolidated financial position, financial statements, 


financial commitments or borrowing of the institution and its subsidiary undertakings, as defined 


in the Companies Act 1985 and revised by the Companies Act 1989 and 2006, and in 


accordance with the financial reporting standards. 


Shall and must denote mandatory requirements, and should denotes our view of good 


practice. 
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Our Chair
This year has been another year during which I have 
been proud of Falmouth University’s achievements and 
eagerly look forward to seeing the impact of our bold 
decision-making further into the future.


It is a fascinating and rewarding time in which to 
be engaged in the leadership of a Higher Education 
institution while the sector undergoes a period of 
change and the wider social and political landscape 
presents challenges, as well as opportunities, to deliver 
real benefits to our students, community and society.


Following the enacting into law of the Higher Education 
and Research Act in April 2017, the Office for Students, 
our new regulatory body, began operation in April 2018; 
shaping our thinking about student value for money, 
teaching and research. 


Increased competition among institutions, combined 
with falling demographics, has presented challenges 
in terms of student recruitment and intensifying cost 
pressures, particularly pensions liabilities, have required 
re-evaluations and creative solution-finding.


I am pleased to be able to report, in this document, that 
notwithstanding these testing circumstances, Falmouth 
is flourishing. We have welcomed more students than 
ever before onto our world-class campuses, we’ve 
increased our income and our surplus, which means we 
have been able to invest in our people and our facilities.


We are awaiting the Government’s review of post-18 
education and funding, but we can be sure that the 
public and political debate around value for money and 
education funding will continue to intensify. However, 
we remain committed to delivering the best possible 
student experience in terms of teaching, resources and 
overall satisfaction, while also widening participation.


Likewise, as we anticipate the impact of Brexit, both 
on Higher Education, Cornwall and the country, 
Falmouth continues to make a strategic contribution to 
the development of the local economy, working with 
partners to develop knowledge capital, create jobs and 
foster business innovation.


Chris Pomfret OBE
Chair of the Board of Governors


Falmouth University
Report of the governing body
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We have welcomed more students than ever before 
onto our world-class campuses, we’ve increased our 
income and our surplus, which means we have been 


able to invest in our people and our facilities.


Our Chair Chris Pomfret pictured at  
the Student Mentor Awards 2018 with 
Chancellor Dawn French ©Laura Bailey
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Our Vice-Chancellor
This year, I was delighted to launch our 2030 Strategic 
Plan. Defining our approach and ambition, our vision 
for the future is founded in a commitment to fostering 
open innovation, developing a future-focussed 
academic portfolio and producing satisfied staff, 
researchers and students. 


Working hand-in-hand with regional strategic partners 
and our global network of industry leaders, we will 
deliver new thinking, ideas, products and services that 
have real impact for individuals, economies and societies.


Falmouth’s specialisms of creativity and innovation 
have never been more relevant and our responsibility 
to support economic growth through education, never 
more important.


As we consider the implications of the fourth industrial 
revolution; as technology provides great opportunities 
as well as challenges, it’s clear that creative innovation; 
creative thinking, problem solving, communication and 
storytelling, will be key to future economic and cultural 
success both at a local and global level.


This year saw the graduation of our first full cohort of 
Launchpad students. This ground-breaking programme 
embodies how Falmouth is attracting and retaining talent, 
fostering enterprise and supporting high-tech innovation 
and generating inward investment, all in partnership with 
local strategic partners and global industry. 


I am delighted that this year we continued to strengthen 
our relationship with Cornwall Council and deepened 
our efforts to help grow Cornwall, as we explored 
opportunities to widen the benefits of Falmouth’s 
activity through projects across the region.


Of course, our achievements as an anchor institution 
and innovation hub are contingent on our success 
as a Higher Education institution and therefore the 
satisfaction of our student body and our ability to 
recruit future students. 


Last year we were delighted to be ranked as TEF 
Gold and this is something we are very proud to 
retain. However, it was disappointing that Falmouth’s 
NSS score dropped this year and the result showed 
that we cannot afford to be complacent; there is 
more to do in ensuring that our students feel that all 
aspects of their university experience delivered to 
and beyond their expectations.


Increased competition among providers and falling 
demographics made for a challenging recruitment 
environment this year, however our enrolment figures 
for 2017/18 were robust and our courses delivered 
through collaborative provision online and with industry 
partners are going from strength to strength.


Looking forward, and with regard to our ambitious 2030 
targets, we recognise that these challenges remain and 
that we must therefore take steps to continue investing 
in our offering, diversify our income streams and 
acknowledge lower surpluses in the short-term. 


Seeing the raw talent on our campuses, witnessing the 
bold-thinking and brilliant transdisciplinary working, I 
am, as always, proud of our achievements this year and 
looking forward to the year ahead.


Professor Anne Carlisle 
Vice-Chancellor 5Our Vice-Chancellor Professor 


Anne Carlisle ©Matt Jessop


Seeing the raw talent on our campuses, witnessing 
the bold-thinking and brilliant transdisciplinary 


working, I am, as always, proud of our achievements 
this year and looking forward to the year ahead.
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September
Falmouth’s post-graduate business incubation and 
acceleration programme, Launchpad, welcomed 
its first full cohort of students


December
Working in partnership with Porthcurno 
Museum, academics from Falmouth developed 
a prototype for an immersive visitor experience 
by leveraging novel mixed reality technologies.


January
Falmouth University is announced as a partner in 
the Creative Technologies Network; a £6.5 million 
project to expand the use of digital technologies 
throughout the region’s creative, health and 
manufacturing sectors.  


March
Falmouth was ranked 12th of 116 
UK Universities in the Times Higher 
Education Student Experience Survey.
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April
Falmouth won the Employability and 
Entrepreneurship award at The Guardian’s 
University Awards. The University’s 
Photography and Film student agency, MAYN, 
won the award, in recognition of the agency’s 
success in securing professional work for 
students, while they study.


June
June saw the launch 
of our 2030 Strategic 
Plan, an ambitious 
vision that sees 
Falmouth University 
Doing it for Real.


July
Opening up our world-class 
facilities for the first Workshops 
Festival was a celebration of the 
best of Falmouth’s resources, 
skilled technicians and an 
opportunity for students to 
explore new creative avenues. 


March
Falmouth took the Launchpad 
programme to Hong Kong, one 
of only four universities chosen 
by the government to take part in 
the Department for International 
Trade’s GREAT Britain festival. 


WORK
SHOP


IVAL
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Our position
Falmouth University has a history of more than 100 
years of creative thinking and design innovation. 
 
Today, its portfolio of undergraduate and 
postgraduate courses represents the breadth of 
the Creative Industries, the fastest growing sector 
in the UK economy.  


The University has recently experienced a 
period of rapid growth, its on-campus student 
population tripling in size since 2001 to over 5300 
students today. 


As well as the courses that are delivered on-
campus in Cornwall, Falmouth also provides 
ground-breaking online distance learning and 
exciting partnerships with industry-leading bodies 
including the Academy of Contemporary Music 
and the Fashion Retail Academy in London. 


Thanks to significant investment, Falmouth’s 
facilities are gold-standard and our industry-
connected staff are respected and experienced 
professionals in their fields.
 
Falmouth’s research programmes are built on the 
principle of open innovation - the idea that the 
grand challenges of our age can be addressed 
most effectively when tackled collaboratively 
across disciplinary boundaries. They focus on 
delivering impact for lives and economies through 
the development of new knowledge, solutions, 
services and products. 
 
Falmouth University acts as an anchor institution 
in Cornwall, partnering with public and private 
sector organisations to support the county’s 
economic, skills and enterprise agendas. 


5,315 
on-campus  
students enrolled
694 
off-campus 
enrolments
433 staff 
96.1%  
graduate 
employability
92.7%  
student retention
80%  
student satisfaction Falmouth University acts as an anchor institution in 


Cornwall, partnering with public and private sector 
organisations to support the county’s economic, 


skills and enterprise agendas.







10 11


On-campus  
student recruitment
Our on-campus community is at the heart of what 
we do and we are working hard to maintain and 
develop our undergraduate student numbers.


As at the HEFCE census date for intake data, 
9 October 2017, we had enrolled 1,818 new, 
undergraduate students and 118 new, postgraduate 
students on campus. This compares to 1,941 and 139 
respectively at the same point the previous year.


These figures represented a 6% fall in on-campus 
undergraduate recruitment, contrasting with two 
previous cycles of double-digit growth.


Our EU and international recruitment remained 
stable, with 171 EU enrolments and 92 International, 
against 171 and 100 respectively at the same point 
the previous year.


We recognise the challenges in an increasingly 
competitive market, the consequences of a falling 
demographic, as well as a slowdown in art and design 
at FE level. The prospect of Brexit also presents as yet 
unknown difficulties for EU recruitment in the future. 


For that reason, we are investing in our Market 
Intelligence capability, expanding our network of 
international agents, developing our course portfolio, 
and diversifying our provision into new markets, 
delivering an authentically creative, compelling, 
Falmouth education in new ways, for new audiences. 


Flexible and  
Global recruitment
Falmouth Flexible, our online, global, part-time 
portfolio of courses is growing significantly. At 
the census date, there were 82 online enrolments 
via Falmouth Flexible, but this grew to a whole-
year figure of 159 after all three intakes had been 
accounted for.


We also welcomed 333 enrolments at key 
partners such as the Fashion Retail Academy and 
ACM London. We are delighted that education 
providers with such strong industry links and 
proven track records want to partner with us and 
to deliver exciting, industry-facing educational 
content under a Falmouth banner.


The strong recruitment to Falmouth Flexible and 
Falmouth Global is encouraging and vindicates 
our bold approach to diversification. As we look 
to the future, we are continuing to explore further 
innovative partnerships and products. 
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Our people


Failure to achieve enrolment growth 
targets through poor adaptation to 
changing market and customer demand


On-campus  
student recruitment


Actual Target


5315 5151


Students on  
partnership 
programmes


Actual Target 


694 899


R
IS


K
*


* These risks have been identified in  
the institution’s Strategic Risk Register 
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Fair access
The expansion of the University in the early 2000s 
was driven by the need to increase the provision of 
higher level skills in the County, and we retain our 
commitment to widening participation, and ensuring 
fair access to our University for people from Cornwall.


Our Access Agreement (2018-19) and Access and 
Participation Plan (2019-20), lodged with the Office for 
Students, commits Falmouth to £3.5m of investment 
per year in fair access, outreach, retention and student 
success projects. A key component of this agreement 
is the University’s Creative outreach programme: 
Discover, Believe, Achieve, an umbrella progression 
programme for talented and creative students who 
have the potential to go to university, and will benefit 
from the additional support to reach their full potential.


The programme is aimed at students in year groups 
9 – 13 and their parents, teachers and Career Advisors 
activities include a portfolio of workshops on academic 
subject-specific skills and careers and information and 
guidance delivered on Falmouth’s campuses or offsite 
at schools and colleges. 


Regional outreach programme (£5.5m HEFCE/OfS 
funded programme for 2017-2019)


Falmouth University is working in partnership with all 
other regional universities and HE providers through the 
National Collaborative Outreach Programme. 


We are a partner in the Next Steps South West 
consortium led by Plymouth University, covering target 
wards in Cornwall, Devon and Somerset, focussing 
on pupils in Years 9-13, identified as medium or 
high achievers, with low HE aspiration, and living in 
nominated postcodes. A diverse range of outreach 
projects are designed and delivered collaboratively by 
partners in the consortium, with robust evaluation of 
impact throughout.
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Student Retention 
Retention for the 2017/18 academic year was 92.7%, 
compared to 92.3% in the previous year.
This improvement is encouraging, but there is still work 
to be done.
 
Last year, Falmouth University initiated a ‘Retention 
Project’ to review issues affecting retention, in 
conjunction with participation in a sector-wide Higher 
Education Academy (HEA) Retention project.
 
Some quick-wins were identified and implemented and 
the impact of these can be seen in this year’s results.
 
Between June and August 2017, Student Mentors 
made 2,931 phone calls to returning students, with 565 
answered calls. 89 students were referred on to one or 
more Student Support teams.


A brand new ‘Refreshers guide’ was produced and 
distributed at the beginning of the academic year to re-
orientate and remind returning students of the range of 
support services available.
 
In October, the Student Information Portal was 
launched, enabling academic staff across the institution 
to access all information relating to the academic 
progress of an individual student or cohort of students 
(at course or module level) in one place.


 


The Workshops Festival was launched in January to 
ensure that the student experience during Assessment 
and Feedback weeks is optimised and we are using all 
our facilities and technicians to the full, to enhance the 
student experience.
 
Longer-term projects include the introduction of a 
University-wide digital Attendance Monitoring system, 
which will facilitate supportive Learner Analytics and 
the ability to act upon non-engagement as well as non-
attendance.
 
The University is also developing its understanding 
of the positive effects of Student Union Clubs and 
Societies and the strong correlation between club and 
society membership and improved student retention. 


The removal of Wednesday afternoon teaching means 
that Student Union sports, clubs, volunteer activities 
and inter-mural opportunities will be more accessible 
to students next year. The launch of Open Workshops 
Wednesday also means that students have the weekly 
opportunity to access our world-class facilities, to 
broaden their skills and develop their personal practice.


Failure to manage student retention 
within the University’s targets


Student retention


Actual Target


93% 95%


R
IS


K
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The student experience
The student experience is the University’s  
utmost priority. 


From the teaching, learning and feedback, to the 
facilities and environment, accommodation options, 
student life and graduate outcomes, our students are 
investing in their on-campus experience as well as their 
prospects beyond graduation.


This year’s National Student Survey (NSS) results were 
a mixed picture, with a drop in the overall satisfaction 
measure from 83% to 80% (against a sector average 
of 83%), but there were stronger scores on the 
teaching-related questions which inform the Teaching 
Excellence Framework.


While disappointing, these results provide an important 
opportunity to consider our approach to the enhancement 
of the student experience and inform new measures to 
drive improvements in our future performance.  


We were pleased that in the Times Higher Education’s 
high profile National Student Survey, Falmouth was 
ranked 12th of 116 UK Universities. We were positioned 
6th for student welfare, 10th for Industry connections, 
17th for safest universities, 19th for facilities and 22nd 
for student social life.


We are proud that Falmouth University’s graduate 
employability figures have risen this year. The 
Destinations of Leavers in Higher Education Survey 
(DLHE) shows that 96.1% of our graduates are 
in employment or further study, representing a 
2.1% increase from last year and 1.9% above our 
benchmark figure.


Of those employed, 78.7% are in professional/
managerial level employment, a 4.4% increase on 
the previous year.
 
Furthermore, of those employed:  24.5% are self-
employed, freelance or starting up their own business.


Failure to deliver a high-quality student 
experience across the University


Failure to deliver high levels of student 
employability and employer engagement


NSS results


Actual Target


80% 90%
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Student wellbeing
At a time when student mental health and wellbeing is 
a matter of high profile concern on campuses across 
the country, Falmouth University, through our Student 
Support team and academic colleagues, are working 
hard to provide an environment where our students feel 
safe, secure and supported.


Falmouth University’s Student Support services 
are delivered by FX Plus. This year, like all other UK 
universities, they reported seeing an increase in  
demand for wellbeing support.


The University’s leadership recognises that the institution 
has a duty of care to support its students’ wellbeing and 
is taking steps to ensure that its support services are 
meeting the needs of its campus community.


As well as broadening the range of support available, 
and investing in new resourcing by specialist staff, the 
University is treating mental health as a strategic priority 
and taking a ‘whole University’ approach.


Funding has been delivered for a broad staff training 
programme, new student resources such as peer 
support and self-help tools are being introduced and the 
academic curriculum is being scrutinised to ensure it 
supports student wellbeing.


Students’ Union activity
The Students’ Union, FXU (separate registered charity), 
represents students from Falmouth University and the 
University of Exeter (UoE), Cornwall Campus.


The Students’ Union provides over 150 sports clubs and 
societies giving our students a wealth of ways to enrich 
their social experience.


Last year, students raised a total of £79,551 for charity. 
Most of the fundraising was achieved by the Union’s 
Raise and Donate Society which organised challenges, 
events and campaigns, including marathons and 
sponsored skydives.


Students also donated over 27,647 hours of volunteering 
time to local, national and international causes.


The Students’ Union also provides advice and support 
and Student Voice representation, meaning that the 
student experience is understood and considered at 
every level of the University’s decision making.


R
IS


K


R
IS


K
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Our Staff
Our staff inspire our students with their own 
career success, which keeps them at the cutting 
edge of industry’s advances. Whether working for 
the BBC to broadcast the World Cup from Russia, 
publishing a debut novel or winning international 
photography awards, our colleagues’ expertise, 
experience and commitment to their field is 
invaluable to our vibrant, creative community.  


This year staff have also been working on ground-
breaking research projects that truly embody 
the ‘creative bridge’, delivering real impact and 
raising Falmouth University’s profile as a place for 
research and open innovation. 


To underpin our recognition and reward of 
their work, and to ensure that across teaching, 
innovation, research and professional services, 
our staff are supported in their roles, this year 
work commenced on the 2030 People Strategy, 
which will be published in December 2018.


We know that NSS scores are 5% higher for 
institutions where employees feel positive and 
engaged in their work. Therefore, we are also 
introducing a new Staff Opinion Survey to be 
implemented in November 2018 and the outcomes 
of this will help drive our activity in this area.


Failure to drive, and incentivise,  
high performance and innovative 
behaviours from staff
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This year staff have also been working on ground-
breaking research projects that truly embody the 


‘creative bridge’, delivering real impact and raising 
Falmouth University’s profile.


R
IS


K
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Equal Opportunities 
Our 2015-2020 Equality and Diversity strategy 
continues to guide this area of work within Falmouth 
University.  Falmouth University’s equality and diversity 
mission is articulated as:
“To support Falmouth in being a world class place to 
study and work, by providing an inclusive environment 
where there is equal opportunity for a diverse student 
and staff community to reach their full creative, 
academic and entrepreneurial potential”


The action plan to deliver this mission has been distilled 
into four specific equality objectives and Falmouth 
University publishes an annual Equality and Diversity 
report detailing progress against the components of this 
action plan. 


As part of this plan an Equality and Diversity dashboard 
has been created to monitor the core diversity metrics 
within the University.


Sex
The national average male / female split within higher 
education has changed slightly from 54.13% female and 
45.87% male in 2015/16, to 54.25% female and 45.75% 
male in the latest HESA figures from 2016/17. The 
dashboard illustrates that the Falmouth staff profile has 
had a more significant shift of the balance in favour of 
female staff, with the male / female split changing from 
49.31% female and 50.69% male at Falmouth in 2016/17, 
to 50.62% female and 49.38% male in 2017/18.


While these figures show a relatively even male / female 
split in Falmouth’s staff group, it should be noted that this 
balance is not so even when analysed across pay grades 
and occupational groups and further analysis and action 
planning is therefore being undertaken in this area.


Age
In the 2017 Equality and Diversity Annual Report, it was 
noted that Falmouth’s academic staff group had an older 
age profile than the national average for the same staff 
group, with less than half of the proportion of staff in 
the age ranges 25 and under and 26-35 than the national 
average for this staff group, and 23.69% of academic 


staff at or above the minimum retirement age of 55, with 
an additional 20.55% within 5 years of this age. 


The latest equality dashboard data illustrates that this 
position remains broadly unchanged, with the proportion 
of staff age 25 or under remaining static, and with only a 
slight increase in the 26-35 age group for academic staff.


Disability
The percentage of staff at Falmouth reporting a 
disability this year (5.47%) is greater than both the 
previous year (4.3%) and the national sector average 
(4.72%). This is because of a significant increase in the 
percentage of academic staff reporting a disability 
(6.12%) from last year (3.98%), while the figures for 
professional / support staff remain more stable with a 
0.5% decrease in the number reporting a disability. 


Ethnicity
Falmouth has a smaller proportion of staff from non-
white ethnic backgrounds (3.72%) than the national 
average for higher education (12.28%). However, this 
figure has increased from the previous year (3.30%), and 
is greater than the proportion in the local population with 
the 2011 census figures showing only 1.8% of Cornwall 
residents as being from a non-white ethnic background.


Sexual Orientation
Since 2015 Falmouth has been working to ensure that 
better quality data is held with regards to the sexual 
orientation of staff and this year 5.38% of staff indicated 
their sexual orientation as either lesbian, gay, bisexual 
(LGB) or other compared to 4.4% the previous year. This 
figure is significantly higher than the latest ONS 2016 
figures that show only 2% of the UK population over the 
age of 16 identify as LGB.


We also recognise the diversity amongst our student 
population with 13.4% of our enrolled undergraduate 
students indicating their sexual orientation as LGB or 
other and continue to work to ensure that we develop 
an inclusive environment for all staff and students that 
celebrates the diversity of our University community.


Pensions
Due to the ongoing cost of pensions and rising 
deficit contribution rates, the University Board 
carried out a review of the two main pension 
schemes, Teachers Pension Scheme and Cornwall 
Council Local Government Scheme; both of which 
offer defined benefits.
 
This review led to a consultation with the 
representative trade unions and a decision to close 
the LGPS scheme to new members which took effect 
from 1 November 2018.  Falmouth Staffing Limited was 
established in September 2018 and expects to employ 
its first staff from November.
 
Following announcements by the Government that 
the contribution rates for TPS are also likely to rise, 
the University will continue to closely monitor the 
situation during the current year.
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This year has been very positive in terms of  
Falmouth University’s research and innovation.


In January we welcomed eight new post-graduate 
research students.


In December, Professor Mike Rofe attended 
the annual Reimagine Education conference in 
Philadelphia, where the Online Orchestra won 
multiple awards; Gold in the Arts and Humanities 
category, Silver in the European projects category 
and Bronze in the ICT Tools for Learning and 
Teaching category.


Work also commenced on the Augmented 
Telegrapher project in December. Working in 
partnership with the Porthcurno Telegraph Museum, 
academics from Falmouth developed a prototype for 
an immersive visitor experience by leveraging novel 
mixed reality technologies. This was significant in 
supporting our ambition to adopt the creative bridge 
approach to research activity delivering impact in 
other sectors, including heritage.


In January Falmouth was named as one of the 
partners in a £6.5m project that will drive the 
growth of the creative economy in the South 
West. The South West Creative Technology 
Network brings together Universities and 
industrial partners, pooling their research and 
innovation expertise to develop cutting-edge 
practices, techniques and products in creative 
digital technologies. Falmouth will be focussing 
on developing our research into mixed reality 
technology, a key growth sector both for the UK 
and for Cornwall.


We were also delighted to receive funding from 
the Global Challenges Research Fund, Research 
England, for a three-year project which will 
develop an understanding of ways to empower 
women and girls in South Africa through creative 
entrepreneurialism, potentially in part through 
enhanced relationships with existing international 
research collaborations.


This year an RDAP & REF Task & Finish Group 
has been created to provide strategic guidance 
on the development of both the REF2021 return 
and Falmouth’s application for Research Degree 
Awarding Powers.


Our Research 
and Innovation


Failure to deliver the planned progress 
of Research & Innovation


Failure to achieve Research Degree 
Awarding Powers by 2020


23


In January Falmouth was named as one of the 
partners in a £6.5m project that will drive the growth 


of the creative economy in the South West.
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Launchpad
Launchpad is the University’s, post-graduate 
incubation and acceleration programme that 
links academic study with enterprise to create 
new digital businesses to meet identified market 
demand in just 12 months. Underpinned by an MA 
in Entrepreneurship, Launchpad places students 
into teams that build, develop and incorporate their 
own company in partnership with global businesses, 
supported by a network of academic staff, business 
coaches and industry mentors.


The programme will create 526 new jobs and 65 new 
companies in Cornwall within five years. 


This year, Launchpad teams responded to challenges 
from partners Amazon, Pendennis and BBC 
Worldwide to develop exciting new products and 
services. six companies incorporated at the end of 
the 12 months and are in the acceleration phase.


Through the Launchpad Incubator / Accelerator, 
Falmouth University has shareholdings in various  
start-up tech businesses which are shown in the 
accounts as Associate Companies and are reported 
at cost.  These investments are illiquid and in view of 
significant uncertainty of outcome it is not possible 
to calculate valuations as at 31 July 2018.  The only 
observable valuations that occur are when any of these 
Associate Companies issues new share capital.  In that 
instance the value of the University’s shareholding can 
be calculated as product of the share issue price and 
the number of shares held by Falmouth University.
 
In order to provide transparency on these Associate 
Companies the table opposite outlines those that 
issued new shares over the last financial year.   
The table also shows the issue price per share, 
Falmouth University shareholding in number of 
shares at 31 July 2018 and the product of these two.


Companies list  


Hertzian Limited
Burning Arrow Limited 
Cove Entertainment 
Limited 
Polygrammatic 
Limited
Relative Dimensions  
Studios Limited
Stormtide Limited
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Share issue price Number of shares held as at 31/07/18 Product


Hertzian Ltd £838.22 302 £253,142.44
Where an Associate Company has more than one 
round of share issuance over the year, only the most 
recent share issuance is issued for this table.
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Estate
We’re proud of our two campuses; the stunning 
grounds that offer opportunities for inspiration 
and recreation, and the outstanding facilities that 
provide our students and researchers with access 
to world-class equipment and spaces.


This year has seen further investment in our 
estate, in order to future-proof our teaching, 
research and innovation environment. In line with 
the Business Plan, overall investment levels of 
between 4% and 4.5% are required to maintain 
and enhance the facilities.


The programme of works over the year included 
the completion of infrastructure works at 
Penryn and construction of the new Launchpad 
and Bridge buildings.  The Launchpad building 
will house the MA Entrepreneurship course 
and Launchpad programme and is a dedicated 
facility for these students and business start-
ups.  The project secured 100% funding through 
a combination of grants from European ERDF 
Structural Funds and Cornwall Council and should 
open its doors in January 2019.


Our resources


Failure to optimise utilisation of 
the physical estate over the long 
term in line with the University’s 
growth plans through appropriate 
systems maintenance, modification, 
replacement and limited new build


Cost of  
space per sq.m.


Actual Target 


£130 £135
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We have welcomed more students than ever before 
onto our world-class campuses, we’ve increased our 
income and our surplus, which means we have been 


able to invest in our people and our facilities.
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This year also saw the move of the School of Writing 
and Journalism, back to its original home on Falmouth 
Campus. The move has provided a more efficient and 
flexible working environment that is better suited to the 
specific needs of SoWJ students and, now only a few 
minutes’ walk from Falmouth town, the location has 
brought them closer to the businesses, networking and 
news stories they need to access as part of their course.


Planning for the next stage of the Campus 2020 Plan 
has also proceeded, including funding approval, 
planning approval and procurement commenced for 
delivery during late 2019.


Information technology
This year there was a significant investment in the 
University’s website, which received a brand refresh 
and improvements to the user experience. Our key 
platform for student recruitment, it is essential that 
Falmouth University’s web presence reflects our values, 
showcases our cutting-edge course portfolio and 
facilitates engagement. 


Year 1 of the 3-year SITS Transformation Programme 
is now complete. This represents an investment in 
improving data quality, business processes, creating 
business efficiencies, productivity savings and 
improvements in the applicant and student experience 
for the Student Record System (SITS) and its users. It 
aims to get the best out of the software, utilising its full 
functionality to support business users, drive adoption, 
enhance experience and return productivity gains.    


Year 1 of delivery has seen vast improvements in data 
quality, improved education of users, business process 
efficiency through automation and removal of manual 
processes, the release of a new mobile responsive and 
rebranded online application form, applicant portal 
and online admissions office for faster turnaround of 
applications. Improving our data quality has allowed 
us to hit the first HESA submission gates ahead of 
schedule, with cleaner data and a significant drop in 
errors compared to last year.


Investment has also been made this year in a new 
cloud hosted instance of Moodle, our current VLE, to 
provide increased system resiliency, improved security 
and release standard functionality available within 
the new Linux infrastructure to support Learning & 
Teaching.  Content has been redeveloped for the 
new environment, with a brand new look and feel and 
updated navigation to support the students in their 
learning.  Feedback received so far has been positive 
from both staff and students in terms of experience 
and functionality.


In June 2018 the FX Plus Board agreed to a fundamental 
shift in resourcing from 2018/19 onwards, with an 
agreed uplift of revenue of circa £300k and a significant 
increase (circa 170%) in capital.


Mobilisation of works commenced during July and 
August 2018, with the first delivery being the successful 
upgrade of the Wi-Fi infrastructure at Tuke House 
(completed August 2018) and the commencement of the 
vision and strategy phase of the modern office program 
(Microsoft Office 365).


Failure to ensure sufficient availability 
of accommodation for students to 
meet growth plans


Failure to maintain student related 
data quality, management, control 
and resilience


Failure to manage the University’s 
Information governance and 
cyber security obligations and 
requirements of GDPR
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Overview
The results for the year show that Falmouth 
remains strong and has achieved or exceeded 
most of its financial key performance indicators, 
posting a surplus in excess of target.  This 
comes from higher income through student 
growth, partnerships and grant-funded activity 
(Launchpad) together with a large actuarial 
adjustment to the pension scheme deficit figure.


Group  
financial highlights


2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14


£(000) £(000) £(000) £(000) £(000)


Income 61,548 55,087 49,349 45,770 41,685


Expenditure (55,063) (49,111) (46,633) (45,159) 41,558


Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,  
Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 10,139 8,827 5,961 4,018 2,005


Net assets 63,294 53,921 43,306 46,338 34,970


Net assets excluding pension liability 76,091 67,514 59,157 57,069 42,535


Cash at bank and in hand 20,150 17,147 11,343 9,607 5,574


Our finances
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During the financial year 2017/18 income rose due to 
an increase in undergraduate student numbers and 
growing fees from partnerships. At the same time, 
costs went up with additional resources to teaching and 
research and the payment of franchise fees to partners 
for their teaching costs.


The Group recorded a surplus for the year of £6.1m 
(2016/17 – £6.3m) which was above the targeted surplus 
due to cost control and project delivery, some of which 
will impact the coming year.


Income (£m)


Expenditure (£m)


Surplus for year (£m)
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Sta� costs - £26.3m 48%


Operating expenses - £25m 45%


Depreciation - £3.2m 6%


Interest - £0.6m 1%


Tuition Fees - £51.7m 83%


Funding Council grants - £5.2m 8%


Other Income - £4.8m 8%


Research grants - £0.9m 1%
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Operating expenses - £25m 45%


Depreciation - £3.2m 6%


Interest - £0.6m 1%


Tuition Fees - £51.7m 83%
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Other Income - £4.8m 8%


Research grants - £0.9m 1%
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Income rose by 11.6%, despite a fall in grant income, 
which was more than offset by tuition fee receipts from 
both on- and off-campus courses.  In addition, research 
income rose by 21% and other income increased by 46% 
due to grant funding for the Launchpad project.


Costs rose by 12.1% during the year with staff costs 
increasing by nearly 10% to deliver to higher numbers  
of students, and growing pressure on pension costs 
which increased by over 18%.  Meanwhile other costs 
rose by 16.5% due to student numbers, partnership 
teaching and strategic project costs.


Tangible fixed asset additions during the year amounted 
to £5.4m, including land and buildings improvements of 
£7.2m, equipment purchases of £1.4m and depreciation 
of £3.2m.  These related to the completion of the 
power upgrade and infrastructure works at Penryn, 
refurbishment works of buildings over the summer to 
accommodate growth and the construction of the new 
Launchpad and Bridge buildings on the Penryn Campus.


The University has a subsidiary company, Falmouth 
Enterprises Limited, the principal activity of which is 
the provision of commercial services to external parties 
on behalf of the University. During the year, two other 
subsidiaries were also established – Falmouth Ventures 
Ltd, which was dormant for the year but has been set 
up to channel a number of new initiatives, and Falmouth 
Agency Ltd which was established as a vehicle for 
employing students.  In addition, the University owns 
50% in Falmouth Exeter Plus, a jointly controlled entity 
with the University of Exeter.  Any surpluses generated 
by the subsidiaries are transferred under deed of 
covenant. In the current year, the surpluses generated 
by Falmouth Enterprises Ltd and Falmouth Agency Ltd 
were £16k.


Failure to manage the University’s 
pensions liabilities


Surplus generation 
(exc. pension)


Actual Target


10.0% 7.6%


EBITDA


Actual Target


£10.1m £6.0m


I&E Reserves (excl 
pension): Total Income


Actual Target


100% 90%


Liquidity
(current ratio)


Actual Target


2.93 1.89


Teaching income  
per academic FTE


Actual Target


£195k £148k


Gearing


Actual Target


3.7% 3.9%


Total debt: Total 
funds (frozen GAAP)


Actual Target


49% 63%
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Treasury policies  
and objectives


Treasury management is the management of the 
University’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.


The University has a separate treasury management 
policy in place.


Short term borrowing for temporary revenue purposes is 
authorised by the Director of Finance.  All other borrowing 
requires the authorisation of the Board of Governors.


Cash flows and liquidity


Cash flow from operating activities was strong at £7.7m 
(2016/17 - £8.7m) which allowed investment in estates 
and facilities.  


The overall net cash flow was £3.0m (2016/17 - £5.8m), 
after a further drawdown of the loan from the Royal 
Bank of Scotland, which meant that cash held at the 
year-end rose to £20.1m (2016/17 - £17.1m). 


In total, the face of the balance sheet shows that 
borrowings remain relatively modest although it should 
however be noted that the University guarantees 50% of 
the loans within Falmouth Exeter Plus which are funded 
by income from student residences.  At the year end the 
value of this guarantee stood at £23.9m.


Payment performance


The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) 
Act 1998, which came into force on 1 November 1998, 
requires Universities, in the absence of agreement to the 
contrary, to make payments to suppliers within 30 days 
of either the provision of goods or services or the date 
on which the invoice was received. The target set by 
the Treasury for payment to suppliers within 30 days is 
90%. During the year ended 31 July 2018, the University 
paid 92% of its invoices within 30 days. The University 
incurred no interest charges in respect of late payment 
for this period.


Approved by order of the members of the Board of 
Governors on 23 November 2018 and signed on its 
behalf by:


C Pomfret
Chair


Legal status


The University was established as a Higher Education 
Corporation on 1 April 1989 under the Education Reform 
Act 1988. The University is an exempt charity for the 
purposes of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011.


The University was incorporated as Falmouth School 
of Art and Design. On 10 December 2012, the Privy 
Council granted consent to change the name to 
Falmouth University.  The aims of the University include 
‘to provide higher education’, ‘to provide further 
education’ and ‘to carry out research and to publish the 
results of the research’.


Vision


The vision for the organisation as set out in the 2030 
Strategic Plan is that:
In 2030 Falmouth University has become what we set 
out to be twenty years before, a creative innovation 
hub. A place full of clever people. Original and 
courageous thinkers, who feed the future of the creative 
industries, not its past.


We look different and we work differently - in different 
places, in different ways and with different people. 
Everything we do, is done with partners. Not only does 
this keep us learning, but it brings our knowledge and 
skills into other high growth sectors.


Creativity has become a commodity in high demand. 
We know it’s a word that belongs as much to science 
and technology as art. This is why we work across 
so many disciplines. Co-creating new interfaces, 
new products, new narratives, new images, new 
environments, new business models. Using innovative 
thinking designed to change lives.


And we are Doing it for Real. Producing future-proofed 
entrepreneurial graduates. People who excel both as 
employers and employees. Complex problem solvers 
and multi-disciplinary team players. Shaped through 
partnering with industry and by our intensive needs 
based approach to learning.


We’ve put real world, real market challenges at the heart 
of everything we do. We’ve learnt how to capitalize our 
abundant raw student talent. We have created the next 
generation of entrepreneurs. Our approach to design 
thinking and open innovation has changed us forever. It 
has magnified our impact in Cornwall and helped us take 
Falmouth and Cornwall Global.
  
Falmouth University is an exempt charity under Part 3 of 
the Charities Act 2011 and is regulated by the Office for 
Students for England. The members of the Governing 
Body, who are trustees of the charity, are disclosed on 
page 38.


In setting and reviewing the University’s strategic 
objectives, the Governing Body has had due regard for 
the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit 
and particularly upon its supplementary guidance on 
the advancement of education. The guidance sets out 
the requirement that all organisations wishing to be 
recognised as charities must demonstrate, explicitly, 
that their aims are for the public benefit.  The principal 
beneficiaries of the University’s services are our students 
and the public at large.


Falmouth University
Public benefit statement
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In delivering its mission, the University provides the 
following identifiable public benefits through the 
advancement of education:  


•	 High-quality teaching 
•	 Widening participation and tackling social exclusion 
•	 Excellent employment record for students 
•	 Strong student support systems 
•	 Links with employers, industry and commerce.


The University takes seriously its commitment to 
ensure that it satisfies the Charity Commission’s public 
benefit test that there be identifiable benefits and that 
the opportunity to benefit must not be unreasonably 
restricted. We have a range of schemes to encourage 
participation in our academic programmes by students 
from under-represented groups and those from low 
income households. 


In 2017/18 the University provided £988k in means-tested 
scholarships to support 1,778 undergraduate entrants 
who might otherwise have been unable to afford the 
costs of going to university and has committed more 
than £5,305k through our Access Agreement to student 
financial support over the next five years.


During 2017/18 we awarded more than 1,663 
undergraduate and postgraduate degrees. Our 
total research income in 2017/18 was £918k.  The 
University expects that useful knowledge acquired 
through research will be disseminated to the public 
and others able to benefit from such research. The 
University normally expects that any private (non-
charitable) benefit will be legitimately incidental to 
the achievement of the University’s charitable aims 
for public benefit. The terms and conditions of all 
externally funded research activity are assessed prior 
to acceptance in terms of the public benefit test for 
charitable purpose.


Statement of Corporate Governance  
and Internal Control


The following statement is provided to enable readers 
of the annual report and accounts of the University to 
obtain a better understanding of its governance and 
legal structure. This statement covers the period from 
1 August 2017 to 31 July 2018 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and financial statements.


The University conducts its business:


i.	 in accordance with the seven principles identified 
by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership);


ii.	 in full accordance with the guidance to 
Universities from the Committee of University 
Chairs (CUC) in: 
	 • The Higher Education Code of Governance 	
	 2014 (“The Code”), formerly adopted on  
	 22 May 2015 
	 • The Higher Education Senior Staff  
	 Remuneration Code 2018 (“The Remuneration 	
	 Code”), formerly adopted on 13 July 2018; and 


iii.	 having due regard to the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2018 insofar as it is applicable 
to the higher education sector.


The University is committed to exhibiting best practice 
in all aspects of corporate governance which includes 
full adoption and compliance with the CUC Codes. We 
have not formally adopted and therefore do not apply 
the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have 
reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements 
by drawing upon best practice available, including those 
aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we 
consider to be relevant to the higher education sector 
and best practice.


The Governing Body recognises that, as a body 
entrusted with both public and private funds, it has 
a particular duty to observe the highest standards of 
corporate governance at all times.  In the opinion of the 
Governors, the University complies with/exceeds all the 
provisions of The Code.  


The University is an exempt charity within the meaning 
of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. The Governors, who 
are also the Trustees for the purposes of the Charities 
Act 2011, confirm that they have had due regard for the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and 
that the required statements appear elsewhere in these 
financial statements.


It is the Board’s responsibility to bring independent 
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, 
resources and standards of conduct.


The Board is provided with regular and timely 
information on the overall financial performance of 
the University together with other information such as 
performance against funding targets, proposed capital 
expenditure, quality matters and personnel-related 
matters such as health and safety and environmental 
issues. The Board meets six times a year.


The Board conducts its business through a number of 
committees. Each committee has terms of reference, 
which have been approved by the Board. These 
committees are remuneration, nominations and audit. 
Full minutes of all meetings, except those deemed to 
be confidential by the Board, are available from the 
Secretary to the Board of Governors.


Falmouth University
Corporate governance 
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Membership of the Board of Governors serving during 2017/18


Date of 
appointment


Term of 
office Expiry of term Status of appointment Committees served Attendance


Chris Pomfret OBE 1 Sep 2015 First term  Aug 2019 Chair of the Board of Governors
Nominations Committee, 
Remuneration Committee 100%


Andrew Allen 1 Jul 2014
Second 
term 31 Jul 2019 Independent Governor Audit Committee 89%


Mark Carne CBE 1 Aug 2013
Second 
term 31 Jul 2021 Independent Governor Remuneration Committee 86%


Alison Cressey 1 Sep 2015 First term 31 Aug 2019 Independent Governor Nominations Committee 100%


Tim Jones 1 Nov 2016 First term 30 Sept 2020 Independent Governor Audit Committee 100%


Bertrand 
Louveaux 1 Aug 2013


Second 
term 31 Jul 2021 Independent Governor


Audit Committee, 
Nominations Committee 100%


John Mathers 1 Sep 2015 First term 31 Aug 2019 Independent Governor Audit Committee 100%


Charles Wace 1 Sep 2015 First term 31 Aug 2019 Independent Governor Remuneration Committee 86%


Professor  
Anne Carlisle 1 Sep 2009 n/a n/a Vice-Chancellor Nominations Committee 100%


Robert Hillier 1 Sep 2015 - 31 Aug 2018 Staff Governor  100%


Tracy Pritchard 1 Sep 2015 - 31 Aug 2018 Staff Governor  100%


Chris Slesser 1 Sep 2017 - 31 Aug 2018 Student Governor  100%


In attendance  


Mr Peter Cox Chief Operating Officer Board of Governors; Audit Committee 86%


Mr Rob Holmes Director of Finance Board of Governors; Audit Committee 78%


Dr Robin Kirby
Strategic Advisor to the Vice-Chancellor, & 
Secretary to the Board of Governors


Secretary to: Board of Governors, Remuneration, 
Nominations and Audit Committees 90%


Professor  
Geoff Smith Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor Board of Governors 100%


Professor  
Alan Murray Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) Board of Governors 100%


Mrs Robyn Wyatt Clerk to the Board of Governors
Clerk to: Board of Governors;   
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee


2017 – July 2018
100%


Miss Louise 
Williamson Clerk to the Board of Governors Clerk to: Board of Governors; Audit Committee


September 2017 
– November 


2017 100%
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The Clerk to the Board maintains a register of financial 
and personal interests of the governors. The register is 
available for inspection at the registered office. 


All governors are able to take independent professional 
advice in furtherance of their duties at the University’s 
expense and have access to the Secretary to the Board, 
who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that all 
applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. 
The appointment, evaluation and removal of the Secretary 
are matters for the Board as a whole.


Formal agendas, papers and reports are supplied to 
governors in a timely manner, prior to Board meetings. 
Briefings are provided on an ad hoc basis. 


The Board has a strong and independent non-executive 
element and no individual or group dominates its 
decision-making process. The Board considers that 
each of its non-executive members is independent 
of management and free from any business or other 
relationship which could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgement.


There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles 
of the Chair and Accounting Officer are separate.


Independent Governor Skills Matrix
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Chris Pomfret 1 Sept 15 – 31 Aug 19 • •  •  •   • •    •   • • • •  •  • •


Andrew Allen 1 Jul 14 – 31 Jul 19 • •  •  •    •      •         


Mark Carne 1 Aug 13 – 31 Jul 21    •    •  •   • • •    •  •  • •


Alison Cressey 1 Sept 15 – 31 Aug 19    •   •    • •   •   • • •     


Tim Jones 1 Nov 16 – 30 Sep 20  • • • • •  • •     • •  •  • •   • •


Bertrand Louveaux 1 Aug 13 – 31 Jul 21    •            •         


John Mathers 1 Sept 15 – 31 Aug 19  •     •     • •     •  •    •


Charles Wace 1 Sept 15 – 31 Aug 19  •  •   • •  •     •   •       


Appointments to the Board


Any new appointments to the Board are a matter for the 
consideration of the Board as a whole. The Board has a 
Nominations Committee, consisting of three members 
of the Board, which is responsible for the selection 
and nomination of any new member for the Board’s 
consideration. The Board is responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate training is provided as required.


Members of the Board are appointed for up to two four 
year terms of office.


Remuneration Committee


The Remuneration committee is comprised of:


•	 Charles Wace, Deputy Chair of the Board of 
Governors, Independent Governor  
(Chair of the Remuneration Committee)


•	 Chris Pomfret, Chair of the Board of Governors 
•	 Mark Carne, Independent Governor 


Membership of the Remuneration Committee is 
approved by the full Board of Governors as are the 
Terms of Reference for the committee. 


Also in attendance for specific items only are:


•	 Professor Anne Carlisle, Vice-Chancellor
•	 Daniel Jones, Director of Human Resources
•	 Dr Robin Kirby, Strategic Advisor to the  


Vice-Chancellor, and Secretary to the Board  
of Governors


Whilst members of the Executive are present for some 
items of the agenda none are present for any item of 
discussion that may influence their own remuneration. 
The requirement for individuals to leave the meeting is 
clearly detailed on the agenda so that the Chair is able 
to manage this accordingly.


The process is set out in the Terms of Reference and 
the Senior Management Team Performance Related Pay 
Scheme. Both documents can be found at:  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/sites/default/files/download/
annual_senior_staff_remuneration_report-3.pdf


The Remuneration Committee meets on an annual basis 
and minutes of the meeting can be found at at:  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/sites/default/files/download/
annual_senior_staff_remuneration_report-3.pdf
 
The Remuneration Committee is reporting on the 
remuneration decisions of the Vice-Chancellor and 
other senior post holders as set out in the terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee. Designated 
postholders for this purpose are:


•	 Vice-Chancellor 
•	 Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
•	 Chief Operating Officer 
•	 Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 
•	 Strategic Advisor to the Vice-Chancellor, & 


Secretary to the Board of Governors


Throughout the year ending 31 July 2018 the University’s 
Remuneration Committee comprised three members of 
the Board. The Committee’s responsibilities are to make 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
and benefits of the Vice-Chancellor and other key 
management personnel. 
The Remuneration Committee provide an annual report 
to the Board of Governors which forms the basis of our 
annual statement on remuneration as set out in note 7 to 
the financial statements.  


The University formally adopted the Higher Education 
Senior Staff Remuneration Code (June 2018), on 13 
July 2018.  Following a review of the Remuneration 
Committee Terms of Reference against the Remuneration 
Code, the Board of Governors approved minor changes 
to the Terms of Reference on 13 July 2018.  The Board 
agreed that Remuneration Committee practice had been 
appropriately fair, transparent and independent prior to 
adoption of the Remuneration Code.
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Audit Committee


The Audit Committee comprises four members of the 
Board (excluding the Accounting Officer). The Committee 
operates in accordance with written terms of reference 
approved by the Board. 


The Audit Committee meets on a termly basis and 
provides a forum for reporting by the University’s internal 
and external auditors, who have access to the Committee 
for independent discussion, without the presence of 
University management. The Committee also receives 
and considers reports from the main funding bodies as 
they affect the University’s business.


The University’s internal auditors review the systems 
of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan 
of input and report their findings to management and the 
Audit Committee. Management is responsible for the 
implementation of agreed audit recommendations and 
internal audit undertakes periodic follow-up reviews to 
ensure such recommendations have been implemented.


The Audit Committee also advises the Board on the 
appointment of internal and external auditors and their 
remuneration for audit and non-audit work as well as 
reporting annually to the Board.


Internal control


Scope of responsibility
The Board is ultimately responsible for the  
University’s system of internal control and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. 


The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility 
to the Vice-Chancellor, as Accounting Officer, for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the University’s policies, 
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and assets for which she is personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to her in 


the Terms and conditions of funding for higher education 
institutions between Falmouth University and OfS. She is 
also responsible for reporting to the Board any material 
weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.


The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
University policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system of internal 
control has been in place in Falmouth University for the 
year ended 31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval 
of the annual report and accounts.


Capacity to handle risk
The Board has reviewed the key risks to which the 
University is exposed together with the operating, 
financial and compliance controls that have been 
implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board is of 
the view that there is a formal ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the University’s 
significant risks that has been in place for the period 
ending 31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts. This process is regularly 
reviewed by the Board. 


The risk and control framework
The system of internal control is based on a framework 
of regular management information, administrative 
procedures including the segregation of duties, and a 
system of delegation and accountability. In particular, 
it includes:
•	 comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual 


budget, which is reviewed and agreed by the 
governing body


•	 regular reviews by the governing body of periodic 
and annual financial reports which indicate financial 
performance against forecasts


•	 setting targets to measure financial and  
other performance


•	 clearly defined capital investment control guidelines


•	 the adoption of formal project management 
disciplines, where appropriate.


Falmouth University uses an internal audit service, 
which operates in accordance with the requirements 
of the OfS’s Audit Code of Practice. The work of 
the internal audit service is informed by an analysis 
of the risks to which the University is exposed, and 
annual internal audit plans are based on this analysis. 
The analysis of risks and the internal audit plans are 
endorsed by the Board on the recommendation of the 
audit committee. At least annually the internal auditors 
provide the governing body with a report on internal 
audit activity in the University. The report includes an 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the University’s system of risk management, controls 
and governance processes.


As Accounting Officer, the Vice-Chancellor has 
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. Her review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is informed by:


•	 the work of the internal auditors


•	 the work of the executive managers within the 
University who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control framework


•	 comments made by the University’s external auditors  
in their management letters and other reports.


The Accounting Officer has been advised on the 
implications of the result of her review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the 
Audit Committee, which oversees the work of the 
internal auditor and other sources of assurance, and 
a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.
The senior management team receives reports setting 
out key performance and risk indicators and considers 
possible control issues brought to their attention by 


early warning mechanisms, which are embedded within 
the departments. The senior management team and 
the Audit Committee also receive regular reports from 
internal audit and other sources of assurance, which 
include recommendations for improvement. The Audit 
Committee’s role in this area is confined to a high-level 
review of the arrangements for internal control. The 
Board’s agenda includes a regular item for consideration 
of risk and control and receives reports thereon from 
the senior management team and the Audit Committee. 
The emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree of 
assurance and not merely reporting by exception. 


Based on the advice of the Audit Committee and the 
Accounting Officer, the Board is of the opinion that the 
University has an adequate and effective framework 
for governance, risk management and control, and has 
fulfilled its statutory responsibility for “the effective and 
efficient use of resources, the solvency of the institution 
and the body and the safeguarding of their assets”.


Going concern


After making appropriate enquiries, the Board considers 
that the University has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements.


Approved by order of the members of the Board on  
23 November 2018 and signed on its behalf by:


Chris Pomfret			  Prof A Carlisle			 
Chair of Governors 		  Vice-Chancellor		
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Statement of responsibilities of the  
Board of Governors in respect of the  
financial statements 


The Board of Governors are responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Terms and conditions of funding for 
higher education institutions from OfS and applicable 
law and regulations.  


They are required to prepare group and parent 
University financial statements in accordance with UK 
accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland. Terms and conditions of funding 
for higher education institutions further requires the 
financial statements to be prepared in accordance 
with the 2015 Statement of Recommended Practice 
– Accounting for Further and Higher Education, in 
accordance with the requirements of OfS’s Accounts 
Direction to higher education institutions.  The 
Governors are required to prepare financial statements 
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the group and parent University and of their income and 
expenditure, gains and losses and changes in reserves 
for that period. 


In preparing each of the group and parent University 
financial statements, the Governors are required to:   


•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;  


•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;  


•	 state whether applicable UK accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  


•	 assess the group and parent University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and   


•	 use the going concern basis of accounting unless 
they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 
University or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.   


The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the parent University’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the parent University and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with relevant legislation and other relevant accounting 
standards.  They are responsible for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities.   


Statement of responsibilities of the
Board of Governors of Falmouth University


The Board of Governors are also responsible under the 
Terms and conditions of funding for higher education 
institutions for:


•	 ensuring that funds from OfS and other funding 
bodies are used only for the purposes for which 
they have been given and in accordance with 
the Terms and conditions of funding for higher 
education institutions and any other conditions 
which OfS may from time to time prescribe; 


•	 ensuring that there are appropriate financial 
and management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources; and


•	 securing the economical, efficient and  
effective management of the university’s 
resources and expenditure. 


The Board of Governors is responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included on the University’s 
website.  Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  


Signed:	


23 November 2018


Dr Robin Kirby
Strategic Advisor to the Vice-Chancellor,  
& Secretary to the Board of Governors
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Independent auditor’s report to the
Board of Governors of Falmouth University


Report on the audit of the financial statements


Opinion  


We have audited the financial statements of Falmouth 
University (“the University”) for the year ended 31 July 
2018 which comprise the Group’s and University’s 
Statements of comprehensive income, the Group’s and 
University’s Statements of changes in reserves, the 
Group’s and University’s Balance Sheets, the Group’s 
Statement of Cash Flow and related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1.  


In our opinion the financial statements:  
•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the 


Group’s and the University’s affairs as at 31 July 
2018, and of the Group’s and the University’s 
income and expenditure, gains and losses and 
changes in reserves, and of the Group’s cash 
flows, for the year then ended; 


•	 have been properly prepared in accordance 
with UK accounting standards, including FRS 
102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and with the 
2015 Statement of Recommended Practice – 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education; 
and


•	 meet the requirements of OfS’s Accounts 
Direction to higher education institutions for 
2017/18 financial statements.


Basis for opinion  


We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We 
have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a 
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.  


Going concern  


We are required to report to you if we have concluded 
that the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use 
of that basis for a period of at least twelve months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements.  We have 
nothing to report in these respects.  


Other information  


The Board of Governors is responsible for the other 
information, which comprises the Report of the governing 
body, the public benefit statement and the corporate 
governance statement. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  


Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is 
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that 
work, we have not identified material misstatements in 
the other information.  


Board of Governors responsibilities  


As explained more fully in their statement set out on 
pages 44-45 , the Board of Governors is responsible for: 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal 
control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the group and parent University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it either intends to 
liquidate the group or the parent University or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   


Auditor’s responsibilities  


Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.  


A fuller description of our responsibilities is 
provided on the FRC’s website at  www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities.


REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND  
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS   


We are required to report on the following matters 
under the OfS Audit Code of Practice (effective 1 April 
2018) issued under the Further and Higher Education 
Act 1992 and the Higher Education Act 2004 .


In our opinion, in all material respects:
•	 funds from whatever source administered by the 


Group or the University for specific purposes 
have been properly applied to those purposes and 
managed in accordance with relevant legislation; 
and


•	 income has been applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes; and


•	 funds provided by OfS have been applied in 
accordance with the Terms and conditions of 
funding for higher education institutions and any 
other terms and conditions attached to them.


THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND  
TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES  


This report is made solely to the Board of Governors, 
in accordance with paragraph 13(2) of the University’s 
Articles of Government and section 124B of the 
Education Reform Act 1988 (for post-1992 institutions).  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Board of Governors those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the University and the Board of 
Governors for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.   


Signed:


November 2018 
Victoria Sewell
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants 
Plym House, Plymouth, PL6 8LT
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Year to
31/7/18


Year to
 31/7/18


Year to
31/7/17


Year to
31/7/17


Group University Group University


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Income Note


Funding body grants 2 4,187 4,187 5,274 5,274


Tuition fees and education contracts 3 51,655 51,655 45,820 45,820


Research grants and contracts 4 918 918 760 760


Other income 5 4,680 4,673 3,193 3,177


Endowment and investment income 6 108 108 40 40


Total income 61,548 61,541 55,087 55,071


Expenditure


Staff costs 7 26,292 26,292 24,002 24,002


Other operating expenses 8 25,009 24,998 21,459 21,447


Depreciation 11 3,177 3,177 3,064 3,064


Interest and other finance costs 9 585 585 586 586


55,063 55,052 49,111 49,099


Surplus before other gains and share 
of jointly controlled entity  6,485 6,489 5,976 5,972


Loss on disposal of assets  (18) (18) - -


Share of operating (deficit)/surplus  
in jointly controlled entity 12 (341) - 360 -


 


Surplus before tax and surplus for year 6,126 6,471 6,336 5,972


Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 3,247 2,388 4,279 3,363


Total comprehensive income for the year 9,373 8,859 10,615 9,335


All income relates to continuing operations.
The notes on pages 52 to 78 form an integral part of the financial statements.


Falmouth University Consolidated and University Statement 
of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 July 2018


Falmouth University Consolidated and University Statement  
of changes in reserves for the year ended 31 July 2018


Group


Income &
Expenditure


Income &
Expenditure Revaluation


Account Account reserve Total
Restricted Unrestricted


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Balance at 1 August 2016 27 1,581 41,698 43,306


Surplus from the income and expenditure statement - 6,336 - 6,336
Other comprehensive income - 4,279 - 4,279
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserve (note 1) - 27,466 (27,466) -
Balance at 1 August 2017 27 39,662 14,232 53,921


Surplus from the income and expenditure statement - 6,126 - 6,126
Other comprehensive income - 3,247 - 3,247
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserve - 260 (260) -
Balance at 31 July 2018 27 49,295 13,972 63,294


University


Income &
Expenditure


Income &
Expenditure Revaluation


Account Account reserve Total
Restricted Unrestricted


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Balance at 1 August 2016 27 4,422 27,206 31,655


Surplus from the income and expenditure statement - 5,972 - 5,972
Other comprehensive income - 3,363 - 3,363
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserve (note 1) - 27,206 (27,206) -
Balance at 1 August 2017 27 40,963 - 40,990


Surplus from the income and expenditure statement - 6,471 - 6,471
Other comprehensive income - 2,388 - 2,388
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserve - - - -
Balance at 31 July 2018 27 49,822 - 49,849


The notes on pages 52 to 78 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Group University Group University
2018 2018 2017 2017


Note £ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Fixed Assets
Tangible assets 11 110,538 110,510 105,141 105,113
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 12 - 3 - 1
Investment in associates 12 28 28 15 15
Interest in jointly controlled entity 12 13,421 - 12,904 -


 123,987 110,541 118,060 105,129
Current Assets
Stock 55 55 82 82
Trade and other receivables 13 3,610 3,603 1,877 1,903
Cash at bank and in hand  20,150 20,143 17,147 17,119


23,815 23,801 19,106 19,104
Less: Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 14 (8,118) (8,103) (9,101) (9,099)


Net current assets  15,697 15,698  10,005 10,005


Total assets less current liabilities  139,684 126,239  128,065 115,134
Less: Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (62,937) (62,937) (59,872) (59,872)


Provisions
Pension provision (12,797) (12,797) (13,593) (13,593)
Other provisions 16 (656) (656) (679) (679)
Net assets  63,294 49,849  53,921 40,990


Restricted reserves
Income and expenditure-Endowments 17 27 27 27 27
Unrestricted reserves      
Income and expenditure account  49,295 49,822 39,662 40,963
Revaluation reserve 18 13,972 - 14,232 -
Total reserves  63,294 49,849  53,921 40,990


The notes on pages 52 to 78 form an integral part of the financial statements.


The financial statements on pages 48 to 78 were approved by the Board of Governors 
on 23 November 2018 and signed on its behalf by:


								        Chris Pomfret			   Vice-Chancellor
								        Chair of Governors		  Professor Anne Carlisle


Falmouth University Balance sheets
as at 31 July 2018


Year to Year to
 31/7/18  31/7/17


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year 6,126  6,336


Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 3,177  3,064
Deferred capital grants released (1,569)  (1,460)
Decrease/(increase) in stock 27  (39)
Increase in debtors (1,541)  (1,159)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (578)  1,139
Increase in pension provision 1,209  701
Decrease in other provisions (23)  (39)
Share of operating deficit/(surplus) in jointly controlled entity 341  (360)
Loss on disposal of assets 18  -


Adjustment for investing or financing items
Investment income (108) (40)
Interest payable 585  586
Net cash inflow from operating activities  7,664  8,729


Cash flow from investing activities
Deferred capital grants received 2,755 332  
Investment income 108  40  
Investments (11)  (15)  
Payments made to acquire fixed assets (9,030)  (4,895)  


(6,178) (4,538)


Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (209) (180)
New bank loan received 2,000  2,075  
Loan repayments in year (291)  (296)  


1,500 1,599


Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 2,986 5,790
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17,114  11,324


Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20,100  17,114


 


Falmouth University Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 July 2018


The notes on pages 52 to 78 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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1 - Principal accounting policies


Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education 2015 and in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. The University is a public 
benefit entity and therefore has applied the relevant 
public benefit requirement of FRS 102. The financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention. 


Judgements made by management, in the application 
of these accounting policies, that have significant 
effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, 
are discussed below.


Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the 
University and its subsidiary companies, Falmouth 
Enterprises Limited and Falmouth Agency Limited. 
Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on 
consolidation. 


The 50% holding in the FX Plus Group represents an 
interest on a long-term basis which is jointly controlled 
with another party.  As such the arrangement is treated 
as a jointly controlled entity and is accounted for using 
the equity method.


The University’s policy is to consolidate the Students’ 
Union only if its operations are material and if the 
University, at such time, is exercising significant 
influence on Union policy. Should the operation expand 
and become material it is likely that it would be more 
autonomous and independent of the University. The 
University does not currently consolidate the Students’ 
Union on the basis that it does not exercise control.


Accounting estimates and judgements


Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The University makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future.  The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are addressed below.


Useful economic lives of tangible assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is 
sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic 
lives of the assets so these are re-assessed annually and 
amended when necessary to reflect current estimates.  
See note 11 for the carrying amount of the property, 
plant and equipment, and note 1 for the useful economic 
lives for each class of assets.


Impairment of debtors
The University makes an estimate for the recoverable 
value of trade and other debtors.  When assessing 
impairment of trade and other debtors, management 
considers factors including the current credit rating of 
the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical 
experience.  See note 13 for the net carrying amount of 
the debtors and associated impairment provision.


Pensions
FRS102 requires that certain assumptions are made 
in order to determine the amount to be recorded for 
retirement benefit obligations and pension plan assets, 
in particular for defined benefit plans. These are mainly 
actuarial assumptions such as expected inflation rates, 
employee turnover, expected return on plan assets and 
discount rates. Substantial changes in the assumed 
development of any one of these variables may 
significantly change the University’s retirement benefit 
obligation and pension assets.


Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2018


Provisions
The University calculates provisions for enhanced 
pension payments using the 10 year gilt yield index. 
The provision for relocation costs assume that eligible 
staff will claim the maximum agreed sum.


Critical accounting judgements in applying  
the University’s accounting policies


There are no such judgements in either the current or 
prior year.


Going concern
The University and Group have made surpluses for both  
the current and the prior years, and have net assets. 


The University considers that it has sufficient financial 
resources and is confident that its future income streams 
will maintain these resources.  The Board believes that the 
University is well placed to effectively manage its business 
risks, despite the current uncertain economic situation.


The Board has a reasonable expectation that the 
University has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.  
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements.


Recognition of income
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited 
to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when the goods or services are supplied to the 
external customers or the terms of the contract have 
been satisfied.


Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which 
is not a discount and credited to the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period 
in which students are studying. Where the amount of 
the tuition fee is reduced, by a discount for prompt 
payment, income receivable is shown net of the 
discount. Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for 
gross as expenditure and not deducted from income.


Investment income is credited to the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
receivable basis.


Funds the University receives and disburses as 
paying agent on behalf of a funding body are 
excluded from the income and expenditure of 
the University where the University is exposed to 
minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit 
related to the transaction.


Grant funding
Grant funding including funding council block grant, 
research grants from government sources and grants 
(including research grants) from non-government sources 
are recognised as income when the University is entitled 
to the income and performance related conditions have 
been met. Income received in advance of performance 
related conditions being met is recognised as deferred 
income within creditors on the balance sheet and 
released to income as the conditions are met.


Donations and endowments
Non exchange transactions without performance 
related conditions are donations and endowments. 
Donations and endowments with donor imposed 
restrictions are recognised in income when the 
University is entitled to the funds.  Income is retained 
within the restricted reserve until such time that it is 
utilised in line with such restrictions at which point 
the income is released to general reserves through a 
reserve transfer.
Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income 
when the University is entitled to the funds.


Investment income and appreciation of endowments 
is recorded in income in the year in which it arises and 
as either restricted or unrestricted income according 
to the terms of the restriction applied to the individual 
endowment fund.
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There are four main types of donations and 
endowments identified within reserves:


1.	 Restricted donations - the donor has specified that 
the donation must be used for a particular objective.


2.	 Unrestricted permanent endowments - the donor 
has specified that the fund is to be permanently 
invested to generate an income stream for the 
general benefit of the University.


3.	 Restricted expendable endowments - the donor 
has specified a particular objective other than the 
purchase or construction of tangible fixed assets, 
and the University has the power to use the capital.


4.	 Restricted permanent endowments - the donor 
has specified that the fund is to be permanently 
invested to generate an income stream to be 
applied to a particular objective.


Capital grants
Government capital grants are recognised in income 
over the expected useful life of the asset. Other capital 
grants are recognised in income when the University is 
entitled to the funds subject to any performance related 
conditions being met.


Pension schemes
Retirement benefits for the employees of the University 
are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
for academic staff and by the Cornwall Council (CC) 
Superannuation Scheme for non-academic staff. A small 
number of employees are members of the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (USS). These are defined 
benefit schemes which are contracted out of the State 
Earnings Related Pension Scheme. CC and USS are 
funded schemes and are valued every three years by 
professionally qualified independent actuaries.


TPS and USS are multi-employer schemes for which it 
is not possible to identify the assets and liabilities to the 
University’s members due to the mutual nature of the 
schemes and therefore these schemes are accounted for 
as defined contribution retirement benefit schemes.


A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual 
commitment to fund past deficits within the USS scheme.


Defined Contribution Plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the University pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the 
periods during which services are rendered by employees.


Defined Benefit Plan
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans 
other than defined contribution plans. Under defined 
benefit plans, the University’s obligation is to provide the 
agreed benefits to current and former employees, and 
actuarial risk (that benefits will cost more or less than 
expected) and investment risk (that returns on assets set 
aside to fund the benefits will differ from expectations) 
are borne, in substance, by the University. The Group 
should recognise a liability for its obligations under 
defined benefit plans net of plan assets. This net defined 
benefit liability is measured as the estimated amount of 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods, discounted to 
determine its present value, less the fair value (at bid price) 
of plan assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified 
actuary using the projected unit credit method. Where the 
calculation results in a net asset, recognition of the asset 
is limited to the extent to which the University is able to 
recover the surplus either through reduced contributions 
in the future or through refunds from the plan.


Enhanced Pensions
The actual cost of any enhanced on-going pension 
to a former member of staff is paid by the University 
annually.  An estimate of the expected future cost of 
any enhancement to the on-going pension of a former 
member of staff is charged in full to the University’s 
income statement in the year that the member of staff 
retires.  The provision is calculated based on the total 
capital cost with an allowance for future investment 
returns in excess of inflation.


The provision set up is shown in note 16 and will be 
released each year in line with payments made and 
changes in the assumptions.


Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense 
in the year in which the employees render service to 
the University. Any unused benefits are accrued and 
measured as the additional amount the University 
expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.


Repairs and maintenance
The University has a five-year rolling long-term 
maintenance plan, which forms the basis of the on-
going maintenance of the estate. Expenditure on long 
term maintenance which does not either enhance 
an asset beyond its original condition or increase its 
expected economic life; and expenditure on all routine 
corrective maintenance, is charged to the income 
statement as incurred.


Finance leases
Leases in which the University assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset 
are classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired 
by way of finance lease and the corresponding lease 
liabilities are initially recognised at an amount equal to 
the lower of their fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease.


Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period 
during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.


Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any lease 
premiums or incentives are spread over the whole term 
of the lease including extension options.


Foreign Currencies
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling at year-end rates. Resulting exchange 
differences are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the financial year.


Tangible fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at deemed cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Certain items of fixed assets that had been revalued 
to fair value on the date of transition to the 2015 FE 
HE SORP were measured on the basis of deemed 
cost, being the revalued amount at the date of that 
revaluation. The revaluation reserve was transferred to 
the income and expenditure reserve during the previous 
year as assets are no longer being revalued.


Land and buildings
Freehold land is not depreciated. Buildings are stated 
at cost and endowment assets are valued at market 
valuation on donation. Buildings and associated capital 
works are depreciated over their expected useful lives of 
50 years (freehold) or the period of the lease (leasehold). 


An impairment review of a fixed asset is carried out if 
events or changes in circumstance indicate that the 
carrying amount of the fixed asset may not be recoverable.


Finance costs on associated loans from third parties 
that are directly attributable to the purchase of land or 
the construction of buildings are capitalised during the 
construction period but, thereafter, are not capitalised 
as part of the costs of those assets but are shown as 
interest payable. 


Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost, 
based on the value of architects’ certificates, contractor 
claims that are substantiated and other direct costs 
incurred to 31 July 2018. They are not depreciated until 
they are brought into use.
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Fixtures, fittings & equipment
Equipment, including computers and software, costing 
less than de minimis threshold of £5,000 per individual 
item is recognised as expenditure. All other equipment 
is capitalised.


Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated 
over its expected useful life, as follows:


             Computers and equipment 	 - 4 years
             Motor vehicles                   	 - 4 years
	 Musical instruments		  - 10 years


Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance Sheet.


Accounting for goodwill and intangible fixed assets
Goodwill arises on consolidation and is based on the 
difference between the fair value of the consideration given 
for the undertaking acquired and the fair value of its net 
assets at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is amortised over 
its estimated economic life. Impairment tests are carried out 
at the end of the first year and thereafter subject to normal 
periodic reviews for indications of impairment.   


Investments
Non-current investments are included in the balance sheet 
at amortised cost less impairment. Investments in jointly 
controlled entities, associates and subsidiaries are carried 
at cost less impairment in the University’s accounts.


Current asset investments are held at fair value with 
movements recognised in the Surplus or Deficit for the year.


Stock
Stocks of materials for sale are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value where cost is taken as that 
incurred in bringing each product to its present location 
and condition.


Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on 
demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on 
demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours 
without penalty.


Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.


Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised when the University has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic 
benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is 
discounted to present value where the time value of 
money is material. The discount rate used reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
reflects any risks specific to the liability.


A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives 
the University a possible obligation whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the University. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured reliably.


A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place 
that gives the University a possible asset whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the University.


Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the 
Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.


Accounting for Joint Operations, Jointly Controlled 
Assets and Jointly Controlled Operations
The University accounts for its share of jointly controlled 
entities using the equity method.


The University accounts for its share of transactions 
from joint operations and jointly controlled assets in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.


Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning 
of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011, and, as such, is a 
charity within the meaning of Section 506 (1) of the 
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. It is therefore 
a charity within the meaning of Para 1 of schedule 6 to 
the Finance Act 2010 and accordingly, the University is 
potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income 
or capital gains received within categories covered by 
section 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 
2010) or section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable 
Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains 
are applied to exclusively charitable purposes.


The University receives no similar exemption in respect 
of Value Added Tax and falls under the partial exemption 
regime so that it can only recover a minor element of 
VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs 
is included in the costs of such inputs. Any irrecoverable 
VAT allocated to fixed assets is included in their cost.


The University’s subsidiary is liable to Corporation Tax in 
the same way as any other commercial organisation.


Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences 
which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date 
to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future 
date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise 
based on current rates and law. Timing differences arise 
from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure 
in taxation computations in periods different from those 
in which they are included in financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets are provided where they are more 
likely than not to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted.


Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. 
Restricted endowment reserves include balances which, 
through endowment to the University, are held as a 
permanently restricted fund which the University must 
hold in perpetuity.


Other restricted reserves include balances where the 
donor has designated a specific purpose and therefore 
the University is restricted in the use of these funds.


The revaluation reserve has been transferred to the 
income and expenditure reserve as assets are no longer 
being revalued.
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2 Funding body grants


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


HEFCE/OfS recurrent grant 3,298 3,298 4,104 4,104


HEFCE/OfS specific grants     


Catalyst/Strategic Development Funds 43 43 1 1


Collaborative Outreach - - 101 101


HEFCE/OfS deferred capital grants released in year
 - Buildings 500 500 321 321


 - Equipment 254 254 312 312


EFA/SFA recurrent grant 92 92 435 435


4,187 4,187 5,274 5,274


3 Tuition fees and education contracts


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Full-time students 47,346 47,346 41,383 41,383


Full-time students charged overseas fees 3,961 3,961 3,958 3,958


Part-time students 265 265 245 245


Research fees 83 83 48 48


FE fees and other charges - - 186 186


51,655 51,655 45,820 45,820


4 Research grants and contracts


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Other contracts 918 918 760 760


918 918 760 760


5 Other income


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Other income generating activities 331 302 322 280


Residences and catering operations 737 737 694 694


Other income (including European grants) 2,476 2,498 1,101 1,127


Recharges for the provision of combined services 321 321 249 249


Deferred capital grants 815 815 827 827


4,680 4,673 3,193 3,177


6 Endowment and investment income


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Bank deposit interest  108 108 40 40


108 108 40 40
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7 Staff costs


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Wages and salaries 19,946 19,946 18,470 18,470


Social security costs 1,980 1,980 1,837 1,837


Other pension costs 4,366 4,366 3,695 3,695


26,292 26,292 24,002 24,002


Approach to remuneration


a) The competitive environment
Falmouth is a specialist University and Creative 
Innovation Hub, with over 6,000 students. The 
University operates in the UK, EU and international 
student markets for undergraduate, Masters level and 
PhD programmes. The University operates innovation, 
research and commercial ventures programmes for 
regional, national and international impact.


The University’s ambitious 2030 Strategy commits the 
institution to major growth in student numbers over 
the next decade through diversification of academic 
programmes, and to a major rebalancing of income 
sources through innovation, research and commercial 
ventures. The full strategy can be viewed here:  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/corporate/strategicplan


b) Remuneration Policy
The policy for the Senior Management Team Performance 
Related Pay Scheme can be found at;  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/sites/default/files/download/
annual_senior_staff_remuneration_report-3.pdf
and this sets out the principles and process to be followed 
in determining variable pay across the institution.


Variable pay is determined following an assessment of 
both the financial performance of the institution and also 
an assessment of performance against personal objectives 
as set out in the annual performance appraisal process. 


Base pay is reviewed for each designated post-holder 
and this is considered in two distinct areas:


•	 Cost of Living: Consideration is given on whether 
any inflationary increase to base pay should be 
made to reflect cost of living pressures. In reaching 
this decision the committee consider a range of 
inflation indices, the trend of these over the year as 
well as considering the outcome of the annual New 
JNCHES pay negotiations. Any decision to apply a 
cost of living increase to base pay would be applied 
equally to all designated post-holders. 


•	 Individual base pay: Separately to the decision 
on cost of living the committee will also consider 
individual base pay to see whether the remuneration 
for the role has become out of kilter with the 
market. In order to undertake this analysis data 
published by the Universities and Colleges 
Employers Association is used to benchmark across 
relevant institutions in the sector as well as looking 
at analysis of internal salary distributions and giving 
consideration to any changes or developments 
to the role during the period that may justify an 
amendment to remuneration.


Institutional performance


c) Performance pay
As set out in the Remuneration Policy;  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/sites/default/files/ 
download/annual_senior_staff_remuneration_report-3.pdf  
performance pay is based on two components: (i) 
institutional performance based on achievement of the 
target annual surplus; and (ii) individuals’ achievement of 
their personal objectives in relation to the Strategic Plan 
(2030 Strategy). For (ii) individuals work to annually agreed, 
measurable objectives agreed with their line manager. For 
(ii), the Remuneration Committee considers written reports 
on achievement of, or progress against, their objectives, 
with relevant supporting commentary and data. Staff 
are not grouped into categories of performance but are 
considered on an individual basis.


In reaching any decision about performance related 
pay the committee give due consideration to a range of 
factors including: 


- the financial performance of the university, 
- levels of student recruitment, 
- retention and satisfaction, 
-	 development of partnerships, research and innovation 


programmes, commercial ventures, and external 
relations that help to diversify Falmouth University’s 
academic portfolio and income streams as well as 
embed the University as an anchor institution for 
supporting the Cornish economy. 


To assist in these deliberations the committee are 
presented with the following:


•	 Information detailing the institution-wide 
performance metrics 


•	 An assessment of each individual’s performance 
against agreed objectives


•	 Benchmarking data for base salary of comparator roles


d) Institutional performance in relation to key 
indicators for performance pay
In 2017-18, the University met and exceeded its target 
surplus, as detailed in the published annual accounts 
(target 7.6%, final outcome 10.3%). Therefore, this 
component of Performance Related Pay was released. 
Other key indicators considered in relation to personal 
objectives included the following:


Student recruitment: achievement of revised, 
undergraduate full time target for 2018-19 enrolments, 
recognising a year-on-year decrease of 9.27% against 
2017-18 enrolments at the same date. Whilst this does 
represent a year-on-year decrease this was considered 
within the context of a reduction in student numbers 
across the entire sector due to demographic factors and 
a more marked decrease in applications to subjects in 
the creative industries, highlighting that the University’s 
recruitment performance remained in line within the 
wider sector changes.


Student retention: achievement of improved year-on-
year retention (92.66%) vs. 2016-17 (92.35%)


Student satisfaction (National Student Survey): 
reduction in overall satisfaction score from 83% to 80%. 
UK average also saw a reduction in overall satisfaction, 
falling 1% to 83% 


e) Total funds distributed for performance pay
The total value of all payments awarded by the 
Remuneration Committee for the 2017-18 period is £113,231


Note: the Remuneration Committee decided not 
to award cost of living increases to base pay for 
Designated Post Holders for 2018-19.
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f) Aggregate disclosure of how funds for performance 
pay were distributed
The total funds were paid across 17 people, including 
the Vice-Chancellor, payment values were in the 
following bands:


Value of performance pay Number of recipients


Less than £5,000 6


£5,000 – £9,999 7


£10,000 - £14,999 3


£15,000 – 19,999 0


£20,000 + 1


g) Assessment of the Vice-Chancellor’s performance
In assessing the Vice-Chancellor’s performance for 
2017-18, the Remuneration Committee considered  
the following:


- Key metrics listed in (b) above, including the 
challenging recruitment environment for full time, UK 
undergraduate students, achievement of improved 
year-on-year student retention, and a reduction in 
some key National Student Survey metrics


- Full achievement of all personal objectives agreed 
with the Chair of the Board in 2017-18


h) Total remuneration for the Vice-Chancellor
Following deliberations at Remuneration Committee the 
decisions for the Vice-Chancellor remuneration, along 
with comparisons against the previous year, are shown 
in the table below:


Remuneration for the  
Vice-Chancellor 31/7/18 31/7/17


Salary £224,645 £224,441


Performance Related Pay £22,465 £33,697


Benefits £3,382 £3,520


Subtotal £250,492 £261,658


Pension / payment in lieu of 
pension costs


£32,529 £47,563


Total £283,021 £309,221


i) Pay multiples
The Remuneration Committee also note the requirement 
to consider and publish the pay multiple of the Vice-
Chancellor in comparison to the rest of the organisation.


It is noted that the calculation required by the 
Committee of University Chairs’ Senior Staff 
Remuneration Code differs slightly from the calculation 
required by the Office for Students Accounts Directions 
and therefore for clarity each ratio is published below. 


Using the CUC directed calculation, the pay multiple 
of the Vice-Chancellor and the median earnings of the 
institution’s whole workforce is 7.39.


Using the OfS directed calculation, the pay multiple of 
the Vice- chancellor and the median earnings of the 
institution’s whole workforce is 6.7.


Using the OfS directed calculation, the total 
remuneration multiple of the Vice-Chancellor and the 
total remuneration earnings of the institution’s whole 
workforce is 7.27.


External Appointments and Expenses


It is often helpful to the University for its staff to hold 
non-executive director or trustee roles. Any such 
appointment is agreed in advance with the line manager, 
including any declaration of income to be received. 


The Vice-Chancellor holds the following  
external appointments:


•	 A named Director on all of the Launchpad 
Companies and all Falmouth University subsidiaries. 
However, oversight of these companies is a key 
component of the Vice-Chancellor’s role. 


Basic salary of higher paid staff excluding Vice-Chancellor (excluding employer’s pension contributions):
Group University Group University


31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
Number Number Number Number


£100,000 - £104,999 pa 1 1 1 1


£105,000 - £109,999 pa 1 1 - -


£115,000 - £119,999 pa 1 1 1 1


£125,000 - £129,999 pa 1 1 1 1


Average staff numbers (FTEs) by major category: Number Number Number Number
Academic departments 272 272 270 270


Research & innovation 22 22 15 15


Academic support services 32 32 26 26


Administration 111 111 103 103


Premises 6 6 22 22


Other income generation - - 1 1


443 443 437 437


Compensation for loss of office payable to  
a senior post-holder:


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Compensation payable recorded within staff costs - - 42 42


Whilst not formal appointments, the Vice-Chancellor 
also sits on a number of Boards where this develops a 
wider network that is advantageous to the University. 
None of these appointments are remunerated and 
includes the following Boards:


•	 Cornwall Executive Group
•	 Cornwall Place Board
•	 Creative Industries Group (a subsidiary of the C&IoS 


LEP Board)


The University has a single scheme for payment of 
expenses that is applicable to all employees. The Policy is 
available at:  
https://www.falmouth.ac.uk/sites/default/files/download/
annual_senior_staff_remuneration_report-3.pdf
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Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the University. The University 
views its Vice-Chancellor’s Executive Group (VCEG) as 
its key management personnel. 


This consists of 10 roles:
Vice-Chancellor 
Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic)
Chief Operating Officer
Director of Human Resources
Director of Communications
Director of Finance
Property Development Director (to 31 October 2017)
Director of Strategic Innovation Projects 


Staff costs includes compensation paid to key 
management personnel. 


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Key management personnel remuneration 1,051 1,051 1,224 1,224


Governors acting as Trustees 
No governor has received any remuneration or waived 
payments from the group during the year (2017: none).


The total expenses paid to or on behalf of seven 
governors was £3,780 (2016/17: £3,684 paid to seven 
governors). This represents travel and subsistence 
expenses incurred in attending Board, committee 
meetings and charity events in their official capacity.


8 Other operating expenses


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Teaching materials and expenses 3,367 3,367 2,452 2,452


Partnership teaching costs 2,965 2,965 729 729


Library and learning resource costs 1,697 1,697 1,612 1,612


IT support costs 2,005 2,005 1,844 1,844


Student support costs 1,672 1,672 1,501 1,501


Recruitment and restructuring costs 232 232 457 457


Research costs 486 486 461 461


Auditors remuneration - external audit fees 39 38 33 32


Auditors remuneration - internal audit fees 25 25 22 22


Auditors remuneration - non audit fees - - - -


Administrative expenses 2,509 2,509 2,056 2,056


Residential development fees 108 108 450 450


CUC central costs - - 65 65


Advertising and promotional expenses 2,270 2,270 1,864 1,864


Bursaries payable 1,368 1,368 1,627 1,627


Heat, light, rates and water 1,411 1,411 1,203 1,203


Repairs and maintenance to premises 3,956 3,956 4,241 4,241


Inter-campus transport 162 162 154 154


Rents and property leases 61 61 127 127


Other income generation costs 676 666 561 550


25,009 24,998 21,459 21,447
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9 Interest and other finance costs


Group University Group University
31/7/18 31/7/18 31/7/17 31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


On bank loans not wholly repayable  
within five years 202 202 182 182
Pension finance costs 383 383 404 404


585 585 586 586


10 Analysis of 2017/18 expenditure by activity - Group


Staff costs


Other 
operating 
expenses Depreciation


Interest 
payable


2017/18
Total


2016/17
Total


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Academic departments 15,340 6,508 900 - 22,748 19,009
Academic support services 1,111 4,027 82 - 5,220 4,205
Research grants & contracts 1,087 486 - - 1,573 1,284
Residences and catering 347 437 - - 784 695
Premises 716 5,602 2,186 202 8,706 8,767
Administration & central services 7,404 7,706 2 383 15,495 14,685
Other services 287 243 7 - 537 401
Other expenses - - - - - 65


Total 26,292 25,009 3,177 585 55,063 49,111


The depreciation charge has been funded by:
Deferred capital grants 1,569
General income 1,608


3,177


11 Fixed asset schedule


Group


Assets in the 
course of 


construction
£ (000)


Land and 
buildings


£ (000)


Fixtures, fittings 
& equipment


£ (000)
Total


£ (000)


Cost or valuation
B/f as at 1 August 2017 1,937 107,331 18,210 127,478
Additions 5,457 1,706 1,429 8,592
Transfers (1,553) 1,553 - -
Disposals - - (65) (65)
C/f as at 31 July 2018 5,841 110,590 19,574 136,005


Depreciation
B/f as at 1 August 2017                - 5,820 16,517 22,337
Charge for the year                - 2,075 1,102 3,177
Depreciation on disposals                - - (47) (47)
C/f as at 31 July 2018                - 7,895 17,572 25,467


Net book value
As at 31 July 2017 1,937 101,511 1,693 105,141


As at 31 July 2018 5,841 102,695 2,002 110,538


University
Cost or valuation
B/f as at 1 August 2017 1,937 107,415 17,872 127,224
Additions 5,457 1,706 1,429 8,592
Transfers (1,553) 1,553 - -
Disposals - - (65) (65)
C/f as at 31 July 2018 5,841 110,674 19,236 135,751


Depreciation
B/f as at 1 August 2017                - 5,820 16,291 22,111
Charge for the year                - 2,075 1,102 3,177
Depreciation on disposals                - - (47) (47)
C/f as at 31 July 2018                - 7,895 17,346 25,241


Net Book Value
As at 31 July 2017 1,937 101,595 1,581 105,113


As at 31 July 2018 5,841 102,779 1,890 110,510


Land and buildings have previously been revalued in 
accordance with the old basis of accounting (2007 
SORP) and on transition to FRS 102. The valuations as at 
the date of transition have been taken as deemed cost. 


Land and buildings were professionally valued on the 
basis of depreciated replacement cost by Alder King, 
Chartered Surveyors, Newham Road, Truro on 31 July 
2014.  Properties have been valued on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost.  
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12 Investment assets


Group University Group University
2018 2018 2017 2017


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Investment in subsidiary 
companies  -  3 - 1


Interest in associates 28 28 15 15
Interest in jointly 
controlled entity - - - -


28 31 15 16


The University owns 100% of the issued share capital of 
the following companies:


Name Company registered number


Falmouth Enterprises Limited (FEL) 2517317


Falmouth Ventures Limited 10720916


Falmouth Agency Limited 11105902


The principal activity of FEL is the provision of services 
to businesses which include the use of the Media, 
Photography, Performance and Design Centres’ 
facilities and staff expertise.


Falmouth Ventures Limited has been set up to hold 
Launchpad activity.


The principal activity of Falmouth Agency Limited is 
the operation of an employment agency for student 
workers. The accounts of Falmouth Agency Limited 
are unaudited as it has claimed exemption under s479A 
Companies Act 2006. The University has provided a 
guarantee in respect of all of the company’s outstanding 
liabilities at 31 July 2018.


All of the above are companies registered in England 
and Wales.


The University also owns 50% of Falmouth Exeter 
Plus (FX Plus); a company limited by guarantee which 
in turn owns 100% of the issued share capital (100 £1 
Ordinary Shares) in Tremough Development Vehicle 
Ltd (TDV) and 100% of the issued share capital (2 £1 
Ordinary Shares) in Cornwall Plus Limited.  These jointly 
controlled entities with University of Exeter (UoE) have 
been established to provide the operational aspects 
(through FX Plus and Cornwall Plus) and construction 
(through TDV) of the Penryn campus.


The objects of FX Plus are to advance the education of 
the public by providing and assisting in the provision of 
higher education facilities in Cornwall.
In accordance with FRS 102, the Group is required to 
disclose its share of assets and liabilities in FX Plus.  As 
at the year end these were as follows:


2018 2017
£ (000) £ (000)


Share of fixed assets 40,982 41,689


Share of current assets 3,127 3,543


Share of current liabilities (3,237) (3,500)


Share of long-term liabilities (23,449) (24,733)


Share of pension liability (4,002) (4,095)


13,421 12,904


Share of income 14,593 14,486


Share of (deficit)/surplus for the year (341) 360


Share of tax payable - -


Share of total comprehensive income 519 1,276


Interest in associates comprises:


Name Company number Shares % shareholding
Hertzian Limited 09753777 302 24.7
Burning Arrow Limited  
(in voluntary arrangement) 09755439 273 25
Cove Entertainment Limited  
(in voluntary arrangement) 09767297 50 25
Polygrammatic Limited 09753453 25 25
Relative Dimensions Studios Limited 09757678 250 25
Stormtide Limited 09757655 255 25


The above companies are spin-out companies mentored by the University.  
Shares in these companies are gifted on incorporation. 
No value has been included in the financial statements on the basis that they are not material.


Other non-current investments of the University comprise:


Name Company number Shares % shareholding


Atlantic Press Limited 05122849 10 10


Stream TV Limited 08471003 100 5


Shares in these companies were gifted to the University and no value was attributed  
on acquisition.


All companies are registered in England and Wales and operate in the UK.
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13 Debtors


Group University Group University
2018 2018 2017 2017


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Fees and charges 325 325 249 249
Trade debtors 1,251 1,244 661 660
Prepayments and accrued income 607 607 273 273
ERDF and ESF grants due 876 876 800 800
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - - 27
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entity 127 127 - -
Sundry debtors 18 18 31 31
Bad debt reserve (94) (94) (137) (137)
 3,110 3,103 1,877 1,903
Falling due after more than one year:
Loan 500 500 - -
Total 3,610 3,603 1,877 1,903


14 Creditors – amounts falling due within one year


Group University Group University
2018 2018 2017 2017


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Bank loan 250 250 251 251
Salix loan - - 40 40
HEFCE - - 222 222
Bank overdraft 51 51 33 33
Trade creditors 1,705 1,705 855 855
Accruals and deferred income 5,179 5,139 6,169 6,167
Social security and other taxation 866 865 810 810
Amounts owed to group undertakings - 26 - -
Amounts owed to jointly controlled entities - - 699 699
Other creditors 67 67 22 22


8,118 8,103 9,101 9,099


Deferred income includes grants receivable in respect of funding for construction costs of the buildings at Penryn. 
Funders include the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, and Cornwall Council.


15 Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year


Group and University
2018 2017


£ (000) £ (000)


Accruals and Deferred income 55,837 54,521


Bank loans 7,100 5,351


62,937 59,872


Group and University


2018 2017


Amounts repayable on loans: £ (000) £ (000)


In one year or less 250 291


In more than one year but not more than two years 251 251


In more than two years but not more than five years 994 918


In more than five years 5,855 4,182


7,350 5,642


Amount Term Interest rate
£ (000) %


Lloyds Bank plc 282 2022 0.2% above base rate
Lloyds Bank plc 2,993 2035 2.25% above base rate
RBS 4,075 2027 1.3% above base rate


7,350
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16 Provisions for liabilities 


Enhanced  
Pension Provision


Relocation 
costs Total


Group & University £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Balance at 1 August 2017 653 26 679


Transferred from Income  
and expenditure 30 - 30


Utilised in the year (48) (5) (53)


Balance at 31 July 2018 635 21 656


The enhanced pension provision represents an estimate 
of the expected future cost of enhancements to the 
pensions of qualifying staff. These have been negotiated 
on an individual basis with staff taking early retirement, or 
in two cases, have been inherited as part of contractual 
terms. The number of employees to which the pension 
relates was 16 at 31 July 2018. The provision is calculated 
based on the total capital cost with an allowance for 
future investment returns in excess of inflation.


Provision has also been made for relocation costs of up 
to £8,000 less amounts already claimed per employee 
expected to relocate. The number of employees to 
which the provision relates was 5.


17 Endowments


Group and University
2018 2017


Permanent and expendable 
endowments £ (000) £ (000)
Balance brought forward   27 27
Bursaries awarded - -
Balance carried forward 27 27


Endowment assets relate to two Denis Mitchell 
sculptures and a Michael Finn painting donated to and 
held in the University at valuation.


18 Revaluation reserve


Group University Group University
2018 2018 2017 2017


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


Balance brought forward 14,232 - 41,698 27,206
Transferred to Income 
and expenditure account 
(note 1) - - (27,206) (27,206)
Share of movement in 
jointly controlled entity’s 
revaluation reserve (260) - (260) -


13,972 - 14,232 -


The revaluation reserve was transferred to the income and expenditure 
reserve in the previous year as assets are no longer being revalued.


19 Analysis of changes in net funds


At 1 Aug 
2017 Cashflows


At 31 July 
2018


£ (000) £ (000) £ (000)
Cash and cash equivalents 17,147 3,004 20,151


Overdraft (33) (18) (51)
Total   17,114 2,986 20,100


	


20 Pension schemes 
(Group and University)
The University’s employees belong to two principal 
pension schemes, the Teachers’ Pensions Scheme (TPS) 
and the Cornwall Pension Fund.   
The total pension cost for the period was as follows:


 31/7/18  31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000)


CC Pension Scheme: Charge to the Income 
and expenditure account (note 7) 2,925 2,230
USS Pension Scheme: contributions paid (note 7) 12 11
Teachers’ Pension Scheme: contributions paid 
(note 7) 1,429 1,454


4,366 3,695
Enhanced pension charge to Income and 
expenditure account  (note 16) 48 47
Total pension cost for the year  4,414  3,742


Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)
The Teachers’ Pension Scheme is accounted for as a 
defined contribution pension scheme on the basis that it 
is not possible for the scheme to separately identify the 
University’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
in the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis.  
The Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, 
contributory, defined benefit scheme.  The regulations 
under which the TPS operates are the Teachers’ 
Pensions Regulations 1997, as amended.  These 
regulations apply to teachers in schools and other 
educational establishments in England and Wales 
maintained by local authorities (LAs), to teachers in 
many independent and voluntary-aided schools, and 
to teachers and lecturers in establishments of further 
and higher education.  Membership is automatic for 
full-time teachers or lecturers and from 1 January 2007 
automatic too for teachers or lecturers in part-time 
employment following appointment or a change of 
contract.  Teachers are able to opt out of the TPS.


Although teachers are employed by LAs and various 
other bodies, their retirement and other pension 
benefits, including annual increases payable under 
the Pensions (Increase) Acts are, as provided for in the 
Superannuation Act 1972, paid out of monies provided 
by Parliament.  Under the unfunded TPS, teachers’ 
contributions on a ‘pay-as-you-go’ basis, and employers’ 
contributions, are credited to the Exchequer under 
arrangements governed by the above Act.


The Teachers’ Pensions Regulations require an annual 
account, the Teachers’ Pension Account, to be kept of 
receipts and expenditure (including the cost of pensions’ 
increases).  From 1 April 2001, the account will be credited 
with a real rate of return (in excess of price increases and 
currently set at 3.5%), which is equivalent to assuming 
that the balance in the account is invested in notional 
investments that produce that real rate of return.


Not less than every four years, with a supporting interim 
valuation in-between, the Government Actuary (GA), 
using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal 
actuarial review of the TPS.  The aim of the review is to 
specify the level of future contributions. 


Contributions are assessed in two parts.  Firstly, 
a standard contribution is determined.  This is the 
contribution, expressed as a percentage of the salary 
of a teacher / lecturer entering service, which would 
defray the cost of benefits payable in respect of that 
service.  Secondly, a supplementary contribution is 
payable if, as a result of the actuarial investigation, it 
is found that accumulated liabilities of the Account 
for benefits to past and present teachers, are not fully 
covered by normal contributions to be paid in future and 
by the fund built up from past contributions. 


The last valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 
March 2012.  The GA’s report revealed that the total 
liabilities of the Scheme (pensions currently in payment 
and the estimated cost of future benefits) amounted to 
£191,500m.  The value of the assets (estimated future 
contributions together with the proceeds from the 
notional investments held at the valuation date) was 
£176,600m.  The assumed real rate of return is 3% in 
excess of prices and 0.25% in excess of earnings.  The 
rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.75%.  
The assumed gross rate of return is 5.06%. 


The latest published accounts (2017-18) estimated that 
the total liabilities of the scheme were £361,500m using 
the assumptions of a real rate of return of 0.1% in excess 
of pension increases and 1.35% in excess of earnings 
decreases.  The rate of return was assumed to be 2.55%.  


Employees pay tiered contribution rates ranging from 
7.4% to 11.7% according to their salary band. Employer 
rates are 16.48%.
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Retirement benefits disclosure
The University is a member of the Cornwall Pension Fund, 
a funded defined benefit scheme in the UK.  The total 
contribution made for the year ended 31 July 2018 was 
£2,275k (2017: £2,020k) of which employer’s contributions 
totalled £1,724k (2017: £1,536k) and employees’ 
contributions totalled £551k (2017: £484k). 


The actuarial valuation of the scheme at 31 March 2016 
showed a deficit of £486m.  Employers’ contribution 
rates during the year were 18.1% plus an annual lump sum 
of £249,700 to March 2018 and 18.1% plus an annual lump 
sum of £326,800 from April 2018. In 2019/20 the rate will 
be 18.1% and the lump sum £376,000. Employees pay 
tiered contributions and these were between 5.5% and 
12.5% (2017: 5.5% to 12.5%). 


The following information is based upon a full actuarial 
valuation of the fund at 31 March 2014 rolled forward to 
31 July 2018 by a qualified independent actuary.  For this 
purpose the rate used to discount the liabilities is based 
on the rate of return of an AA rated corporate bond and 
the investments have been valued at bid value.


Actuarial assumptions
The major assumptions used  
by the actuary were:


2018
%


2017
%


Rate of increase in salaries 2.5 2.5


Inflation - CPI 2.4 2.4


Rate of increase for pensions in payment 2.4 2.4


Discount rate for liabilities 2.8 2.7


Commutation of pensions to lump sums- 
membership post 1 April 2012 


70.0 70.0


Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves with 
improvements in line with the CMI 2013 model assuming the 
current rate of improvements has peaked and will converge to 
a long term rate of 1.25% p.a. 


Males Females
Current Pensioners 22.1 years 24.5 years
Future Pensioners * 24.0 years 26.4 years
* Figures assume members aged 45 as at the last formal valuation date


Scheme assets
The fair value of the scheme’s assets, which are not 
intended to be realised in the short term and may be 
subject to significant change before they are realised, 
and the present value of the scheme’s liabilities, which 
are derived from cash flow projections over long 
periods and thus inherently uncertain, were:


Long-term 
rate of 
return


expected at
31 July 2018


%


Bid value at
31 July 2018


 £(000)


Long-
term rate 
of return


expected 
at


31 July 
2017


%


Bid value 
at


31 July 
2017


£(000)


Equities 2.8 13,191 2.7 11,381


Bonds 2.8 12,349 2.7 10,413


Property 2.8 2,245 2.7 1,695


Cash 2.8 281 2.7 726
Estimated 
employers’ share 
of scheme assets 28,066 24,215
Present value 
of scheme 
liabilities- 
Funded (40,863) (37,808)
Deficit in the 
scheme (12,797) (13,593)


The University employs a building block approach in 
determining the rate of return on fund assets. Historical 
markets are studied and assets with higher volatility 
are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with 
widely accepted capital market principles. The assumed 
rate of return on each asset class is set out within this 
note. The overall expected rate of return on assets is 
then derived by aggregating the expected rate of return 
for each asset class over the actual asset allocation for 
the Fund as at 31 July 2018. 


Actual return on assets
2018 2017


£’000 £’000


Actual return on assets 2,002 1,320


Analysis of the amount charged to Income and 
Expenditure account


2018 
£(000)


2017 
£(000)


Current service cost 2,930 2,220


Total operating charge 2,930 2,220


Analysis of pension finance costs
2018 


£(000)
2017 


£(000)
Interest income on plan assets (678) (552)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 1,061 956


Net cost 383 404


Amount recognised in other comprehensive income 
(OCI)


2018 
£(000)


2017 
£(000)


Actuarial gain recognised in OCI in  
the year


2,388 3,363


Cumulative actuarial loss recognised in 
OCI at 1 August


(6,469) (9,832)


Cumulative actuarial loss recognised in 
OCI at 31 July


(4,081) (6,469)


Asset and Liability Reconciliation
2018 2017


Reconciliation of Liabilities £ (000) £ (000)


Liabilities at start of period 37,808 37,138
Current service cost 2,930 2,220
Interest cost 1,061 956
Employee contributions 551 484
Remeasurements* (1,064) (2,595)
Estimated benefits paid (426) (412)
Losses on curtailments 3 17


Liabilities at end of period 40,863 37,808


Reconciliation of Assets


Assets at start of period 24,215 21,287
Interest income on plan assets 678 552
Remeasurements** 1,324 768
Employer contributions 1,724 1,536
Employee contributions 551 484
Estimated benefits paid (net of transfers in) (426) (412)


Assets at end of period 28,066 24,215


* Remeasurements of liabilities 1,064 2,595
** Remeasurements of assets 1,324 768
Actuarial gain recognised in OCI at  
31 July- University 2,388 3,363
Share of joint venture’s actuarial gain 859 916
Actuarial gain recognised in OCI at  
31 July- Group 3,247 4,279


History of liabilities, assets and experience adjustments


2018 
£(000)


 2017 
£(000)


2016 
£(000)


2015 
£(000)


 2014 
£(000)


Scheme liabilities (40,863) (37,808) (37,138) (30,397) (24,527)


Scheme assets 28,066 24,215 21,287 19,666 16,962


Deficit (12,797) (13,593) (15,851) (10,731) (7,565)


Experience 
adjustments on 
Scheme liabilities


1,064 1,818 275 143 691


Experience 
adjustments on 
Scheme assets


1,324 768 (537) 532 (1,214)
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On 26 October, the High Court handed down a 
judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes. The judgment concluded 
the schemes should be amended to equalise pension 
benefits for men and women in relation to guaranteed 
minimum pension benefits, “GMP”. The Government 
will need to consider this outcome in conjunction 
with the Government’s recent consultation on GMP 
indexation in public sector schemes before concluding 
on any changes required to LGPS schemes.


Pension scheme – USS (Group and University)


The total cost charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income is £12K (2017: £11K).


The latest available full actuarial valuation of the scheme 
was at 31 March 2014 (“the valuation date”), which was 
carried out using the projected unit method. The 2017 
actuarial valuation of USS has been undertaken but this 
has not yet been formally completed.


Since the Group cannot identify its share of scheme 
assets and liabilities, the following disclosures reflect 
those relevant for the scheme as a whole. 


The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS 
under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced 
by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes 
to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to 
have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their 
technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value of 
the assets of the scheme was £41.6 billion and the value 
of the scheme’s technical provisions was £46.9 billion 
indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. The assets therefore 
were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits which had 
accrued to members after allowing for expected future 
increases in earnings. 


Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme have 
been produced using the following assumptions:


2018 2017
Discount rate 2.64% 2.57%
Pensionable salary growth n/a n/a


Pension increases (CPI) 2.02% 2.41%


The main demographic assumption used relates to the 
mortality assumptions. These assumptions have been 
updated for the 31 March 2018 accounting position, based 
on updated analysis of the Scheme’s experience carried 
out as part of the 2017 actuarial valuation.  The mortality 
assumptions used in these figures are as follows:  


2018 2017
Mortality base 
table


Pre-retirement: 71% of 
AMC00 (duration 0) for 


males and 112% of AFC00 
(duration 0) for females. 


98% of SAPS S1NA “light” 
YOB unadjusted for males.


 Post retirement: 96.5% of 
SAPS S1NMA “light” for 


males and 101.3% of RFV00 
for females. 


99% of SAPS S1NA 
“light” YOB with a -1 year 
adjustment for females. 


Future 
improvements 
to mortality


CMI_2016 with a 
smoothing parameter 
of 8.5 and a long term 


improvement rate of 1.8% 
pa for males and 1.6% pa 


for females. 


CMI_2014 with a long 
term rate of 1.5% p.a.


The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:


2018 2017
Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.5 24.4


Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.0 26.6


Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.5 26.5


Females currently aged 45 (years) 27.8 29.0


2018 2017
Scheme assets £63.6bn £60.0bn


Total scheme liabilities £72.0bn £77.5bn


FRS 102 total scheme deficit £8.4bn £17.5bn


FRS 102 total funding level 88% 77%


21 Capital commitments


Group and University
2018 2017


£ (000) £ (000)


Authorised but not committed 5,039 6,227


Commitments contracted at 31 July 1,421 6,349


Amounts authorised are in respect of works on capital 
projects for the Penryn campus less commitments to date.  
Funding for these projects will be from new loan finance or 
internally generated cash.  Commitments contracted relate 
to the design work that had been awarded to contractors at 
the year end date.


22 Financial commitments


Amounts payable under non-cancellable operating 
leases were as follows:


Group and University
2018 2017


£ (000) £ (000)
Land and buildings   
In one year or less - 55
In more than one year but not more  
than two years - 50
In more than two years but not more  
than five years - 68
In more than five years - -
Total - 173


The University guarantees 50% of FX Plus’ bank loans 
totalling £24m as at the year end (total loans are £48m). 
These term loans are repayable over various terms up 
to 39 years and £16.4m is at a fixed interest rate.  The 
commitment that sits with Falmouth has an annual 
repayment requirement of £725k whilst the remainder rests 
with FX Plus and is met through the annual rental income 
which, for 2018/19, is projected to be £10m.


The University and UoE have undertaken to pass on 
sufficient funds (including specific grants) to the FX Plus 
group to enable it to meet its contractual commitments to 
deliver the campus buildings and student accommodation 
at Penryn and to enable the group to continue to trade. 


23 Related-party transactions


Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the 
composition of the Board (with members being drawn 
from local, public and private sector organisations) 
it is inevitable that transactions will take place with 
organisations in which a Board member may have 
an interest. All transactions involving organisations 
in which a Board member may have an interest are 
conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with 
the University’s financial regulations and normal 
procurement procedures, which require individuals to 
declare any interest.


The financial statements include fees payable to Francis 
Clark LLP of £35,040. Andrew Allen (Board member) is 
a partner in this organisation. 


The University has taken advantage of the exemption 
under FRS 102 not to disclose transactions with 
subsidiaries that are 100% owned.


The University holds a 50% share of FX Plus, a company 
limited by guarantee, having no share capital and for 
which exempt charitable status has been obtained. FX 
Plus is a jointly controlled entity owned equally by the 
University and UoE.


FX Plus has been established to operate student and 
commercial services for the Penryn Campus under a 
shared services agreement.


The University and UoE have continued to guarantee 
sums of £9.3m and £6.25m each to Lloyds Bank Plc, 
in respect of the borrowings of £18.6m and £12.5m 
respectively to FX Plus. They have also guaranteed 
£10.25m each to Barclays Bank plc in respect of 
borrowings of £20.5m and £4m each to the European 
Investment Bank and Lloyds Bank plc in respect of 
borrowings of £8m.
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Cornwall Plus Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of FX 
Plus. It has been established to operate the commercial, 
non-charitable activities of the jointly controlled entity 
primarily relating to non-student letting of residences, 
non-academic conferences, external events and 
corporate hospitality for third parties.


TDV is a wholly owned subsidiary of FX Plus. It was 
established to provide the construction of the main 
campus for the Combined Universities in Cornwall 
project based at Penryn and became dormant at the end 
of the previous year.  


The FX Plus Group has capital commitments as follows:


2018 2017
£ (000) £ (000)


Authorised but not committed 8,255 10,375
Commitments contracted at 31 July 2018 512 445


Amounts authorised are in respect of various projects 
at the Penryn campus less commitments to date.  These 
projects will be fully funded by the two institutions.


Transactions between the University and FX Plus (which 
are all shown on an arms’ length basis) were as follows:


Purchases 
from 


related 
parties


Sales to 
related 
parties


Amounts 
owed to 
related 


party


Amounts 
owed by 


related 
party


Falmouth 
Exeter Plus 
Group £ (000) £ (000) £ (000) £ (000)


2018 11,210 165 - 127


2017 9,947 60 699 -


Balances due to and from the jointly controlled entity 
are shown in note 13 Debtors and note 14 Creditors – 
amounts due within one year. 


Students’ Union (FXU)
The Students’ Union has not been consolidated in 
the University’s financial statements because the 
University does not exercise a significant influence 
over its operations. Grants were paid to FXU during the 
year as follows:


Year to Year to
 31/7/18  31/7/17
£ (000) £ (000)


Block grant 516 481


Sports 30 30


546 511


24 Non-adjusting post balance  
sheet events


On 26 October, the High Court handed down a 
judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes. The judgment concluded 
the schemes should be amended to equalise pension 
benefits for men and women in relation to guaranteed 
minimum pension benefits. The issues determined by 
the judgment arise in relation to many other defined 
benefit pension schemes. For the University’s USS 
scheme the provision included within the financial 
statements at note 20 will only be impacted to the 
extent the change in benefits increases cash financing.


On 23 November 2018 the consolidated financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Governing 
Body and do not reflect events after this date.
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 ANNEX A 


STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER           


Index of risks included in the Strategic Risk Register  


 
# Risk description Rating 


01 Failure to achieve enrolment growth targets through poor adaption to changing market and customer demand 
 


RED 


02 Failure to deliver a high quality student experience across the University 
 


RED 


03 Failure to manage student retention within the University’s targets 
RED 


04 Failure to maintain student related data quality, management, control and resilience  
 


RED 


05 Failure to ensure sufficient availability of accommodation for students to meet growth plans, meet planning obligations and manage impact of 
growth on local community 


AMBER 


06 Failure to manage the University’s Information governance and cyber security obligations and requirements of GDPR 
AMBER 


07 Failure to optimise utilisation of the physical estate over the long term in line with the University’s growth plans through appropriate systems 
development and reporting, maintenance, modification, replacement and limited new build 


AMBER 


08 Failure to drive, and incentivise, high performance and innovative behaviours from staff AMBER 


09 Failure to deliver high levels of student employability and employer engagement 
 


AMBER 


10 Failure to deliver the planned progress of Research & Innovation 
 


AMBER 


11 Failure to achieve Research Degree Awarding Powers by 2020 
 


AMBER 


12 Failure to retain UKV Visas and Immigration (UKVI) Highly Trusted status 
 


AMBER 


13 Failure to manage the University’s pensions liabilities 


 
AMBER 
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Risk 01: Failure to achieve enrolment growth targets through poor adaptation to changing market and customer demand  


Owners: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor, and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 


Recent actions taken 


1. Successful launch of new provision within Falmouth 


Global (e.g. Games at ACM London) and Falmouth 


Flexible (MA Illustration, BA(Hons) Top Up in 


Photography, etc.) 


2. Launch of first accelerated degrees in Falmouth 


Business School, and in Technical Theatre Arts. 


3. Agreed the 2030 Falmouth Flexible strategy, including 


a projected student body of 4425 across 38 


undergraduate and postgraduate degree courses by 


2030.  


4. Business cases approved for  new on-campus provision 


in the Games Academy 


5. European Social Funding approved under ‘Innovation 


in Higher level skills’ for Falmouth to develop degree 


level apprenticeships. 


6. Market-led, data-driven reports (undergraduate 


market, competitor analysis, application and 


enrolment data, NSS, DLHE, Economic Outlook and 


Labour Market Intelligence) now available, by course, 


to inform continuous  review of Recruitment 


Performance. 


 


 


Actions planned 


1. Completion of the 2030 Portfolio Strategy (to frame development of our on-campus, on-line and 


off-campus product and pedagogy) and supporting toolkit; first projects launched. 


2. Appointment of a Chief Marketing Officer – in particular to strengthen our capacity anticipating 


market shifts, identifying new markets, understanding changing market behaviours, forecasting 


trends, prototyping new products, market testing, analysing competitors, etc. in order to 


accelerate the continuing diversification of our portfolio. 


3. Growth of Falmouth Flexible: four new course launches this year plus development of online 


provision with the Fashion Retail Academy. 


4. Growth of Falmouth Global: new provision at existing partners but also new partnerships (e.g. 


LCCM in London, ISCA in India). 


5. Expansion of the Games Academy (in Creative VR and Immersive Computing) from 2019. 


6. Re-branding/re-launch of FBS as ‘Falmouth School of Entrepreneurship’ 


7. Approval of an inter-disciplinary BA (Hons) Design degree with associated Innovation Lab. 


8. Launch of first, online short courses through Falmouth Flexible (the ‘Red Academy’ with HEARST 


publishing). 


9. Detailed review and SMART action plan for under-recruiting courses/subjects. 


10. Closer alignment with UK-based international foundation providers - e.g. CSVPA, Bellerbys, INTO.  


11. Continued development of a Degree Apprenticeship offer in Tourism/Hospitality and/or Fashion 


Buying & Merchandising.  


12. Strengthening our marketing function (planning, campaigns, execution) 


13. Various process improvements: (i) new Online Admissions Portal, (ii) adoption of Direct 


Application Process (particularly for International/EU applicants), (iii) launch of Recognising 


Talent Scheme (to incentivise high-performance in applicants as part of this year’s approach to 


Unconditional Offers),(iv) launch of refreshed website with UniBuddy embedded – allowing 


trained student ambassadors to engage, support and convert prospects; and (v) more Interview 


Days and mini-Open Days. 
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Risk indicators  
1. Management Information System (MIS) data on 


application, offer, acceptance and enrolment rates 
2. Comparative UCAS application data. 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium High RED 
 


 


 


Risk 02: Failure to deliver a high quality student experience across the University 


Owners: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor, and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 


Recent actions taken  


1. The second phase of Core Academic Training (CAT) was delivered on the 13th-15th of June 


2018 to 90% of substantive staff as a Learning & Teaching Conference focusing on 


strategic enhancement themes. The conference was entitled ‘2030’ and focussed on: 


Open Innovation, Interdisciplinarity and ‘Doing it for Real’. The first of the three days 


focussed on Research (REF, RDAP) and days 2 and 3 had international keynotes and 


internal peer-reviewed papers. All the conference was filmed and will be available for all 


staff including Associate Lecturers and new starters. Last year’s CAT was launched as an 


online resource.  


2. The ‘Making the Curriculum Framework Clearer’ Project has established a clear 


framework for curriculum description, design, development and review and will ensure 


that all of our courses have well-designed forms of assessment with feedback that is 


timely and constructive. MCC has delivered an enhanced, common framework and 


introduced Common Assessment Criteria across the University. The MCC team have 


successfully imported 823 modules (entire curriculum as of 16/17) into the Curriculum 


Management System (CMS) database. This process has been repeated for the 17/18 data 


and the new CMS  is being used since April 2018. Eleven courses have now been 


validated under the new MCC principles. The complete system has now gone live and 


the Games Academy have been directly using the Curriculum Management System for 


their validations. It is planned that all courses will have been through the MCC process 


by Autumn 2019. 


3. A review of Associate Lecturers (ALs) was undertaken to ensure that we understand the 


broad range of skills and experience that this group brings to the student experience and 


Actions planned 


1. Innovation Lab – ’the University is a launchpad’ – 60 credit module 


open to all students in 2nd year – challenge-based, multi-


disciplinary teamwork, boot camp for entrepreneurial and 


business content. 


2. Explore the possibility of developing an Assessment and Feedback 


system to ensure the University is delivering appropriate levels of 


Assessment and Feedback on time. If implemented, Quality 


Assurance and Enhancement (QAE) will manage the system and 


develop a set of enhanced training to support Academics to follow 


best practice.  


3. Completion of the 2030 Portfolio Strategy to frame the 


development of a more distinctive, compelling and future-proof 


pedagogy. The resultant operational projects will be planned and 


resourced. A number of Task & Finish Groups are being initiated to 


deliver this. 


4. In this academic year teaching is not timetabled for Wednesday 


afternoons. Wednesday Open Workshops (WOW) are to be 


introduced, opening up our workshops to allow students to 


acquire new skills and create new connections across all of the 


University’s technical areas. 
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is now complete. A key element of this review  was to ensure we have the most up to 


date information on ALs’ experience, industry connections, skills and currency.  


4. A Module Planning Tool has been introduced across the University to allow Directors to 


plan teaching resource to deliver an average of 12 hours contact teaching time for each 


student across the University and fully utilise the teaching resource in each Department. 


This has allowed AL budgets to be signed-off and the agreed teaching resource 


populated the proposed Work Allocation Model (WAM). The MPT has been used to 


challenge Directors on the deployment of substantive staff and ensure that there is 


alignment with Timetabling. The MPT will now be further developed in 2018-19 to 


ensure it becomes the only way staff resourcing is planned and deployed.  


5. This Digital Attendance (formerly Attendance Monitoring Project) has been initiated to 


enhance the current process and associated data. Attendance Monitoring is key to 


understanding student engagement and welfare, as well as ensuring compliance in 


relation to our UKVI Tier 4 license. A successful pilot  was undertaken in the School of 


Film and Television (SOFT) and with results now available and the system is planned to 


be deployed across the University for full roll-out in academic year 2019-20.  
6. A Virtual Learning Environment (VLE) upgrade was completed by August 2018 and will 


transform the design and interaction of the Learning Space. Additionally, Academics 


have been trained and asked to align content to a set of University-wide principles.  


 


Risk indicators  


1. Module feedback surveys which follow the topics and format of the NSS 


2. National league table, subject table and Times Higher survey positions  
3. NSS results (published in August annually) 
4. Outcomes of Teaching Excellence Framework and annual metrics 
 
Latest TEF metrics for teaching quality (November 2017): 


a) The teaching on my course: at or near benchmark (neutral rating) 
b) Assessment and feedback: double positive flag (highest possible rating) 


 
 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium High RED 
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Risk 03: Failure to manage student retention within the University’s targets 


Owners: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor, and Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 


Recent actions taken  


1. The Retention Project successfully completed and final 


report presented to VCEG, approved at AQSC and noted 


at Academic Board.  Proposals are now being embedded. 


2. Measuring Retention, Working in partnership with FXU, 


Support for Failure, Attendance Monitoring and 


Inductions have been actioned. 


3. 3. The Workshops Festival has now delivered  a full year 


of workshops (delivered when Academics are assessing) 


4. Workshop Festival 2.0 – the festival has been 


extended and grown (including Wednesday 


afternoons).  


5. Student Support and Academic Skills (across 


Falmouth and FXPLUS) has re-structured so that the 


service can respond to student needs.   


6. A  Learner Analytics project to develop Falmouth’s 


approach to Learner Analytics when Digital 


Attendance is deployed across the University has 


been initiated. 


 


Actions planned 


 


1. Enhance students perception of Value for Money by developing a  ‘Falmouth Player’, a streaming 


service to give all of our students free, on-demand access to inspiring, well-produced content 


from across the University. It is proposed that the service is run through MAYN Creative, our 


award-winning in-house photography and video agency to allow more of our students to get the 


opportunity to grow their professional experience by working 


2. Develop an Umbrella Agency – a University-wide structure developed under which subsidiary 


companies launched (using MAYN model) – Production House, Games Development Studio, 


Events Company, Design Studio, Made For By, Architectural Agency, etc. 


3. Intermitting Students: Develop a process for keeping intermitting students engaged and to 


support them on return to their studies.  


4. Resilience: Investigate possibility of ‘emotional resilience workshops’ to support students 


emotional and mental wellbeing  


5. Pre-Enrolment: Look to engage with students before they arrive (beyond Student Mentor 


contact), to develop institutional understanding of the curriculum.  


6. Explore possibility of ‘I am experiencing difficulties’ button on VLE  


7. Clearing Students: Find ways to support Clearing students in their first year at Falmouth and ensure 


that they feel ‘entitled to study at Falmouth’.  


8. One Digital Platform: Develop a ‘one-stop solution’ for students to reduce the variety and number 


of different digital platforms that students needed to access for information  


9. Academic training for Mental Health: Training and support around academic responsibility 


versus Student Services for students with mental health & wellbeing issues  


10. Reasons and time for withdrawal: Capture in greater detail the reasons why people withdraw, 


what the spikes of withdrawal are and develop a plan to anticipate the trigger points to 


successfully divert withdrawals. 


11. Assessment: Review assessment submission points to ensure these are reasonable for students 


and staff and use formative assessment throughout the study block to alleviate submission loads  


12. Benchmarking: Benchmark subject-level retention against other Institutions 


Risk indicators  


1. Retention, returner and completion data for each course. 


Overall net risk rating 
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2. Module evaluation scores for each course, each 


semester. 


3. NSS scores for course organisation and management. 


4. Teaching Excellence Framework scores for student 


retention. 


 


Latest TEF metrics for student retention (November 2017): 


a) Academic support: single positive flag (significantly 


above benchmark) 


b) Continuation: neutral (at or nor benchmark) 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


High Medium RED 
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Risk 04: Failure to maintain student related data quality, management, control and resilience 


Owner: Chief Operating Officer 


Recent actions taken  


1. Delivery of Year 1 of SITS Transformation Programme (STP), bringing 


improvements in data quality, business process and data ownership 


2. Assessment Innovation Review delivered, identifying business process change 


and productivity enhancements with an action plan to be delivered through 


STP Year 2 


3. Implementation of new Online Admissions Office, as a part of STP, to improve 


control over applicant data and enhanced data validation. 


4. Creation of HESA Reporting Dashboard, enabling feeder data departments to 


monitor HESA data health during the year 


5. SITS Transformation Programme approved for Year 2 of delivery to address 


HESA Data Futures, support retention & wellbeing, enhance the applicant 


journey and focus on further business efficiencies and data quality 


6. Student Record Summary released in SITS to all MyFalmouth users, giving 


access to the student record set for all web users. 


7. Further enhancements to the suite of SITS data quality reports 


8. New admissions dashboard in testing to monitor applicant data through the 


admissions lifecycle 


9. FX Plus IT High Availability project commenced, to address system resiliency 


10. FX Plus IT Data Warehouse project in progress, ensuring documentation of all 


warehouse data items, feeds and connectivity. 


Actions planned 


1. Continued implementation of phased SITS Transformation Programme 


across years 2 and 3, driving improvements in data quality, business 


efficiency and student experience 


2. Proactive approach to HESA Data Futures in liaison with Tribal 


consultancy 


3. Data-driven analysis of current student retention challenges at course 


and module level. 


4. Further refinement and creation of data quality and exception reports 


within SITS and MIS aligned to new SITS developments. 


5. Continue to ensure responsibilities for SITS data ownership, outside of 


Student Administration data sets, are understood and embraced across 


the organisation through the HESA Working Group 


6. Review and redevelopment of SITS security model in line with GDPR 


and access requirements of Collaborative Provision 


7. System resiliency to be delivered as a part of FX Plus IT High Availability 


Project 


8. To deliver actions identified in Assessment Innovation Review, focusing 


on data quality from assessment input to results release. 


9. Commencement of the Electronic Management of Assessment project 


(subject to SIF approval), to address consistency and quality of student 


feedback, submission and assessment 


Risk indicators  


1. Outcomes of annual HESA and HESES returns. 


2. Regular independent reviews by Internal Auditors of data quality issues. 


3. Regular internal reports on retention rates by course. 


4. Inability to manage application, enrolment and assessment processes in a 


timely and accurate manner 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium High RED 
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Risk 05: Failure to ensure sufficient availability of accommodation for students to meet growth plans, meet planning obligations and manage impact of growth on 


local community 


Owner: Chief Operating Officer 


 


Recent actions taken  


1. Supported planning applications for Kernick Parkengue sites either side of 


A&H. 


2. Ocean Bowl and Coachworks site underway for 2019 delivery. 


3. Released beds at Treliske and Tremough Barton Cottages for 2018 as not 


needed. 


4. Planning consent granted for StudyTel Parkengue site at c550 beds 


5. Managed to accommodate all 124 students from the delayed Packsaddle 


development in shared rooms on campus 


6. Introduction of FXU Community Warden Scheme funded by the universities 


very well received 


 


Actions planned 


1. Continued liaison with Cornwall Council regarding sites in the DPD identified 


for student housing from 2018 onwards (Ponsharden etc). 


2. Final responses to DPD public consultation due in October 2018. 


3. Active discussions with private sector developers on likely sites for 2019 and 


2020. 


4. Exploring opportunities for Connected City development in Truro with 


associated accommodation. 


5. Monitor progress with Packsaddle site to ensure smooth transition for 


students when complete. 


6. Finalise commercial arrangements with StudyTel for 2020 delivery. 


Risk indicators  


1. Regular accommodation reports detailing current and anticipated availability 


of bed spaces and properties vs. planned student numbers. 


2. Number and volume of planning consents for new residences granted. 


3. Student surveys of the proportion of students who have secured 


accommodation for the upcoming year. 


 


 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


 Low High AMBER 
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Risk 06: Failure to manage the University’s Information governance and cyber security obligations and requirements of GDPR 


Owner: Chief Operating Officer 


Recent actions taken  
1. Detailed GDPR project plan created to continue compliance activity 
2. All staff GDPR online training released 
3. Ongoing SW Universities GDPR Working Group meetings held to share 


knowledge and collaborate on GDPR compliance 
4. Falmouth website updated with new GDPR guidance and privacy policies 
5. Data collection forms for Sales and Events updated with new privacy policy 


and compliance to GDPR and PECR. 
6. Review of Freedom of Information (FOI) & Subject Access Request (SAR) 


process, implementation of changes and newly published guidance 
7. Creation of Information Governance SharePoint site to provide advice and 


guidance to all staff 
8. Creation and publication of new policies for: Information Handling, Data 


Breaches, Data Protection, Retention, Disclosure Control & Rounding 
9. Development and release of new Information Security Training to all staff 
10. Information Asset Registers sent to all business areas for completion by Nov 


2018 
11. Identification underway of all Information Asset Owners (OAO) 
12. Training delivered for Launchpad students and Research teams with specific 


focus on research data sets 
13. New Data Sharing Agreements for collaborative provision distributed 
14. Penryn Campus GDPR Working Group established to bring together University 


of Exeter, Falmouth University and FX Plus to jointly resolve data sharing and 
compliance priorities 


15. Capacity and Capability review within FX plus with associated cost impact 
presented to the FX Plus board, amongst other capabilities the proposal sees 
the provision for dedicated Information Governance and Technical Assurance 
(Cyber Security) roles. 


16. Created new role of Information Security Officer in FX Plus. 


Actions planned 
1. Creation of enhanced GDPR and Information Security Training for high risk 


departments 
2. Creation of a Social Media Working Group to address GDPR concerns in use 


of social media 
3. Explore use of technology to assist Information Governance compliance 


through the Modern Office Programme 
4. Define approach to information classification schemes and business 


adoption  
5. Creation of wider Information Governance Group to transition GDPR into 


BAU. 
6. Implement mandatory Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) for all procurement 


of new systems. 
7. Information Security Plan to be created with Director of FX Plus IT & Digital. 
8. Introduction of Protective monitoring solution to detect and alert to cyber-


attack (FX Plus) 
9. Review of Policies and layers of technical protection,  relating to End User 


Device control and assurance as well as Bring Your Own Device (BYOD) and 
data control 


10. Full QSA assessment for PCI-DSS (Payment Card Industry – Data Security 
Standard) across Falmouth operations with remedial action plan 


11. Full review of all elevated rights within all departments and policy around 
alumni accounts to improve security 


Risk indicators  


1. Complaints to Information Commissioners Office (ICO) 


2. ICO GDPR audit outcomes 


Overall net risk rating 
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3. Inability to respond to FOI and SAR requests within the period stated by the 
ICO 


4. Lack of progress against project plan – missed milestones 


5. Cyber threat indicators such as successful phishing attacks. Confirmed 
breaches (malware, etc.) 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium AMBER 
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Risk 07: Failure to optimise utilisation of the physical estate over the long term in line with the University’s growth plans through appropriate systems development 


and reporting, maintenance, modification, replacement and limited new build 


Owner: Chief Operating Officer 


Recent actions taken  


1. Condition state review of all buildings to be carried out by external firm on 


both campuses. 


2. Audit of actual usage against planned of all relevant spaces carried out in 


October 2017 and February 2018 by new Space Utilisation Manager. 


3. Agreement of Penryn campus 2020 plan with UoE re: shared facilities and 


infrastructure. 


4. Review of use of dedicated space at Falmouth campus. 


5. Move of SoWJ to Falmouth campus to improve student experience and to aid 


utilisation of bookable spaces. 


6. Relocation of professional services into new spaces in Rosehill and Kerris Vean 


at Falmouth campus. 


7. Timetable dashboards for both campuses showing planned use introduced 


8. Allocated some dedicated teaching space as shared bookable space at 


Falmouth campus 


 


Actions planned 


1. Further improved data and reporting on planned and actual usage. 


2. Attendance monitoring project extended roll out in SoFT which will give 


better data on actual occupation of rooms. 


3. Introduction of accelerated degrees and degree apprenticeships 


4. Changes to pedagogical approach on back of 2030 Strategy and Portfolio 


Review such as inter-disciplinarity and group teaching. 


5. Timetabling review and recruitment of new Timetabling senior staff post 


6. Consideration of “moth-balling” buildings during quite times of the year 


7. Delivery of Penryn campus 2020 Stannary/Social/Study space project to 


create flexible study spaces for students 


Risk indicators  


1. Delivery of annual budget surpluses to fund capital investment. 


2. Delivery of space utilization targets for academic and admin activities as set 


out in Estates Strategy. 


3. Financial convergence targets set at a course level and being implemented  


4. Levels of student satisfaction as evidenced by NSS. 


5. Levels of staff satisfaction re estates as evidenced by specific aspects of staff 


survey. 


6. Levels of unplanned replacement or maintenance expenditure. 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium MEDIUM 
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Risk 08: Failure to drive, and incentivise, high performance and innovative behaviours from staff so that performance is optimised to ensure delivery of the 


outputs required from the strategic plan and supporting strategies 


Owner: Director of HR 


 


Recent actions taken  


1. Further development of dashboard and workforce metrics to include key 


operational and financial outputs. 


2. Detailed SharePoint site developed to guide managers through performance 


management processes at an earlier stage. 


3. New pension and benefits provision agreed for new joiners in professional 


services and support roles which will become effective for joiners on or after 1 


November 2018. 


4. 2030 People Strategy developed and presented to staff at All Staff Briefings. 


5. Preferred supplier identified for new performance management software. 


6. Draft academic workload allocation model created and being piloted within 


one course. 


 


 


Actions planned 


1. Development of career pathways and establishment of an academic 


workload allocation model to ensure clear direction and progression for 


academic staff 


2. Further development of on-line iTrent system to support line managers in 


performance management e.g. Sickness absence indicators. 


3. Analysis of future workforce requirements in the light of the strategic plan, 


and workforce planning to include identification of the gap between ‘as is’ 


and ‘to be’ state. Identification of strategies and actions to move to desired 


future workforce profile. 


4. Review of enabling schemes to enhance staff qualifications. 


5. Increased membership of the Higher Education Academy (HEA); 


development of CPD units for HEA education enhancement scheme. 


6. Exploration of new and innovative contracting and reward structures in 


light of new Falmouth Group structure. 


7. Launch of a broader staff recognition proposal that facilitates quick 


recognition of desired behaviours. 


8. Launch of a staff engagement survey in November 2018 to capture 


feedback on current mindset of the workforce. 


9. 2030 People Strategy to be formally launched to all staff. 


10. Enhancement of internal communications provision to ensure all staff are 


aware of organisational priorities and objectives are aligned to these. 


11. Development of toolkits to support managers in delivery and 


implementation of the 2030 People Strategy. 


Risk indicators  


HR KPIs including: staff retention levels; staff survey outcomes; staff costs relative 


to total expenditure; Performance Development Review (PDR) completion; 


participation in staff development programme; successful recruitment to 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium AMBER 
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advertised posts and quality of candidates , progress towards delivery of required 


business outputs. 


 


 


Risk 09: Failure to deliver high levels of student employability and employer engagement 


Owner: Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 


Recent actions taken  


 
1. Completion of the 2030 Portfolio Strategy that will place professionalizing 


experiences, challenge-based learning, multi-disciplinarily, team-working and 
higher-level cognitive skills at the centre of Falmouth’s pedagogy. 


2. Introduce ‘Innovation Lab’, 2nd year, 60 credit option across the University. 


3. Improving efficiencies and reach of delivery by increasing the number of group 


guidance sessions, professional development workshops and webinars 


delivered by the service. 
4. Introduction of employability and enterprise related webinars for off-campus 


students and graduates. 


5. Successful bid for ESF funding to fund students undertaking placements in new 


and emerging sectors (£280k over 3 years).  
6. Head of Employability is producing an operational plan for the organisation 


and management of the new GOS survey and will be finalised once the first 
GOS survey has been completed.   


7. Continuing to increase the amount of placement activity in each department 
(including sandwich years, Study Abroad, micro-placements etc.) and work 
with departments to produce work-based learning action plans which the 
Employability service (and newly recruited Placement Coordinator) can 
support.  Promoting that 100% of students are supported to do a placement 
during their studies at Falmouth and that 100% of students will graduate with 
some form of work experience.   


8. The Careers Consultants are working to improve the Service Level Agreements 
by launching Departmental Action/ Delivery Plans which are informed by richer 


Actions planned 
 


1. Launch a revised Employability function in support of the 2030 Portfolio 
strategy. 


2. Explore implementing an institution-wide online placement module that all 
students will undertake which will include professional etiquette and work-
place behaviours.  


3. Explore how the new Employability Platform can be used for PDP activities - 
for instance all students completing a skills profile (evidencing 10 core 
Falmouth Graduate Attributes) and 12-month post-graduation plan. 


4. Working with our collaborative partners to enhance the student experience 
by sharing resources and plan and organise collaborative events and 
curriculum experiences. 


5. Explore a revised Employability Tutor function including a specific workload 
allocation, job description and recognition for the role. 


6. Introduce a quarterly employability forum which focuses on key themes and 
updates. 


7. Implement a clear process for departments to identify and support ‘at risk’ 
graduates and post-graduation interventions. 


8. Use Heidi Plus to gather and disseminate richer data regarding DLHE 
including sector averages and the provider health check. 
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data (DLHE, NSS and benchmarking/ competitor data etc.) to identify 
interventions that will enhance departmental outcomes.   


9. Working with Exeter University to re-design the shared space at Penryn to 


make it more reflective/ appealing to Falmouth students with more student-


facing activity.    


Risk indicators  


1. DLHE Survey outcomes for % ‘in work or further study’ and % in ‘professional’ 


employment (which influence TEF and league table positioning.)  


2. National Student Survey outcomes for questions focused on careers and 


placements provision. 


3. Access agreement targets; % of leavers working or studying in the South West 


six months after graduation.  
4.    Quality of the HE-BCI return for business start-up and freelance outcomes 
5.    TEF metric for employability: 


Latest TEF metrics for employability (November 2017): 
a) Employment or further study: single positive flag (significantly above 


benchmark) 
b) Highly skilled employment or further study: double positive flag (highest 


possible rating) 
6.  Employability related actions and metrics within Office for Students Access and 
Participation Plans. 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium AMBER 
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Risk 10: Failure to deliver the planned progress of Research & Innovation  


Owner: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor    


Recent actions taken  


1. Second Individual Research & Innovation Plan (IRIP) launched to improve use 


of RSA time and to collate information of potential REF returns. Information 


from this process will be integrated into PDR’s. 


2. The Launchpad Outreach EU Structural Fund Full application has been 


submitted to MHCLG. Decision expected after the ITI Board on 21 November 


2018.  


3. Falmouth University’s bid to Research England’s Connecting Capability Fund 


which aims to stimulate strategic collaboration between universities, enabling 


them to pool expertise, build connecting capacity and share good practice was 


successfully awarded and activity has commenced. The Knowledge Exchange 


Manager role was recently appointed to (job share between 2 successful 


individuals). 


4. Strength in Places collaborative bid (including Disc Holdings and Cornwall 


Council) submitted around digital ledger technology. Gross bid value equates 


to c£13.7m with Falmouth’s share being c£4m 


5. UK Space Agency EoI bid c£1.7m submitted for research around Satellite Tech 


& Health data following progress in the Sat Apps Catapult project where 


Falmouth leads the eHealth strand. Collaboration with GES, Aberdeen 


University, Kernow Health and CPFT amongst others. 


6. £1m Innovate UK bid entitled Innovations in Natural Wonder & Immersive 


Entertainment submitted under Audiences of the Future call with Eden 


International and Jingo Juice Ltd 


7. Global Challenges Research funding strategy for Falmouth University was 


successful. This will facilitate international collaborative research with South 


Africa. 


8. Collaborative research partnership with Trinity College London around impact 


driven testing across Trinity’s music provision, c£100k over initial 12 months 


with option to extend post initial phase. 


Actions planned 


1. Completion of R&I Toolkits in support of new R&I Strategy.  


2. Recruitment in progress for five Research Fellows to support the new R&I 


programmes. 


3. Recruitment of a PT Impact Officer to undertake the evaluation of the ERA 


Project and support the development of the project as a REF output 


4. Preparations for REF 2021 have commenced and the development of an 


internal REF Strategy is scheduled for 2018. 


5. Formal Engagement in work commissioned by the CIOS Growth Programme 


to research and identify future ERDF Priority Axis 1 (Promoting Research and 


Innovation) priorities.  


6. Formal engagement in  work commissioned by SW LEPs to assess business 


barriers to accessing Innovate UK investment. 
7. Launchpad Continuation E SIF project currently under development. 
8. Agreed to pilot the new REF Plug-in for e-prints (supporting software for 


Research Repository) to capture and enhance the accuracy of research data. 
9. Finalisation of new IP policy fit for the purposes of taught programmes, PGR 


and staff projects. 
10. Launch of Researcher Development Programme in September 2018 to 


support the development of researchers from ECR through to Professoriate. 
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9. Research Programmes reports have been produced to allow us to monitor the 
progress of programmes with respect to core KPIs: grants won; applications 
planned; REF-able outputs produced; REF-able outputs planned. 


10. First Research Day of Core Academic Training was held in June. This was well 


attended and received positive feedback. 


Risk indicators  
1. Research & Development and Business & Innovation targets (e.g. income as a 


proportion of total income, REF performance, RDAP metrics, etc.). 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Low High AMBER 
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Risk 11: Failure to achieve Research Degree Awarding Powers (RDAP) by 2020 


Owner: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor    


Recent actions taken  


1. New Falmouth Doctoral Studentship model launched. 


2. Integrate PGR Development Programme into Falmouth timetabling systems. 


3. PGR Coordinator facilitated successful NPIF Studentship application providing 


additional full time studentships for 2017-18. 5 projects proposals from 


Falmouth University were advertised nationally.  An application for 2 NPIF 


post-doctoral fellowships is currently being reviewed by AHRC. 


4. Establishment of new R&I Research Programmes designed to catalyse research 


activity across the University.  


5. First dedicated Research Day as part of Core Academic Training launched, 


attended by over 150 staff. 


6. Review of PGR Development Programme 16-17 provided positive feedback 


from staff and students, with suggested improvements for 17-18. 
7. Launched research degree supervisor training programme. 
8. Successful integration of PhD students into research themes and Academic 


Departments. 


9. Research Student Mentor scheme launched. 


10. Revised Research Student Development Programme launched. 


11. Undertaken comprehensive review of Research Ethics and Integrity policy. 


12.  Reviewed Falmouth’s provision against the QAA UK Quality Code for Higher 


Education. 


13. Comprehensive validation of RDAP data undertaken. 


14. Review of research environment against the VITAE Concordat to Support 


Researcher Development.  


15. Met with the QAA to discuss the transition of HEFCE to OfS and the potential 


implications of this for Falmouth’s RDAP application. 


16. Mock RDAP application developed. 


 


 


Actions planned 


1. Continue to develop plans for external funding of PhD and post-doctoral 


studentships, including cross-council CDT and NPIF fellowships. 


2. Continue to develop plans for internal PhD studentships, and staff 


recruitment policies that prioritise applicants with PhD completions. 


3. Members of R&D Team maintain engagement in an RDAP sub-group of the 


CREST network. This group consists of specialist institutions that are 


considering an RDAP application. 


4. Development of a Researcher Development Programme, including a 


comprehensive seminar series to support the development of the new 


Research Programmes. 


5. Develop a new PGR student handbook and PGR student guidelines in 


preparation for RDAP application. 


6. Develop a new Research Integrity and Ethics handbook and policy 


document. 


7. Further develop of the integration of the SITS Research Management 


module for PGR student and supervisor data. 


8. Update UCV to ensure it can be utilised as evidence in RDAP application. 


9. Draft a critical self-analysis (CSA) in preparation for an RDAP application. 


10. Follow developments with OfS as new guidance on RDAP is anticipated for 


Summer 2018. 


11. New Falmouth regulations are being developed for PhD students, for post 


RDAP roll-out. 


12. Review and revise the annual RDAP survey to ensure that it collects data 


required for both RDAP and annual HE-BCI return. 


 


Risk indicators  Overall net risk rating 
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1. Progress against revised timeline for internal and external scrutiny of RDAP 


application. 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium AMBER 
 


 
 
 


Risk 12: Failure to retain UKVI Highly Trusted status 


Owner: Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Admissions), Chief Operating Officer (Enrolled Students) and Director of Human Resources (Employment) 


Recent actions taken  


1. Copies of all Tier 4 applicants financial documents are now collected and 


checked against Home Office requirements prior to CAS issue, and a CAS 


statement is only issued once we are satisfied that they meet all UKVI 


requirements. This has resulted in a zero refusal rate for this cycle to date. 


2. At Welcome Weekend, Applicant Services manned a separate desk in a room in 


The Compass, for Tier 4 BRP collection and verification. This created a 


confidential space in case applicants had questions or concerns, but also 


enabled Applicant Services Officers to focus on the accuracy of data 


verification and entry to the SITS system. 


3. Tier 4 non-enrolment has been closely monitored this cycle, with a new 


process in place for reporting any Tier 4 refusals or non-enrolments to UKVI as 


required. 


4. Student Records to reinforce the need for course teams to report any change 


of circumstances in relation to T4 Students immediately. 


Actions planned 


1. Roll out of a digital (SEAtS) Attendance Monitoring system across the 


University. Within this, we will define a less granular, labour-intensive 


definition of ‘points of contact’ for Tier 4 students. 


2. During the transition to this new system, we will implement a requirement 


of fortnightly checks for all Tier 4 students to report, with their ID card, to 


Student Administration. 


3. All staff interviewing International applicants are now required to complete 


an assessment sheet to evidence how their suitability has been assessed. 


4. If a Tier 4 student fails to enrol, we will now routinely enter that in the SMS. 


As a final step at the end of the cycle, we will ensure all CAS’s have been 


closed off in the SMS. 


Risk indicators  


1. Proportion of rejected visa applications approaching UKVI limit. 


2. Inability to demonstrate that all course entry requirements meet UKVI 


language requirements. 


3. Inability to demonstrate compliance with UKVI requirements regarding the 


recording of essential documents. 


4. Inability to demonstrate compliance with UKVI attendance/engagement 


measures. 


5. Lack of forward planning for new UKVI compliance measures. 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Low High AMBER 
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Risk 13: Failure to manage the University’s pensions liabilities 


Owner: Director of Finance 


Recent actions taken  
 


1. Trade Union consultation on planned closure of LGPS membership for new 
joiners completed and Cornwall Council advised. 


2. Falmouth Staffing Ltd incorporated 20 September 2018. 
3. New defined benefit package for Falmouth Staffing negotiated with Scottish 


Widows. 
4. New Professional Services roles being advertised under new company for start 


dates of 1 November 2018. 
5. Spoken to Cornwall Council about FXU members of staff and the possible 


separation of payroll and application as an Admitted Body. 
6. Discussed notification from UCEA on proposed 7.2% increase to contribution 


rates for TPS at VCEG. 


Actions planned 
1. Survey academic staff to confirm importance of pension to overall reward 


package. 
2. Prepare communications plan and pension microsite for Falmouth Staffing 


Ltd. 
3. Offer choice to new academic staff to opt-out of TPS membership. 
4. Subject to final confirmation from TPS regarding proposed contribution 


rates, prepare a note for Governors on options to employ all new joiners 
into new company. 


5. Continue to monitor USS publications and liaise with remaining employee to 
keep liability under review. 


6. Obtain pension liability position and possible contribution rates for FXU staff 
should they be transferred to a separate FXU payroll. 


Risk indicators  


1. Intelligence from LGPS, TPS and other pension funds. 


2. Sector briefings from key HE agencies and auditors. 


3. Latest actuarial valuation and change in contribution rates. 


4. Latest developments within USS. 


5. Announcements from HM Treasury regarding TPS 


Overall net risk rating 


 


Likelihood Impact Overall rating 


Medium Medium AMBER 
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Changes to the Strategic Risk Register in the last 18 months 


 


Decision date Risk name Previous net 


risk status  


New net risk 


status and date 


21 June 2018 Change of risk rating, ‘Failure to ensure sufficient availability of accommodation for students to meet 


growth plans’ 


MH (red) MM (amber) 


19 February 2018 Change of risk rating, ‘Failure to manage the University’s Information governance and cyber security 


obligations and requirements of GDPR’, from red to amber 


MH (red) MM (amber) 


26 June 2017 Deletion of risk, ‘Failure to adequately implement the Prevent (Counter Terrorism Act) requirements 


within the institution’. 


LH (amber) 


 


n/a  


26 June 2017 Change of risk rating, ‘Failure to manage student retention within the University’s targets’, from amber 


to red. 


MM (amber) HM (red) 


26 June 2017 Change of risk rating, ‘Failure to optimise utilisation of the physical estate and equipment over the long 


term in line with the University’s growth plans through appropriate maintenance, replacement and 


limited new build’, from red to amber. 


HM (red) MM (amber) 


17 March 2017 Change of risk rating, ‘Failure to ensure sufficient availability of accommodation for students to 2020’, 


from amber to red. 


MM (amber) MH (red) 


17 March 2017 Deletion of Risk, ‘Failure to comply with the expectations of the Competition and Markets Authority 


(CMA)’ 


MM (amber) n/a 


 


 


Key for assessing rating of overall risk status


 


 


Likelihood 


High HL HM HH 


Medium ML MM MH 


Low LL LM LH 


  Low Medium High 


  Impact 


 


 


Red = high risk Amber =  medium risk Green = low risk 


Colour ratings on the Strategic Risk Register reflect net risk,  i.e. risk taking 


into account controls in place and planned. 


 





		Index of risks included in the Strategic Risk Register
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Falmouth Exeter Plus Strategic Risk Register Last updated: 10/04/2018


Probability Score


Review Date: Reviewed by: Rare Possible Likely


Very 


Likely


Almost 


Certain


19/04/2018 SET Meeting Impact Score 1 2 3 4 5
05/06/2018 Directors Minor 1 1 2 3 4 5


Moderate 2 2 4 6 8 10
Serious 3 3 6 9 12 15
Major 4 4 8 12 16 20
Catastrophic 5 5 10 15 20 25


Summary


Ref Category Risk Heading


Previous 


Score 


(June 18)


Current 


Risk 


Score


Direction 


FXP08 Operational Technical and/or physical security is compromised 25 25 Rising 


FXP03 Financial


Inability to balance demand and supply based on recruitment 


forecasts and need to secure additional accommodation. 20 20 Rising 


FXP04 Legal


Statutory compliance in managing the environment and key 


record keeping 16 16 Steady 


FPX07 Legal


Failure to deliver the change required to manage the impact 


of inaccessible campus facilities 16 16 Steady 


FXP10 Operational


Business Continuity Plans and IT Service Centre Management 


plans are ineffective in dealing with multiple or large scale 


incidents/outages 16 16 Steady 


FXP18 Operational Inability to meet needs of buildings security strategies *new* 16 *new*
FXP05 Legal Adherence to GDPR/FOI information/compliance 15 15 Falling 


FXP11 Operational


Lack of embedded Enterprise Architecture across the technical 


eco system 15 15 Falling 


FXP01 Strategic Delays in decision making process within universities 12 12 Falling 


FXP02 Strategic Not meeting University Environmental targets 12 12 Steady 


FXP09 Operational Technical Infrastructure Capacity and Resilience 20 12 Falling 


FXP12 Operational Student Wellbeing 12 12 Falling 


FXP13 Operational Staff Wellbeing 12 12 Falling 


FXP14 Operational Failure to attract and retain quality staff 12 12 Falling 


FXP15 Operational


Engagement of the university partners with Library & 


Academic Skills, IT & Digital Services and Student Services 12 12 Steady 


FXP16 Operational Inability to meet timetabling demands 16 9 Falling 
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Certificate Number 13024 
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Falmouth University 


Internal Audit Annual Report & Opinion 


2017-18 Draft 


1. Introduction 


This internal audit annual report provides our opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 


University’s internal control, risk management and governance arrangements, the University’s 


arrangements for ensuring the accuracy of data returns to external bodies, and on whether the 


University’s activities are conducted economically, efficiently and effectively.  


This report and opinion is required by the Office for Students ‘Terms and conditions of funding for 


HEIs’ (for the period to 31st July 2019) as part of the Annual Accountability Return in December. It is 


addressed to the University’s Board and to the Vice-Chancellor.  It should inform the Audit 


Committee’s own annual report to the Board.   


Section 2 of this report summarises the basis for our opinions, which are provided in Section 3. 


The appendices provide supporting information: 


• a summary of audit results and comparison of audit coverage to the original audit plan (Appendix 


A);  


• internal audit performance measures (Appendix B). 


2. Basis of Opinion 


Our opinion relates to the year ended 31st July 2018, but includes any significant matters arising 


which affect our opinion up to the date of preparing the report (early October 2018).  This opinion is 


mainly based upon the audit work undertaken during the year, informed by our knowledge of the 


University, and our interaction with senior management.   


Consistent with guidance, alongside our opinion we have commented on particular aspects of the 


University’s control environment that we feel are of significance and we offer context to our 


conclusion. 


In preparing the annual report and opinion, we confirm that our work has been carried out without 


any impairment to the independence and objectivity of either Uniac as a whole or of individual audit 


staff.  
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3. Opinion 


We provide separate opinions for internal controls, risk management, governance, arrangements for 


seeking value for money, and arrangements for ensuring accuracy of data returns – each is detailed 


separately below.   


The opinion given is one of four possible levels: 


• adequate and effective; 


• mostly adequate and effective;  


• adequate and effective except for (defined weaknesses); or 


• inadequate and ineffective, 


with the rationale for the chosen opinion set out in each case. 


3.1 Internal control is mostly adequate and effective 


From an internal control perspective, the results of the audits in 2017/18 continued to confirm that 


the University has a strong internal control environment. Audits this year delivered substantial and 


reasonable assurance gradings (see Appendix A) – and the overall conclusion, from our work during 


the year, is of continued improvement year on year. 


Senior management and the Audit Committee, as in previous years, requested audits in areas where 


they had acknowledged that improvements were necessary and wanted our input to aid with the 


development of processes and control.  We see this as a mature use of our resource and an 


indication of an institution that maximises the use of the internal audit provision. 


We completed a review of contract management and the findings identified the need for greater 


oversight of contracts and their ownership. Processes surrounding the management required 


formalising and communicating to contract owners. Training and awareness sessions have started 


to take place with all key stakeholders. The audit was requested by Finance and Procurement due 


to an acknowledgement that controls could be improved to strengthen the approach. We have 


included a follow-up of in the 2018/19 programme at the request of the Audit Committee. 


We also carried out a review of Utility Expenditure with the audit identifying significant opportunities 


for improvement. There was no clear direction without a strategy and plan and a loss of knowledge 


due to the lack of continuity of staff in the area. The resilience in the team for fulfilling key activities 


to report and manage utilities was falling short and enhancement to the estate had not been 


prioritised. We believe the management actions agreed will ensure that these areas are mitigated. 


We were impressed by the dedication and commitment of all the staff that we met during the student 


retention audit.  There is clear management oversight of retention and an equally clear drive to 


deliver improvement.  The University arranged a review, by the Higher Education Academy in 2017, 


of its approach to retention.  An initial set of quick wins has been delivered and there are well 


developed project plans to address this area further. January 2018 enjoyed significant student 


engagement and focus groups have been used to harness the insights offered by students from the 


courses with the highest rates of student retention. This audit report should be seen in the context 
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of the University’s drive to boost student retention.  We suggested a number of recommendations 


including improvements in management information and stronger subject level ownership 


We provided substantial assurance that the key controls regarding the University’s payroll system 


are working effectively. Our detailed testing highlighted no significant concerns.  


FX Plus and Falmouth are required, every three years, to be independently audited against the UUK 


Accommodation Code of Practice and we found that the control environment has been designed 


effectively for University owned halls although we identified minor actions for enhancement.  We also 


reviewed leased halls and provided a separate grading of reasonable assurance – with suggested 


improvement covering the oversight of remedial actions.  


The University has a strong track record in implementing actions agreed as a result of previous 


audits.  We believe this stems from the University’s strong engagement with the audit processes and 


its approach to ensuring that agreed actions are appropriate and timeframes are robust.  


3.2 Risk management is adequate and effective 


The use of the risk register at Audit Committee remains strong with good attention paid to each risk 


and progress against mitigation.  The register (and the process more broadly) continues to be a key 


driver for our programme and there is a clear link between risks on the register and audits on the 


plan.   


Within our audits we drill down into local risk management as appropriate. Through our work, we 


noted no adverse risk events during 2017/18 that caused us to doubt the University’s identification, 


reporting, and management of risk.  


3.3 Governance is adequate and effective 


We believe the University’s governance framework continues to be effective. We consider the Audit 


Committee to be effective, with an appropriate level of challenge being provided to the Executive. 


We have, when appropriate, open discussions with the Chair and liaise with the external auditors. 


We identified opportunities to improve governance and oversight in both the contract management 


and utility expenditure reviews. There was insufficient oversight of contracts in place centrally within 


procurement and lack of reporting on key contract criteria. We found in the Utility Expenditure review, 


as detailed earlier, that there was no strategy or operational plan in place around the management 


and development of utilities and a lack of clear reporting through to senior management. Agreed 


actions are in place to address all of these points. 
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3.4 Arrangements for seeking value for money are mostly adequate 


and effective 


The conclusions in Appendix A demonstrates the efficiency and economy for areas audited. For 


individual audits we identified opportunities to improve efficiency and economy.  


The IT Procurement and Asset Management audit highlighted that the process for ordering IT 


equipment is inefficient and cumbersome. The process would benefit from IT standard specification 


requirements and updated supporting processes – which is now being implemented. We also found 


some issues with the asset management process with the opportunity (from the introduction of a 


new IT asset register) to improve co-ordination of systems. 


In the Utility Expenditure review, due to the lack of dedicated resources, expenditure and 


consumption was not managed at a granular level which meant opportunities to achieve efficiency 


gains were being missed. 


The Contract Management reviewed identified opportunities for improvement in oversight of 


contracts both within procurement and with contract owners. Greater understanding of contract 


management will ensure that the University is managing performance and maximising its value from 


suppliers. 


Constraints on tuition fee levels, and OfS requirements for greater demonstration of value, mean the 


onus on universities to secure value is ever greater.  We aim to ensure that the audit programme 


continues to have a VFM focus for 2018/19. We have audits of Management of Bursaries and 


Budgeting and Budgetary Control scheduled.  


3.5 Arrangements for ensuring accuracy of data returns are adequate 


and effective 


We have had an ongoing programme over several years to audit the University’s principal data 


returns.  Our work has consistently demonstrated that staff who compile the returns have an in-depth 


understanding of the requirements they must meet and are up to date with emerging changes. 


This year we assessed the Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education (DLHE) return. The DLHE 


survey collects information regarding leavers’ activity six months after completion of their studies, 


and provides information about the graduate labour market, helping to inform current students in 


choosing their career paths.  It is used in league tables, the Key Information Set (KIS) / Unistats 


Record and other external performance rankings which influence the external reputation of the 


University. The collection has been fundamentally reviewed by HESA, and a new ‘Graduate 


Outcomes’ survey will replace DLHE from 2019. This will involve a centralised contractor to 


undertake the main survey and revised timescales for release. However, it will remain important 


under the new arrangements for graduate data to be accurate and the University will continue to 


undertake and grow activities which rely on the provision of good quality, relevant and timely 


graduate data 


Our audit found that the underlying process for compiling and submitting DLHE data is sound. Our 


testing found that all leavers included in the survey were valid and correctly surveyed.  Procedures 
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are in place to follow-up regularly with leavers to obtain a response to meet the 80% survey 


threshold.  We did find a number of errors in the 2017 data – primarily relating to incorrect postcodes 


or missing information such as course number. These were in the process of being addressed by 


the University in the course of the current (2018) DLHE cycle which was underway at the time of this 


audit.   
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Appendix A: Audit Coverage & Summary of Conclusion Grades 
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Utility Expenditure 5 5.4 Grade 3 Grade 3  Grade 3  Medium 


IT Procurement and Asset Management 8 8.4 Grade 2  Grade 2 Grade 3  Medium 


Student Retention 8 7.3 Grade 2  Grade 2 Grade 2 High 


DLHE 5 5.5 Grade 2  Grade 2 Grade 2 Medium 


UUK Accommodation Code of Practice – 


University Owned Halls 
n/a* n/a* Grade 2  Grade 2 Grade 2  Medium 


UUK Accommodation Code of Practice – 


University Owned Halls 
n/a* n/a* Grade 2  Grade 2 Grade 2  Medium 


Payroll 5 5 Grade 1 Grade 1 Grade 1  


Contract Management 6 6.5 N/A - Advisory Medium 


Follow-up - PCI Compliance and IT Strategy  2 2 N/A - Advisory Medium 


Post Audit Review 2 2 Grade 1 Grade 1 Grade 1 Medium 


Client Management  7 7     


Total Days 48 49.1     


*Funded by the FX Plus internal audit programme 
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Conclusion definitions 


Each of the audits finalised during the year offered one of the following conclusions: 


Grade Effectiveness Efficiency / Economy 


1 


We are able to offer substantial 
assurance that the system of internal 
control and governance is effective 
(although potential enhancements may 
have been identified) 


We are able to offer substantial 
assurance that the system of internal 
control is efficient and economic 
(although potential enhancements may 
have been identified) 


2 


We can offer reasonable assurance that 
the system of internal control and 
governance is effective, however the 
audit did identify some opportunities to 
improve the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control 


We can offer reasonable assurance 


that the system of internal control is 


efficient and economic, however the 


audit did identify some opportunities to 


improve the efficiency / economy of 


the system of internal control 


3 


The audit identified significant 
opportunities to improve the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control and governance 


The audit identified significant 
opportunities to improve the efficiency 
/ economy of the system of internal 
control 


4 
The system of internal control and 
governance is not effective 


The system of internal control is not 
efficient / economic 
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Appendix B:  Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators  


Statistical Indicators Result 


Completion of work, issue of Draft and Final 


Reports as per the agreed audit schedule. 


All final reports provided to the University for 


issue to the Audit Committee two weeks 


before the date of the Committee. 


Completed per the agreed schedule. There 


were some changes in year to which audit 


reports are reported to Committees. 


Total audit work to be completed to budget. The audit plan is flexed during the year as 


the University’s audit needs develop (see 


Appendix A).  There are have been some 


minor overruns in year – we will aim to 


complete the programme in budget next 


year.  


Actual daily rate charged is competitive 


compared to sector benchmark (figures to 


be taken from annual BUFDG survey). 


The University compares our daily rates 


with those quoted in the annual BUFDG 


survey to ensure that, from a cost 


perspective, the service remains 


competitive. 


Uniac represented at all Audit Committee 


meetings. 


The Audit Director or Assistant Director 


have attended all Audit Committee 


meetings and pre-meetings during the year. 


80% of internal audit recommendations 


found on follow-up to have been 


implemented. 


The implementation rate continues to be 


strong. 


External quality assessment Uniac’s latest five-yearly quality assessment 


was completed by James Paterson of Risk 


and Assurance Insights Ltd. in 2017.  The 


assessment shows that Uniac has a strong 


sector knowledge and provides a high-


quality service to members and clients.  


Some areas for improvement have been 


identified, and will be implemented, to 


further improve the standard of service.  
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FX Plus  


Internal Audit Annual Report & Opinion 


2017-18 


1. Introduction 


This internal audit annual report provides our opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the FX 


Plus’s internal control, risk management, governance arrangements; data management and quality 


and on whether FX Plus’s activities are conducted economically, efficiently and effectively.  


This report and opinion is required by the Office for Students ‘Terms and conditions of funding for 


HEIs’ (for the period to 31st July 2019) as part of the Annual Accountability Return in December. It is 


addressed to the FX Plus Board and Managing Director. This report relates to the financial year 


ended 31st July 2018, but covers, if necessary, any significant issues up to the date of preparing the 


report which affect our opinion. Section 2 of this report summarises the basis for our opinions, which 


are provided in Section 3. 


The appendices provide supporting information: 


• a summary of audit results and comparison of audit coverage to the original audit plan (Appendix 


A); and 


• internal audit performance measures (Appendix B). 


2. Basis of Opinion 


Our opinion relates to the year ended 31st July 2018, but includes any significant matters arising, 


which affect our opinion, up to the date of preparing the report (September 2018).  This opinion is 


mainly based upon the audit work undertaken during the year; informed by our knowledge of FX Plus 


and our interaction with senior management.   


Consistent with published guidance, alongside our opinion we have commented on aspects of FX 


Plus control environment that we feel are of significance and offer context to our conclusion. 


In preparing the annual report and opinion, we confirm that our work has been carried out without 


any impairment to the independence and objectivity of either Uniac or of individual audit staff. 
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3. Opinion 


We provide separate opinions for internal control; risk management; governance; arrangements for 


seeking value for money; and arrangements for ensuring accuracy of data returns – each is detailed 


separately below.   


The opinion given is one of four possible levels: 


• adequate and effective; 


• mostly adequate and effective;  


• adequate and effective except for (defined weaknesses); or 


• inadequate and ineffective, 


with the rationale for the chosen opinion set out in each case. 


3.1 Internal control is mostly adequate and effective 


Our review of summer works resulted in a conclusion of significant opportunities for improvement 


(grade 3). This was due to the lack of a formal agreed process for summer works projects and a poor 


understanding of the processes amongst key stakeholders. Positive progress has been made with 


the actions and further improvements have been made by the new Director of Estates. 


We have undertaken a follow-up review assessing the progress made against actions from the 


2016/17 internal audit of the Lower Stannary and Shop. At the time of the original audit we provided 


a grading of significant opportunities for improvement. The scope of the review focussed on the 


operational management of both outlets, with the findings predominantly on cash and till 


management in relation to the Lower Stannary.  We found, during the follow-up, that the senior 


management team had changed as well as the tills and general layout. Improvements in the cash 


management procedures and security were clearly evident from testing, however further work to 


develop the cash management code of practice was still required.  


As part of the Falmouth University programme we use our work on financial controls and other 


shared services audits to inform the FX Plus annual opinion. Both University and FX Plus have 


requested audits where it was known that improvements were required. We completed a review of 


contract management and the findings identified the need for greater oversight of contracts and their 


ownership. Processes surrounding contract management required formalising and communicating 


to contract owners. Training and awareness sessions have started to take place with all key 


stakeholders.  Our IT Procurement and Asset Management review, indicated that FX Plus would 


benefit from a central IT asset management system and supporting processes.  


We also carried out a review of Utility Expenditure with the audit identified significant opportunities 


for improvement. The findings were predominantly a result of changes in resourcing in the area. The 


resilience in the team for fulfilling key activities to report and manage utilities was falling short and 


enhancement to the estate had not been prioritised.   


FX Plus are required, every three years, to be independently audited against the UUK 


Accommodation Code of Practice and we found that the FX Plus control environment has been 


designed effectively for University owned halls; we identified minor actions for enhancement.  We 


also reviewed FX Plus leased halls and provided a separate grading of reasonable assurance – with 


suggested improvement covering  the oversight of remedial actions.  
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We can provide positive assurance that the FX Plus action tracker system is working effectively. The 


follow-up of implemented audit actions found that they had all been successfully completed within 


the agreed timeframes. We have made recommendations around how the tracker should be 


enhanced.  


3.2 Risk management is adequate and effective 


FX Plus has been through a detailed process this year to review the risk register, which has included 


input from each of the partnering universities. The risk register is reviewed and challenged at each 


Senior Executive Team meeting and at the Board.  


The register is one of the main drivers for the development of the annual internal audit plan. Within 


our audits, we drill down into local risk management as appropriate. Through our work, we noted no 


specific risk management concerns during 2017/18 which have caused us to doubt the University’s 


identification, reporting and management of risk. 


3.3 Governance is adequate and effective 


From the work undertaken during the year, our interaction with the Senior Executive Team and the 


two partnering universities, we believe that governance arrangements are effective. FX Plus has had 


a positive and open engagement with internal audit, seeking further clarity or advice where 


necessary, and providing feedback during the year. 


Governance themes from internal audits that require strengthening relate to the audit of summer 


works where we identified insufficient oversight of timescales and expenditure.  


Further work is required to strengthen the governance arrangements in place for utility expenditure 


both for reporting operationally and through to senior management. A strategy is required on how 


FX Plus intend to manage utilities with input from both partnering universities. Agreed actions are in 


place to address all of these points. 


3.4 Arrangements for seeking value for money are mostly adequate 


and effective 


In principal, we believe the FX Plus’s arrangements for seeking value for money are adequate 


and effective. Strategically, VFM is at the core of FX Plus’s provision.  


Each of our 2017/18 audit reports have included specific conclusions about the efficiency and 


economy of the processes that we audit (see Appendix A). The follow-up to the Lower Stannary and 


Shop demonstrated sufficient progress in cash handling practices and positive developments to the 


Lower Stannary, both aesthetically and the offering, which should have a positive impact on students 


and staff. Within the summer works audit we identified that the process for allocating projects to 


framework contractors could also be managed more effectively to ensure greater VFM. 


The IT Procurement and Asset Management audit highlighted that the process for ordering IT 


equipment is inefficient and cumbersome. The process would benefit from IT standard specification 


requirements and updated supporting processes – which is now being implemented.  
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3.5 Arrangements for ensuring accuracy of data management and 


quality is adequate and effective 


FX Plus are continuing to work on strengthening General Data Protection Regulation integration 


into business processes with both Falmouth University and the University of Exeter. We did not 


identify any data management or quality concerns as part of internal audit work this year.  
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Appendix A: Audit Coverage with the Annual Audit Plan & Summary of Conclusion Grades 


2017/18 Audits 


A
g


re
e
d


 b
u


d
g


e
t 


d
a
y
s
  


A
c


tu
a


l 
d


a
y


s
 


C
o


n
tr


o
l 


D
e


s
ig


n
 


C
o


n
c


lu
s


io
n


 G
ra


d
e
 


C
o


n
tr


o
l 


Im
p


le
m


e
n


ta
ti


o
n


 


G
ra


d
e
 


E
ff


ic
ie


n
c


y
 &


 


E
c


o
n


o
m


y
 


C
o


n
c


lu
s


io
n


 G
ra


d
e
 


S
ig


n
if


ic
a
n


c
e
 t


o
 t


h
e
 


U
n


iv
e


rs
it


y
  


Summary of Remedial Actions / Current Status 


Follow-up Stannary / Shop 6 6 n/a – no grading – follow up Med Progress has been positive.  


Estates Summer Works 
Programme 


6 7 3 3 3 High 
Progress has been made against the internal audit actions. Appointment of the 
new Director of Estates in January has meant a further internal review. 


UUK Accommodation Code 
of Practice: Leased Halls 


5 5.2 


2 2 2 Med All actions have been implemented from the audit. 


UUK Accommodation Code 
of Practice: Owned Halls  


1 1 1 Med All actions have been implemented from the audit. 


Post Audit Review 2 3.5 1 1 1 Med 
All actions from the sample were found to be implemented. We have made 
some recommendations around the enhancement of the action tracker.  


Falmouth internal audits where FX Plus assurance was provided 


Contract Management   3 3 3 Med 
Actions have progressed, we are carrying a specific follow-up as part of the 
18/19 internal audit programme 


IT Procurement    2 2 2 Med 
Progress has been made against updating the IT Procurement controls. 
Further work is being carried out in the IT asset register and supporting 
processes. 


Utility Expenditure    3 3 3 Med Actions are in progress  


Payroll   1 1 1 Med All actions implemented  


FX Plus Client Management  5 5  


Totals (FX Plus) 24 26.7  
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Conclusion definitions 


Each of the audits finalised during the year offered one of the following conclusions: 


  Control Design Control Implementation Efficiency / Economy 


1 
Substantial 


Assurance 


We offer substantial assurance that the 


system of internal control and 


governance as designed is effective in 


principle (although potential 


enhancements may have been 


identified) 


We offer substantial assurance that the 


system of internal control and 


governance operates effectively in 


practice (although potential 


enhancements may have been 


identified) 


We offer substantial assurance that the 


system of internal control is efficient 


and economic (although potential 


enhancements may have been 


identified) 


2 
Reasonable 


Assurance 


We offer reasonable assurance that 


the system of internal control and 


governance as designed is effective in 


principle, however the audit identified 


some opportunities to improve the 


design of the system of internal control 


We offer reasonable assurance that 


the system of internal control and 


governance operates effectively in 


practice, however the audit identified 


some opportunities to improve the 


implementation of internal control 


We offer reasonable assurance that 


the system of internal control is 


efficient and economic, however the 


audit did identify some opportunities to 


improve the efficiency / economy of the 


system of internal control 


3 
Significant 


Opportunities 


The audit identified significant 


opportunities to improve the 


effectiveness of the design of the 


system of internal control and 


governance 


The audit identified significant 


opportunities to improve the 


effectiveness of the implementation of 


the system of internal control and 


governance 


The audit identified significant 


opportunities to improve the efficiency 


/ economy of the system of internal 


control 


4 


Ineffective / 


Inefficient / 


Uneconomic 


The design of the system of internal 


control and governance is not effective 


The implementation of the system of 


internal control and governance is not 


effective 


The system of internal control is not 


efficient / economic 
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Appendix B:  Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators  


Uniac is subject to a five yearly independent quality review, carried out by a leading internal audit 


practitioner who is selected by Uniac’s member universities (through the Uniac Board), with the 


intention of providing robust independent reassurance about the quality of Uniac’s work. The latest 


review took place at the end of 2016/17, and progress against the action plan will be reported during 


2018/19. 


In addition, here are some further quantitative indicators: 


Statistical Indicators Result 


Completion of work, issue of Draft and Final 


Reports as per the agreed audit schedule. All 


final reports provided to FX Plus for issue to the 


Audit Committee two weeks before the date of 


the Committee. 


Achieved. 


Total audit work to be completed to budget. 


The audit plan is flexed during the year as the 


FX Plus’s audit needs develop (see Appendix 


A).  Subject to these adjustments, the plan is 


broadly within the overall budget. We will aim to 


stay within budget next year. 


Actual daily rate charged is competitive 


compared to sector benchmark (figures to be 


taken from annual BUFDG survey). 


Falmouth University compares our daily rates 


with those quoted in the annual BUFDG survey 


to ensure that, from a cost perspective, the 


service remains competitive. 


Uniac represented at all Audit Committee 


meetings. 


The Audit Director or Assistant Director attend 


one Board meeting a year (per the agreed 


protocol). 


80% of internal audit recommendations found 


on follow-up to have been implemented. Met. 
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Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19  


FX Plus 


June 2018  


1. Executive Summary 


This document sets out the 2018/19 internal audit 
plan approval by the Managing Director (and 
Senior Executive Team) and the FX Plus Board.  
The plan has been prepared in accordance with 
the relevant International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and 
HEFCE’s Memorandum of Assurance and 
Accountability / OfS requirements. 


We have used conversations with senior staff, our 
knowledge of FX Plus, and the internal audit work 
undertaken in 2017/18 in developing the plan. 


The overall aim of the programme is to provide the FX 
Plus Board and the Managing Director with an annual 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, risk 
management, governance, and value for money 
arrangements. In developing the plan, we consider the 
FX Plus risk management framework and other 
sources of assurance relevant to FX Plus principal 
risks and corporate systems. 


The plan totals 31 days, providing the balance of audit 
work illustrated below. 


 Assurance Advisory TOTAL 


IT Audit 
Strategic 


Risks 
11 - 11 


Core Systems 13  13 


Post Audit 
Review  


  2 


Client 
Management 


  5 


TOTAL DAYS   31 
 


Recommended Audits 


Core Systems, Compliance & 


Regulatory 


• Estates Capital Projects and 


Maintenance 


• Health and Safety 


• Cash Handling Review (Catering and 


other cash outlets) 


IT audit and Strategic Risk 


• Cyber Essentials  
• IT Business Continuity  


Audit Management Team 


Director: Richard Young 


Audit Manager: Joe Johnson 
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FX Plus – Agreed 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme 


Introduction 


The 2018/19 internal audit programme for FX Plus has been developed through discussion with the Manging Director and is based on past coverage 


and risk. Cyclical financial audits are carried out through the Falmouth internal audit programme and reported to FX Plus  
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Estates - 


Capital 


Projects and 


Maintenance  


Director of 


Estates 


Building on the work that we have done in the last two years, this 


review will provide advice and assurance on the development of 


the control environment within Estates for maintenance and 


capital projects (minor and major). The Director of Estates has 


been in post since January and is making a number of significant 


changes. We have agreed to leave a placeholder in our plan and 


scope out the specific focus of our review in quarter one – with 


the fieldwork being undertaken later in the year. 


6 Quarter 1  


IT Related 


(Coverage to 


include 


Falmouth – 


split of days to 


be apportioned 


accordingly) 


Director of 


ISDS 


The University and FX Plus are aiming for Cyber Essentials 


certification next year. As part of the preparation, a gap analysis 


of exposures to assist with the accreditation has been requested 


from the Director of IT and Digital Services. The work would 


involve a NCSC Cyber Workshop as a first step; the remainder of 


the audit would focus on the identified weaknesses. This is likely 


to include patch management. 


5 Quarter 1 Technical 


Infrastructure 


Capacity and 


Resilience.    


An IT business continuity solution is being implemented, An audit 


assessing the system and its resilience has been requested. The 


audit would focus on the implementation, testing and live state. 


6 Quarter 3 
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Cash Handling 


Review 


(Catering and 


other cash 


outlets) 


Director of 


Finance / 


Director of 


Campus 


Experience 


Ove the last two years work to provide assurance around the 


controls for the management of cash handling in catering outlets, 


bars and campus shop There have since been significant 


changes in staffing, structures and processes within these areas. 


As such, we have agreed to undertake a brief follow up of cash 


handling. We will focus on a deep dive in to a specific department 


(to be agreed with the Managing Director). 


2 TBC  


Health and 


Safety 


Director of 


Estates 


/Director of 


Facilities  


We will review  governance arrangements, assessing the 


operations from a policy, systems and process perspective to 


provide assurance that systems are fit for purpose, compliant with 


relevant legislation and are working in practice.  


5 TBC Health and 


Safety. 


Follow Up Director of 


Finance 


As with other years, we will follow up on a sample of agreed 


actions from previous audits to provide independent confirmation 


that changes are complete. 


2 Quarter 4  


Client 


Management 


 Covering preparation and attendance at the Board, progress 


meetings and on-going liaison. 


5   


Total  31   
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Appendix A – Prompt for potential coverage and summary of past and proposed reviews 


The below was used as an aid for the meeting with the Managing Director.  Whilst a number of the suggested areas are not relevant to FX Plus activities, it still 


provides useful context. 


 Core Systems, Regulatory and Compliance Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


 Finance   


1.  Purchases: Goods and Services 
Review of EU Audit Preparedness covered 
elements of Procurement (2014/15) 


 


2.  Procurement Cards Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


3.  Payments Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


4.  Costing & Pricing    


5.  Invoicing Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


6.  Debt Collection: Student Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


7.  Debt Collection: Non-Student Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


8.  Income handling and banking 
Covered as part of Falmouth programme Proposed Cash Handling review 


(catering and other cash outlets) 


9.  
Hire and Payment of Casual Staff and Additional 
Payments to Existing Staff 


  


10.  Expenses: Control and Payment  Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


11.  Payroll Covered as part of Falmouth programme  


12.  Asset Management  
Review of IT procurement and asset 
management 2017/18 


 


13.  
Investments, Treasury Management and Cash Flow 
Forecasting 


Elements of this area covered as part of the 
Budget Setting and Management review 
2013/14 


 


14.  Budgeting and Budgetary Control 
Reviewed in 2013/14. Proposed Budget Management review 


for 2018/19 


15.  
Development, Maintenance and Dissemination of 
Regulations and Procedures 


Input into development of the Falmouth 
University Regulations in 2013/14. 


 


16.  Insurance    


17.  Contract Management 
Covered as part of the Falmouth plan 
2017/18 


 


 Students    


18.  Undergraduate Recruitment   
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 Core Systems, Regulatory and Compliance Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


19.  Postgraduate Taught Recruitment   


20.  Postgraduate Research Recruitment   


21.  International Recruitment   


22.  Course Portfolio   


23.  Student Bursaries   


24.  Student Retention 
Covered as part of the Falmouth plan 
2017/18 


Proposed follow-up for 2018/19 


25.  Academic Quality Compliance   


26.  Library and Learning Resources   


27.  Franchised and Collaborative Provision 
Covered as part of the Falmouth plan 
2017/18 for Falmouth Collaborative 
Partners 


 


28.  Student Complaints and Appeals   


29.  Widening Participation   


30.  Student Support Services 
DSA Arrangements Review completed in 
2015/16 


 


31.  Plagiarism/ academic misconduct   


 Research & Consultancy   


32.  
Pre Award: Identification and Management of 
Opportunities 


  


33.  Pre Award: Preparation of Bids   


34.  
Management of Research Contracts: Income and 
Expenditure 


  


35.  Management of Spin Offs   


36.  
Management of the Relationship between Third 
Mission, Teaching and Research 


  


 Estate   


37.  Planned / Reactive Maintenance 


Reviewed as part of the 2015/16 internal 
audit programmes. 


Reviewed Estates Summer Programme 
2017/18 


Proposed review for 2017/18 


38.  Management of Capital Projects Reviewed as part of the 2016/17   


39.  Space Utilisation 
Reviewed Falmouth Space Utilisation 
2016/17 
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 Core Systems, Regulatory and Compliance Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


40.  Management of Utility Expenditure 
Covered in the Falmouth 2917/18 plan for 
Falmouth buildings 


 


41.  Business Continuity / Disaster Recovery 
 IT business continuity proposed for 


2018/19 


 Staff   


42.  Workforce Planning   


43.  Recruitment Processes   


44.  Training and Development   


45.  Staff Retention   


46.  Staff Performance Appraisal   


47.  Equality and Diversity   


 Compliance   


48.  UK Visas and Immigration 
Covered for Falmouth as part of the 
2014/15 review. 


 


49.  Prevent   


50.  Competition and Markets Authority   


51.  State Aid   


52.  Bribery Act   


53.  Accommodation Code of Practice Compliance Review undertaken in 2017/18  


54.  Management of Health and Safety  Proposed for 2018/19 


55.  
Data Protection and Freedom of Information 
Compliance 


  


56.  
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards  Covered as part of the Falmouth Internal 


Audit programme for 2017/18 
 


57.  Copyright, Designs and Patents Act   


 Other   


58.  Students’ Union   


59.  Risk Management   


60.  Catering and Conferences 


Review undertaken on the Shop and 
Stannary (Operational Catering) 2016/17, 
and follow-up 2017/18 plan. 
 


 


61.  Student Helpdesk   


62.  Sport Provision   
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 Core Systems, Regulatory and Compliance Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


63.  Environment   


64.  Fundraising   


65.  Ethics Framework   


66.  Governance   


We have not included a list of IT related reviews. Since appointment, we have undertaken a Software Licencing review and a Cyber Security audit (followed by a full 


post audit review i.e. to assess progress on the original agreed actions).  
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Appendix D: Audit Protocols  


The following protocols are intended to ensure the smooth flow of audit work during the year and a timely completion of the Audit Plan.     


Area  Protocol 


Planning Meetings The Audit Programme is approved by the FX Plus Board. Any variations to the plan need 


the explicit approval of the Board or the Managing Director on behalf of the board 


High level planning meetings will be held with the Managing Director. Further planning 


meetings will be held with the key contact (a member of SET) for the area being 


reviewed.  


Draft Terms of Reference 


 


The draft terms of reference will be circulated to the key contact and the Managing 


Director. It will be agreed a week, as a minimum, before the start of the fieldwork.  


Final Draft Terms of Reference 


 


Final draft terms of reference will be circulated to all parties identified on the distribution 


list in the terms of reference. This will also outline, for the specific review, the circulation 


list for the reporting process and for approval.  


Final Terms of Reference The final terms of reference will be circulated to all staff members identified on the 


distribution list. 
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Area  Protocol 


Closing meeting * The closing meeting will be held with the key contact. If the report is lower than 


reasonable assurance, a further meeting will be held with the Managing Director. 


Depending on the review, the closing meeting may take place on the final day of 


fieldwork, or within the next week. We will ensure that if there are any significant 


emerging findings during the fieldwork stage, the Managing Director is informed. 


Draft Report The draft report will be circulated in line with the agreed circulation list set out in the terms 


of reference, which is approved by the key contact and sponsor. 


Provision of action plan, Responsible Officers and 


Implementation Dates  


The action plan will be provided by the key contact in consultation and agreement with the 


Managing Director. The action plan will be completed within a working week of the draft 


report being issued. 


Final Draft Report  The final draft report will be circulated in line with the agreed circulation list set out in the 


terms of reference. 


Final Report The final report will be circulated in line with the agreed circulation list set out in the terms 


of reference.  


* The timeframe and schedule for each audit will be agreed in the terms of reference. Where there is a significant change of scope from audits 


outlined in the Internal Audit Programme, further approval will be gained from the Board. 
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Appendix E: Internal Audit Charter  


In accordance with good practice and the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the following charter is 


intended to set out the purpose, authority and responsibility of internal audit. 


1. Uniac is responsible for providing an objective and independent appraisal of all the FX Plus activities, financial and otherwise. It should 


provide a service to the whole organisation, including the Board and all levels of management. It is not an extension of, nor a substitute for, 


good management, although it can have a role in advising management. Uniac is responsible for evaluating and reporting to the Board and 


designated officer, and thereby providing them with assurance on the arrangements for risk management, control and governance and value 


for money.  It remains the duty of management, not Uniac, to implement effective risk management, control and governance, value for money 


and data management and quality arrangements. 


2. All the FX Plus activities, funded from whatever source, may fall within the remit of the internal audit service. Uniac will consider the 


adequacy of controls necessary to secure propriety, economy, efficiency and effectiveness in all areas. It will seek to confirm that management 


have taken the necessary steps to achieve these objectives and manage the associated risks.  


3. The scope of Uniac’s work should cover all operational and management controls and should not be restricted to the audit of systems and 


controls necessary to form an opinion on the financial statements. This does not imply that all systems will be subject to review, but that all will 


be included in the audit risk assessment and hence considered for review following the assessment of risk. It follows that if Uniac is to give an 


opinion on the whole system then that will include all operations.  


4. It is not within the remit of Uniac to question the appropriateness of policy decisions. However, internal audit is required to examine the 


arrangements by which such decisions are made, monitored and reviewed. 


5. Uniac may also conduct any special reviews requested by the Board or designated officer, provided such reviews do not compromise its 


objectivity or independence, or achievement of the approved audit plan. 


6. A Director of Uniac is required to give an annual opinion to the Board and designated officer, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 


arrangements for risk management, control and governance, economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money) and, and the extent to 


which the Board can rely on these. He or she should also comment on other activities for which the Board is responsible, and to which Uniac 


has access.  The report must relate to the FX Plus financial year, and include any significant issues up to the date of preparing the report which 


affect the opinion. 
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7. To provide the required assurance, Uniac will undertake a programme of work, based on a strategy authorised by the Board on the 


advice of Senior Executive Team. The programme will evaluate the arrangements in place: 


a. To establish and monitor the achievement of organisational objectives. 


b. To identify, assess and manage risks to those objectives. 


c. To advise on, formulate and evaluate policy within the responsibilities of the designated officer. 


d. To ensure compliance with policies, laws and regulations. 


e. To ascertain the integrity and reliability of financial and other information provided to management and stakeholders, including that 


used in decision making. 


f. To ascertain that systems of control are laid down and operate to promote the economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 


to safeguard assets. 


8. The internal audit service's work will be performed with due professional care, in accordance with appropriate professional auditing 


practice. It will have regard to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and will comply with the HEFCE 


Audit Code of Practice / OfS requirements. 


9. In achieving its objectives Uniac will develop and implement an audit strategy that assesses the FX Plus arrangements for risk 


management, control and governance and for achieving value for money.  The audit strategy should be prepared before the beginning of the 


year and supported by an assessment of resource needs. These should be submitted to the Board for approval following consultation with 


relevant managers and the designated officer, and after consideration by the Senior Management Team. 


10. Uniac’s ongoing work will aim to support and complement management’s approach to preventing, detecting and responding to fraud and 


irregularity. As part of Uniac’s routine audit work, the FX Plus exposure to fraud and irregularity will be considered when evaluating the design 


and effectiveness of controls. 


11. A Director of Uniac will implement measures to monitor the effectiveness of the service and compliance with standards. The Board will 


consider and approve these performance measures and will also have regard to the three-yearly independent quality assessment 


commissioned by the Uniac Board.  The Board may also ask the external auditor to provide an independent assessment of internal audit's 


effectiveness. 
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12. Uniac has no executive role, nor does it have any responsibility for the development, implementation or operation of systems. However, it 


may provide independent and objective advice on risk management, control and governance, value for money and related matters, subject to 


resource constraints. For day to day administrative purposes only, a Director of Uniac should report to a senior officer within FX Plus, such as 


the FX Plus Managing Director.  A Director of Uniac shall have right of access to the FX Plus designated officer. 


13. Within FX Plus, responsibility for risk management, control and governance arrangements and the achievement of value for money rests 


with the Board and management, who should ensure that appropriate and adequate arrangements exist without reliance on the internal audit 


service. To preserve the objectivity of the internal auditors’ professional judgement, it is for management to determine whether or not to accept 


audit recommendations, to recognise and accept the risks of not taking action, and to implement recommendations. 


14. Uniac has rights of access to all the FX Plus records, information and assets which it considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. 


Rights of access to other bodies funded by FX Plus should be set out in the conditions of funding. A Director of Uniac has a right of direct 


access to the Chair of the Board and the designated officer. In turn, Uniac agrees to comply with any requests from the external auditors and 


HEFCE / OfS Assurance Service for access to any information, files or working papers obtained or prepared during audit work that they need to 


discharge their responsibilities. 


15. A Director of Uniac is accountable to the designated officer and the Board through. He or she should also report audit findings to relevant 


managers (including the designated officer) and draw the attention of the Board to key issues and recommendations. This may be done by 


providing the Board with copies of all reports, or by reporting on an exception basis, or by providing a summary of key issues. 


16. A Director of Uniac should report to the designated officer any serious weaknesses, significant fraud or major accounting breakdown 


discovered during the normal course of audit work. If the designated officer fails to report the matter to the Board then the auditor must report 


the matter directly to the Board. 


17. Uniac will liaise with the external auditors and the HEFCE / OfS Assurance Service to optimise the audit services provided to the FX Plus.  
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Appendix F: Key Performance Indicators 


Measuring the performance of the internal audit service is important as it provides assurance to the Board and the executive that you are 


receiving an efficient and effective service, as well as providing internal audit with opportunities for continuous learning and improvement.  In 


addition, it is a requirement of Standard 1300 (Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme) of the International Standards for the 


Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. The key performance indicators (KPIs) below reflect guidance from the Chartered Institute of Internal 


Auditors and will be applied across all our member institutions.  This will allow Uniac’s service performance to be assessed consistently from 


institution to institution and assist in identifying opportunities for on-going service improvement across the shared service.   


The indicators are split into statistical and satisfaction categories.   


Statistical Indicators  


• Completion of work, issue of Draft and Final Reports as per the agreed audit schedule.  All final draft reports provided to the Senior 


Executive Team for circulation one week before the last SET meeting prior to the Board. 


• Total audit work to be completed to budget.  


• Actual daily rate charged is competitive compared to sector benchmark (figures to be taken from annual BUFDG survey). 


• Uniac represented at all one of the Board meetings. 


• 80% of internal audit recommendations found on follow-up to have been implemented.  


Satisfaction Indicators  


• Relationships between internal audit, management and the Board are viewed to be effective. 


• Internal audit is viewed to be responsive to the needs of the Board and management. 


• The internal audit programme provides the necessary assurances to management and the Board with an appropriate balance between 


audits of strategic risk and audits of core systems and processes. 


• There is sufficient engagement between internal audit and the Board 
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• Internal audit is viewed to have the appropriate level of resource, staff mix and skills required. 


• Audits are effectively managed, relevant staff consulted and findings communicated appropriately.  


• The level and quality of information received from internal audit is apt, communicates a good understanding of FX Plus, key risks and 


demonstrates a sound application of sector knowledge.  


• Internal audit is viewed to have added value, e.g. sector updates, briefing documents and demonstrable monetary savings.   
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Draft Internal Audit Annual Plan 2018/19  


Falmouth University 


June 2018 


Executive Summary 


This document sets out the draft 2018/19 internal 
audit plan for Audit Committee approval.  The 
plan has been prepared in accordance with the 
relevant International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and 
HEFCE’s Memorandum of Assurance and 
Accountability / OfS Terms and Conditions of 
Funding for HEIs.   


The overall aim from this programme is to provide the 
Audit Committee and the Vice-Chancellor and Chief 
Executive with an annual opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control, risk management, governance, 
value for money arrangements together with the 
management and quality of data. In developing the 
plan, we consider the University’s risk management 
framework and other sources of assurance relevant to 
the University’s principal risks and corporate systems.  


The proposed plan (detailed in Section 5) totals 46 
days, providing the balance of audit work illustrated 
below.   


 Assurance Advisory Total 


Strategic 
Risks 


9 - 9 


Core 
Systems 


20 - 20 


IT Audit Covered in strategic risk review 


Data Audit 8 - 8 


Post Audit 
Review  


2 - 2 


Client 
Management 


7 - 7 


TOTAL 
DAYS 


46 - 46 


 


Recommended Audits 


Strategic Risk 


• Student Retention Follow-up 


• IT Support on Cyber and 


Continuity 


Core Systems, Compliance & 


Regulatory 


• Partnership Governance 


• Bursary Management 


• Budgetary Control and 


Management 


• Follow-up of Contract 


Management 


IT audit 


• See Strategic Risk section above 


Data audit 


• Student Transformation Project 


• Student HESA  


Audit Management Team 


Director: Richard Young 


Internal Audit Manager: Joe 
Johnson 
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The 1. Types of Audit 


Most audits will be designed to provide reassurance that expected control measures to mitigate 


strategic risks or protect core corporate systems are in place, and are operating effectively, 


efficiently and economically.   Evidence that controls are operating effectively will support our 


annual opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.  Evidence that controls are efficient and 


economic will support our annual opinion on the University’s value for money arrangements. 


Some audits will be designed to be advisory.  These arise in cases where there is a significant 


residual risk, that the University wishes to reduce, or where there is concern that a core system 


or process may not be operating efficiently or effectively.  


2. Drivers of the Proposed Audit Plan 


Planned audits are derived from the following sources: 


Strategic Risks 


To ensure that our resource is focussed on key institutional activities we try to align a significant 


proportion of our time with the risk register. Gross risk, the value placed on mitigation measures 


when reaching a net risk score, and the availability of other sources of external assurance are 


our main considerations in recommending strategic risk audits. 


Core Systems, Compliance and Regulatory 


Suggested audits of core systems are listed in Section 5.2 – inherent risk and the availability of 


other external sources of assurance are our principal considerations.  Appendix A details the 


relevant areas and ensures that, where appropriate, we include adequate coverage over a 


cyclical period. 


IT audit  


These audits are informed by an IT risk assessment and consideration of other sources of 


assurance (see Appendix B), to provide assurance on the University’s approach to managing 


relevant IT operational risks.  Suggested IT audits are listed in Section 5.3. 


Data audit 


Data audits are undertaken to support the Audit Committee’s annual opinion on the 


management and quality of data.  Appendix C contains a matrix of the principal data returns.  


Suggested data audits derived from this matrix are listed in Section 5.4. 


Ad Hoc work 


While delivery of scheduled audits forms the bulk of our work, we have earmarked some time 


for other value adding activity such as advice when systems or processes are changing, input to 


internal control training and risk management and responding to requests for advice.  We will 


monitor and report on the use of this time at progress meetings. 


3. Other Information 


Other appendices to this paper include a reminder of the internal audit working protocol (Appendix 


D), internal audit charter (Appendix E) and performance indicators (Appendix F). 
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4. Proposed Internal Audit Plan  


4.1 Driven from the University strategic risk register  


Audit Audit 


Sponsor 


Days 


Estimate 


Description of the audit and its intended purpose  Relevant 


Corporate Risk  


Delivery 


Period 


Student 


Retention 


Follow-up 


Chief 


Operating 


Officer / Senior 


Deputy VC / 


Deputy VC 


(Academic) 


6 Student retention is recognised as a key risk for the University. 


We completed the review of student retention in 17/18, which 


followed-up progress against the action plan. The scope of this 


will be determined in concluding the work in 17/18. However, it 


is likely to be a deep dive into a specific area. 


Risk 04 - Failure to 


manage student 


retention within the 


University targets. 


TBC 


IT Support  Director of 


ISDS 


3 The days are to support the IT audits in the FX Plus 


programme on the following areas: 


To support Cyber Essentials certification next year the work 


would involve a NCSC Cyber Workshop as a first step, and 


then the remainder of the audit would focus on the identified 


weaknesses (or strengths). 


 An IT business continuity solution is being implemented and 


an audit has been requested which opines on how hardened 


the system is and resilient. The audit would focus on the 


implementation, testing and live state. 


Risk 6 - Failure to 


manage the 


University’s 


Information 


governance and cyber 


security obligations 


and requirements of 


GDPR 


TBC 
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4.2 Core Systems, Compliance and Regulatory (from Appendix A) 
 


Audit Audit 


Sponsor 


Days 


Estimate  


Description of the audit and its intended purpose Delivery Period 


Partnership 


Governance 


Deputy VC 


Academic 


6 The University has partners which include the Academy of Contemporary Music and 


the Fashion Retail Academy.  The audit will review the oversight / governance 


arrangements in place and specifically how the University gains assurance that the 


partner arrangements are effective and, as much as possible, risks that could have 


an impact on the University are minimised. 


TBC 


Management 


of Bursaries 


Director of 


Finance 


5 The review will cover the bursary lifecycle including eligibility, value, application 


selection, transfer of funds and, where applicable, expenditure analysis and 


reporting. 


TBC 


Budgeting 


and 


Budgetary 


Control  


Director of 


Finance 


6 This review would examine the efficiency and effectiveness of cross-University 


budgeting, resource allocation and planning processes. We will also select (in 


consultation with senior staff) specific budget areas to cover the budget setting and 


monitoring procedures. 


TBC 


Follow-up of 


Contract 


Management 


Director of 


Finance 


3 As requested by the Audit Committee, we will undertake a full follow up on the 


Contract Management review. 


TBC 


4.3 IT audit (from Appendix B) 


Audit Audit 


Sponsor 


Days 


Estimate  


Description of the audit and its intended purpose Delivery Period  


See IT Review is in section 4.1. 
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4.4 Data audit (from Appendix C) 


Audit Audit 


Sponsor 


Days 


Estimate 


Description of the audit and its intended purpose Delivery Period 


Data 


Support 


Chief 


Operating 


Officer 


8 We will agree a data related review to be undertaken during the year.  The 


University has a SITS Transformation Project which, in its entirety, will cover the 


student journey from application to graduation.  Initial discussions on audit focus 


includes: 


• On-going involvement with the Transformation Project – assessing processes as 


they are developed and feeding in experience from our work across the sector 


• Confirming that HESA data accuracy concerns have been addressed 


TBC 


 
4.5 Other 


Audit Audit 


Sponsor 


Indicative 


Days 


Description of the audit and its intended purpose Delivery Period 


Post Audit 


Review 


N/A 2 days To review, test and provide assurance on the internal monitoring process for 


implementing recommendations and results reported to Audit Committee. This will 


involve testing a sample of recommendations to ensure there is evidence to 


support the reported position. 


Quarter 4:  


May - July 


Client 


management 


N/A 7 days Preparation for and attendance at progress meetings and Audit Committee.  


Preparation of the annual plan and annual opinion.  Ad hoc queries and advice. 


Not Applicable 


Total other 52 days   
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Appendix A: Audit Universe 


This table outlines potential audit coverage – it is not exhaustive but does prompt consideration of possible topics.  It also includes our past coverage 


and proposed reviews for forthcoming years. 


 
Core Systems, Regulatory and 


Compliance 
Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


 Finance      


1.  Purchases: Goods and Services 
Procurement 2013/14, IT 
Procurement covered as 
part of 2017/18 


    


2.  Procurement Cards Procurement 2013/14      


3.  Payments 
Purchase Ledger Health 
Check 2015/16 


    


4.  Costing & Pricing       


5.  Invoicing      


6.  Debt Collection: Student Covered in 2015/16     


7.  Debt Collection: Non-Student Covered in 2015/16     


8.  Income handling and banking Covered in 2016/17     


9.  
Hire and Payment of Casual Staff and 
Additional Payments to Existing Staff 


     


10.  Expenses: Control and Payment  Covered in 2016/17     


11.  Payroll 
Covered in 2014/15 and 
2017/18 


    


12.  Asset Management  Covered in 2014/15     


13.  
Investments, Treasury Management 
and Cash Flow Forecasting 


Treasury Management 
covered in 2014/15 


    


14.  Budgeting and Budgetary Control 
Review of FX Plus 
Budgetary Control in 
2013/14 


Proposed coverage in 2018/19    
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Core Systems, Regulatory and 


Compliance 
Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


15.  
Development, Maintenance and 
Dissemination of Regulations and 
Procedures 


    


16.  Insurance      


17.  Contract Management Covered in 2017/18 Suggested coverage for 2017/18    


 Students       


18.  Undergraduate Recruitment      


19.  Postgraduate Taught Recruitment      


20.  Postgraduate Research Recruitment      


21.  International Recruitment 
International Recruitment 
Internal Audit 2013/14 
and Follow-up 2014/15 


    


22.  Course Portfolio     


23.  Student Bursaries  Proposed coverage in 2018/19    


24.  Student Retention Covered in 2017/18 Suggested coverage for 2018/19    


25.  Student Experience      


26.  Academic Quality Compliance Covered in 2015/16     


27.  Library and Learning Resources      


28.  
Franchised and Collaborative 
Provision 


Collaborative Provision 
covered in 2015/16 


    


29.  Student Complaints and Appeals      


30.  Widening Participation      


31.  Student Support Services 
Internal Audit coverage 
as part of the FX Plus 
programme 2015/16 


    


32.  Plagiarism/ academic misconduct      


 Research & Consultancy      


33.  
Pre Award: Identification and 
Management of Opportunities 


     


34.  Pre Award: Preparation of Bids      


35.  
Management of Research Contracts: 
Income and Expenditure 
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Core Systems, Regulatory and 


Compliance 
Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


36.  Management of Spin Offs      


37.  
Management of the Relationship 
between Third Mission, Teaching and 
Research 


     


 Estate      


38.  Planned / Reactive Maintenance 
Internal Audit coverage 
as part of the FX Plus 
programme 2015/16 


    


39.  Management of Capital Projects Covered in 2016/17     


40.  Space Utilisation Covered in 2016/17     


41.  Management of Utility Expenditure Covered in 2017/18     


42.  
Business Continuity / Disaster 
Recovery 


Review IT Disaster 
Recovery 2013/14 


    


 Staff      


43.  Workforce Planning      


44.  Recruitment Processes      


45.  Training and Development      


46.  Staff Retention      


47.  Staff Performance Appraisal      


48.  Equality and Diversity      


 Compliance      


49.  UK Visas and Immigration 


Internal Audit of UKVI 
Compliance audit 
2014/15.  Follow up in 
2015/16 


    


50.  Prevent      


51.  
Competition and Markets Authority 
(CMA) 


Covered in 2016/17     


52.  State Aid      


53.  Bribery Act      


54.  Management of Health and Safety Covered in 2014/15     


55.  
Data Protection and Freedom of 
Information Compliance 
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Core Systems, Regulatory and 


Compliance 
Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


56.  
Payment Card Industry Data Security 
Standards  


Covered in 2016/17     


57.  Copyright, Designs and Patents Act      


 Other      


58.  Students’ Union      


59.  Risk Management 
Light touch review in 
2014/15 


    


60.  Catering and Conferences 
Catering covered as part 
of FX Plus programme 
(2016/17) 


    


61.  Student Helpdesk      


62.  Sport Provision      


63.  Environment      


64.  Fundraising      


65.  Ethics Framework      


66.  Governance      
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Appendix B: IT Provision 


 IT Audit Theme Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


 IT Governance Covered in 2016/17     


 IT Asset Management / Disposal Covered in 201718     


 IT Software Management      


 
Information Security Management Review of Cyber Security 


2014/15.  Follow up in 
2015/16   


    


 
IT Business Continuity / Disaster 
Recovery 


Review IT Disaster 
Recovery 2013/14 


Proposed coverage for 2018/19    


 IS Projects      


 IT Sustainability / Green Computing       


 
Outsourcing arrangements / 3rd Party 
Management 


     


 
Network & Perimeter Security / Cyber 
Security 


Review of Cyber Security 
2014/15. Follow up in 
2015/16    


Proposed coverage for 2018/19    


 Internet / Electronic Communications      


 Web-hosting      


 Telephony / VoIP      


 Mobile Computing / Cloud Provision      
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Appendix C: Data  


 Data Return Past Audit Coverage Proposed Audit Coverage 


1
7
/1


8
 


1
8
/1


9
 


1
9
/2


0
 


1 HESES / End of Year Monitoring 


Internal Audit 2013/14 
and Follow-up Internal 
Audit of Student HESA 
and HESES 2014/15 


    


2 Student HESA 


Internal Audit 2013/14 
and Follow-up Internal 
Audit of Student HESA 
and HESES 2014/15.  
Student HESA covered in 
2016/17 


Proposed coverage for 2018/19    


3 FSR (including HEBCIS)      


4 Staff HESA      


5 Estates Management Statistics     


6 Key Information Set  Covered in 2015/16     


7 DLHE  Suggested coverage for 2017/8    


8 CRC Return     


9 TRAC Return      
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Appendix D: Audit Protocols  


The following protocols are intended to ensure a smooth flow of audit work during the year and 


timely completion of the Audit Plan.     


 


Action Timescale 


Audit Planning 


Liaise with Audit Sponsor to agree timing of the audit 


during the year. 


Start of audit year. 


Contact Audit Sponsor to arrange planning meeting. Start of audit year. 


Planning meeting held with Audit Sponsor and other 


key contacts.   


Approximately 4 weeks prior to 


intended start of fieldwork. 


Terms of reference drafted and issued to appropriate 


University staff 


5 working days following 


planning. 


Terms of reference agreed (including the availability 


of staff and provision of relevant data and 


information) 


At least 10 working days before 


fieldwork is due to commence. 


Reporting 


Closure meeting held with Audit Sponsor and 


appropriate managers to feedback summary of 


findings. 


Preferably last day of fieldwork 


but as a minimum no longer 


than 5 working days after the 


end of fieldwork. 


Draft report issued Within 5 working days of the 


closure meeting. 


Audit Sponsor to confirm report is materially accurate 


and/or indicate whether a further meeting is required 


to discuss. 


Within 5 working days of receipt 


of the report. 


If required, meeting held with Audit Sponsor and 


appropriate staff to discuss the draft audit report, 


including obtaining management action, timescales 


and responsible officers. 


Subsequent revised draft circulated for final approval. 


Within 15 working days of 


response from Audit Sponsor. 
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Action Timescale 


If no meeting is required, management action, 


timescales and responsible officers provided.  


Subsequent revised draft circulated for final approval 


by the Director of Finance. 


Within 10 working days of initial 


response from the Audit 


Sponsor. 


Final report circulated. Within 5 working days of 


approval by Senior 


Management Team. 


Final report circulated for inclusion with Audit 


Committee papers. 


Within 5 working days of 


approval by Senior 


Management Team, or by 


papers deadline, whichever is 


sooner. 


Final report presented at Audit Committee.  


Monitoring of Progress  


As the person with overall responsibility for internal 


audit at the University, we will meet with the COO 


and / or the Director of Finance to provide an update 


of progress against the audit programme. 


Approximately every 6 weeks. 
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Appendix E: Internal Audit Charter  


In accordance with good practice and the International Standards for the Professional Practice 


of Internal Auditing, the following charter is intended to set out the purpose, authority and 


responsibility of internal audit. 


1. Uniac is responsible for providing an objective and independent appraisal of all the 


University's activities, financial and otherwise. It should provide a service to the whole 


organisation, including the Board and all levels of management. It is not an extension of, 


nor a substitute for, good management, although it can have a role in advising 


management. Uniac is responsible for evaluating and reporting to the Board and 


designated officer, and thereby providing them with assurance on the arrangements for 


risk management, control and governance and value for money.  We will also discuss with 


you whether our programme should include work that will support the Audit Committee’s 


need to express an opinion concerning the management and quality of data. It remains 


the duty of management, not Uniac, to implement effective risk management, control and 


governance, value for money and data management and quality arrangements. 


2. All the University's activities, funded from whatever source, may fall within the remit of the 


internal audit service. Uniac will consider the adequacy of controls necessary to secure 


propriety, economy, efficiency and effectiveness in all areas. It will seek to confirm that 


management have taken the necessary steps to achieve these objectives and manage 


the associated risks.  


3. The scope of Uniac’s work should cover all operational and management controls and 


should not be restricted to the audit of systems and controls necessary to form an opinion 


on the financial statements. This does not imply that all systems will be subject to review, 


but that all will be included in the audit risk assessment and hence considered for review 


following the assessment of risk. It follows that if Uniac is to give an opinion on the whole 


system then that will include all operations.  


4. It is not within the remit of Uniac to question the appropriateness of policy decisions. 


However, internal audit is required to examine the arrangements by which such decisions 


are made, monitored and reviewed. 


5. Uniac may also conduct any special reviews requested by the Board, Audit Committee or 


designated officer, provided such reviews do not compromise its objectivity or 


independence, or achievement of the approved audit plan. 


6. A Director of Uniac is required to give an annual opinion to the Board and designated 


officer, through the Audit Committee, on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 


arrangements for risk management, control and governance, economy, efficiency and 


effectiveness (value for money) and, if it is an agreed requirement of the audit 


programme, an opinion on the management and quality of data within the University; and 


the extent to which the Board can rely on these. He or she should also comment on other 


activities for which the Board is responsible, and to which Uniac has access.  The report 


must relate to the University’s financial year, and include any significant issues up to the 


date of preparing the report which affect the opinion. 
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7. To provide the required assurance, Uniac will undertake a programme of work, based on 


a strategy authorised by the Board on the advice of the Audit Committee. The programme 


will evaluate the arrangements in place: 


a. To establish and monitor the achievement of organisational objectives. 


b. To identify, assess and manage risks to those objectives. 


c. To advise on, formulate and evaluate policy within the responsibilities of the 


designated officer. 


d. To ensure compliance with policies, laws and regulations. 


e. To ascertain the integrity and reliability of financial and other information provided to 


management and stakeholders, including that used in decision making. 


f. To ascertain that systems of control are laid down and operate to promote the 


economic, efficient and effective use of resources and to safeguard assets. 


8. The internal audit service's work will be performed with due professional care, in 


accordance with appropriate professional auditing practice. It will have regard to the 


International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and will comply 


with the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice. 


9. In achieving its objectives Uniac will develop and implement an audit strategy that 


assesses the University’s arrangements for risk management, control and governance 


and for achieving value for money.  The audit strategy should be prepared before the 


beginning of the year and supported by an assessment of resource needs. These should 


be submitted to the Board for approval following consultation with relevant managers and 


the designated officer, and after consideration by the Audit Committee. 


10. Uniac’s ongoing work will aim to support and complement management’s approach to 


preventing, detecting and responding to fraud and irregularity. As part of Uniac’s routine 


audit work, the University’s exposure to fraud and irregularity will be considered when 


evaluating the design and effectiveness of controls. 


11. A Director of Uniac will implement measures to monitor the effectiveness of the service 


and compliance with standards. The Audit Committee will consider and approve these 


performance measures and will also have regard to the three-yearly independent quality 


assessment commissioned by the Uniac Board.  The Audit Committee may also ask the 


external auditor to provide an independent assessment of internal audit's effectiveness. 


12. Uniac has no executive role, nor does it have any responsibility for the development, 


implementation or operation of systems. However, it may provide independent and 


objective advice on risk management, control and governance, value for money and 


related matters, subject to resource constraints. For day to day administrative purposes 


only, a Director of Uniac should report to a senior officer within the University, such as the 


University’s COO or Director of Finance.  A Director of Uniac shall have right of access to 


the University’s designated officer. 


13. Within the University, responsibility for risk management, control and governance 


arrangements and the achievement of value for money rests with the Board and 


management, who should ensure that appropriate and adequate arrangements exist 
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without reliance on the internal audit service. To preserve the objectivity of the internal 


auditors’ professional judgement, it is for management to determine whether or not to 


accept audit recommendations, to recognise and accept the risks of not taking action, and 


to implement recommendations. 


14. Uniac has rights of access to all the University's records, information and assets which it 


considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. Rights of access to other bodies funded by 


the University should be set out in the conditions of funding. A Director of Uniac has a 


right of direct access to the Chair of the Board, the Chair of the Audit Committee and the 


designated officer. In turn, Uniac agrees to comply with any requests from the external 


auditors and HEFCE Assurance Service for access to any information, files or working 


papers obtained or prepared during audit work that they need to discharge their 


responsibilities. 


15. A Director of Uniac is accountable to the designated officer and the Board through the 


Audit Committee for the performance of the service. He or she should also report audit 


findings to relevant managers (including the designated officer) and draw the attention of 


the Audit Committee to key issues and recommendations. This may be done by providing 


the Committee with copies of all reports, or by reporting on an exception basis, or by 


providing a summary of key issues. 


16. A Director of Uniac should report to the designated officer any serious weaknesses, 


significant fraud or major accounting breakdown discovered during the normal course of 


audit work. If the designated officer fails to report the matter to the HEFCE accounting 


officer, the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Chair of the University Board, then the 


auditor must report the matter directly to the HEFCE accounting officer, the Chair of the 


Audit Committee and the Chair of the Board. 


17. Uniac will liaise with the external auditors and the HEFCE Assurance Service to optimise 


the audit services provided to the University.  
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Appendix F: Key Performance Indicators 


Measuring the performance of the internal audit service is important as it provides assurance to 


Audit Committee and the executive that you are receiving an efficient and effective service, as 


well as providing internal audit with opportunities for continuous learning and improvement.  In 


addition, it is a requirement of Standard 1300 (Quality Assurance and Improvement 


Programme) of the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 


The key performance indicators (KPIs) below reflect guidance from the Chartered Institute of 


Internal Auditors and will be applied across all our member institutions.  This will allow Uniac’s 


service performance to be assessed consistently from institution to institution and assist in 


identifying opportunities for on-going service improvement across the shared service.   


The indicators are split into statistical and satisfaction categories.  The results of the satisfaction 


indicators will be sourced from end of audit feedback forms.  University executives directly 


involved in the audit, usually the Audit Sponsor and senior staff who have been substantially 


involved in the audit, will be requested to complete one of these forms at the end of each audit. 


The learning from the KPIs will be bolstered by feedback received from the annual meeting 


between Richard Young, (Uniac Director), Joe Johnson (Client Manager) and the Chair of Audit 


Committee and the Director of Finance and Chief Operating Officer. 


Statistical Indicators  


• Completion of work, issue of Draft and Final Reports as per the agreed audit schedule.  


All final draft reports provided to the University for circulation one week before the last 


SMT meeting prior to the Audit Committee. 


• Total audit work to be completed to budget.  


• Actual daily rate charged is competitive compared to sector benchmark (figures to be 


taken from annual BUFDG survey). 


• Uniac represented at all Audit Committee meetings. 


• 80% of internal audit recommendations found on follow-up to have been implemented.  


Satisfaction Indicators  


• Relationships between internal audit, management and Audit Committee are viewed to be 


effective. 


• Internal audit is viewed to be responsive to the needs of Audit Committee and 


management. 


• The internal audit programme provides the necessary assurances to Audit Committee and 


management with an appropriate balance between audits of strategic risk and audits of 


core systems and processes. 


• There is sufficient engagement between internal audit and the Audit Committee. 


• Internal audit is viewed to have the appropriate level of resource, staff mix and skills 


required. 


• Audits are effectively managed, relevant staff consulted and findings communicated 


appropriately.  


• The level and quality of information received from internal audit is apt, communicates a 


good understanding of the University, key risks and demonstrates a sound application of 


sector knowledge.  


• Internal audit is viewed to have added value, e.g. sector updates, briefing documents and 


demonstrable monetary savings.   
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